
 
View or subscribe to updates for agendas, reports and minutes at 

mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk. 
All public papers are available from the calendar link to this meeting once published 

Agenda  

 

Scrutiny Committee 

  

 

This meeting will be held on: 

Date: Tuesday 5 July 2022 

Time: 6.00 pm  

Place: St Aldate's Room, Oxford Town Hall 

 

For further information please contact:  

Lucy Tyrrell, Committee and Member Services Officer, Committee 
Services Officer 

 01865 529834  DemocraticServices@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Members of the public can attend to observe this meeting and.  

 may register in advance to speak to the committee in accordance with the 
committee’s rules 

 may record all or part of the meeting in accordance with the Council’s protocol 

Information about speaking and recording is set out in the agenda and on the website 

Please contact the Committee Services Officer to register to speak; to discuss 
recording the meeting; or with any other queries.  

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings


 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 
 

Committee Membership 

Councillors: Membership 12: Quorum 4 substitutes are permitted.  

 

  

 
Councillor Lubna Arshad  

Councillor Nadine Bely-Summers  

Councillor Tiago Corais  

Councillor Barbara Coyne  

Councillor Lizzy Diggins  

Councillor Chris Jarvis  

Councillor Edward Mundy  

Councillor Lucy Pegg  

Councillor Mike Rowley  

Councillor Roz Smith  

Councillor Dr Christopher Smowton  

Councillor Marie Tidball  

 

Apologies and notification of substitutes received before the publication are shown 
under Apologies for absence in the agenda. Those sent after publication will be 
reported at the meeting. Substitutes for the Chair and Vice-chair do not take on these 
roles. 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 

Agenda 
 

  Pages 

1   Apologies for absence  

2   Declarations of interest  

3   Chair's Announcements  

4   Minutes 9 - 16 

 Minutes from the meeting held on 8 June 2022. 

Recommendation: That the minutes of the meeting held on 8 June 
2022 be APPROVED as a true and accurate record. 

 

 

5   Work Plan and Forward Plan 17 - 26 

 The work plan is driven to a very large extent by the Cabinet Forward 
Plan a summary of which is attached. The Scrutiny Committee agrees 
its priorities for items coming onto the Forward Plan, which then form 
part of its work plan.  

The Committee is recommended to:  

1. Confirm its agreement to the current priorities and the work plan 
both of which are attached.  

 

 

6   Oxford City Council Safeguarding Report 27 - 50 

 The Cabinet will, at its meeting on 13 July 2022, consider the Oxford 
City Council Safeguarding Report 2021/22. Councillor Diko Walcott, 
Cabinet Member for Safer Communities, Mish Tullar, Head of Corporate 
Strategy and Laura Jones, Safeguarding Coordinator have been invited 
to present the report and answer questions. 

The Committee is asked to consider the report and agree any 
recommendations it wishes to make to Cabinet. 

 

 

7   Oxford City Council's Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
Strategy 

51 - 198 

 The Cabinet will, at its meeting on 13 July 2022, consider a report on 
the Oxford City Council Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy. 

 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

Councillor Louise Upton, Cabinet Member for Health and Transport, 
Mish Tullar, Head of Corporate Strategy and Vikki Robins, Project 
Manager – Innovation (Environmental Sustainability Team) have been 
invited to present the report and answer questions. 

The Committee is asked to consider the report and agree any 
recommendations it wishes to make to Cabinet. 

 

8   Growth Fund Cycle Routes 199 - 
208 

 The Cabinet will, at its meeting on 13 July 2022, consider a report on 
Growth Fund Cycle Routes. Councillor Louise Upton, Cabinet Member 
for Health and Transport and Jenny Barker, Regeneration Manager 
have been invited to present the report and answer questions. 

The Committee is asked to consider the report and agree any 
recommendations it wishes to make to Cabinet. 

 

 

9   Standing Panel and Review Group Arrangements 2022/23 209 - 
212 

 The Head of Law and Governance has submitted a report which seeks 
the Committee’s agreement to standing panel and review group 
arrangements for the 2022/23 municipal year.   The recommendations 
are set out in the report. 

 

 

10   Reports for approval 213 - 
216 

 The Committee is asked to approve the report and recommendations 
on the following for submission to Cabinet: 

- Waterways Update 

 

 

11   Report back on recommendations and from Scrutiny 
Panel meetings 

217 - 
220 

 At its meeting on 15 June 2022 the Cabinet considered the following 
reports from Scrutiny and made responses to the recommendations: 

- Oxford’s Economic Strategy – Consultation Report and 
Recommendations 

- City Centre Action Plan (Draft) – Consultation Report and 
Recommendations 

 

 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

12   Dates of future meetings  

 Scrutiny Committee 

 

 02 August 2022 

 06 September 2022 

 11 October 2022 

 07 November 2022 

 05 December 2022 

 16 January 2023 

 01 February 2023 

 06 March 2023 

 04 April 2023 

 

Standing Panels 

Housing & Homelessness: 01 September 2022 (via Zoom); 06 October 
2022; 03 November 2022; 02 March 2023; 24 April 2023 

Finance & Performance: 07 July 2022; 07 September 2022; 07 
December 2022; 23 January 2023; 28 March 2023 

All meetings start at 6.00 pm. 

 

 

 



 

 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

Information for those attending 

Recording and reporting on meetings held in public 

Members of public and press can record, or report in other ways, the parts of the meeting 
open to the public. You are not required to indicate in advance but it helps if you notify the 
Committee Services Officer prior to the meeting so that they can inform the Chair and 
direct you to the best place to record.  

The Council asks those recording the meeting: 

 To follow the protocol which can be found on the Council’s website  

 Not to disturb or disrupt the meeting 

 Not to edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation of the 
proceedings. This includes not editing an image or views expressed in a way that may 
ridicule or show a lack of respect towards those being recorded. 

 To avoid recording members of the public present, even inadvertently, unless they are 
addressing the meeting. 

Please be aware that you may be recorded during your speech and any follow-up. If you 
are attending please be aware that recording may take place and that you may be 
inadvertently included in these. 

The Chair of the meeting has absolute discretion to suspend or terminate any activities 
that in his or her opinion are disruptive. 

Councillors declaring interests  

General duty 

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities. These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website. 

Declaring an interest 

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having 
declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and 
must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed. 

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and 
that “you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”. The matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a 
whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.  

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings


 

Minutes of a meeting of the  

Scrutiny Committee 

on Wednesday 8 June 2022  

 

Committee members present: 

Councillor Arshad Councillor Bely-Summers 

Councillor Corais Councillor Coyne 

Councillor Diggins Councillor Jarvis 

Councillor Mundy Councillor Pegg 

Councillor Rowley Councillor Tidball 

Councillor Hunt Councillor Altaf-Khan 

Councillor Sandelson  

Officers present for all or part of the meeting:  

Alice Courtney, Committee and Member Services Manager (Interim Acting) 

Matthew Peachey, Economic Development Manager 

Carolyn Ploszynski, Head of Regeneration and Economy 

Andrew Brown, Committee and Member Services Manager 

Cabinet Members present: 

Councillor Susan Brown, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Inclusive Economy 
and Partnerships 
Councillor Imogen Thomas, Cabinet Member for Zero Carbon Oxford and Climate 
Justice 

Apologies: 

Apologies were received from Councillor Roz Smith (substitute: Councillor Altaf Khan) 
and Smowton (substitute: Councillor Jo Sandelson). 

128. Election of Chair for the Council year 2022/23  

The Committee resolved to elect Cllr Dr Chris Smowton as Chair for the 2022/23 
Council year. 

129. Election of Vice Chair for the Council year 2022/23  

The Committee resolved to elect Cllr Lizzy Diggins as Vice Chair for the 2022/23 
Council year. 

7

Agenda Item 4



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

130. Declarations of interest  

There were no declarations of interest made. 

131. Chair's Announcements  

There were no announcements. 

132. Minutes  

The Committee resolved to approve the minutes of the meeting on 5 April 2022 and the 
informal remote meeting held on 12 April 2022 as true and accurate records. 

133. Scrutiny Operating Principles 2022/23  

The Chair introduced the report which sought to establish the scrutiny arrangements for 
the year which would be similar to previous years.  

The Scrutiny Officer advised that the proposed change to the way that the Companies 
Scrutiny Panel would operate would create capacity to support an additional standing 
panel or review group. The July meeting of the Housing and Homelessness Panel was 
recommended to rescheduled for September due to a lack of business in July and to 
enable scrutiny of the Draft Housing and Homelessness Strategy. Members were 
encouraged to contribute suggestions to inform the emerging Scrutiny work plan for the 
year. 

It was suggested that the Committee considers proposals for establishing a Climate 
and Environment standing panel at a future meeting. 

The Committee resolved to: 

1. Agree the proposed Committee Operating Principles for the 2022/23 municipal 
year, as set out in Appendix A 

2. Agree to establish the following standing panels for the 2022/23 municipal year 
with the following remits and timeframes: 
i. Finance and Performance Panel – finance and budgetary issues and 

decisions, annual review of the Council’s budget, quarterly monitoring of 
finance and performance (including performance of the Council’s 
companies); 

ii. Housing and Homelessness Panel – strategic housing and landlord issues 
and decisions, homelessness, housing services performance and interaction 
with the Tenant’s Forum; 

iii. Companies Scrutiny Panel - executive decisions made in relation to any 
companies wholly or partly owned by the Council. 

iv. To consider proposals for the establishment of a Climate and Environment 
standing panel at a subsequent meeting. 

3. Agree the schedule of meetings as presented within the report and to reschedule 
the July meeting of the Housing and Homelessness Panel for September. 

4. Agree the size and allocation of seats on standing panels to political groups for 
2022/23 as set out in the report (Finance and Performance Panel: 4 members, 
Companies Scrutiny Panel: 4 member, Housing and Homelessness Panel: 6 
members). 

8



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

5. Agree to appoint members and chairs of the Finance and Performance, Housing 
and Homelessness, and Companies Scrutiny Panels in accordance with 
nominations made by political groups: 
i. Housing and Homelessness Panel: Cllrs Dunne (chair), Diggins, 

Fouweather, Nala-Hartley, Rawle, Sandelson. 
ii. Finance and Performance Panel: Cllrs Fry (chair), Jarvis, Landell Mills, Latif 
iii. Companies Scrutiny Panel: Cllrs Rowley (chair), Fry, Landell Mills, Morris. 

6. Agree: 
i) The preliminary Work Plan covering the period to September 2022 as detailed 
in Appendix B; and 
ii) That Committee members will send ideas for topics for Scrutiny-
commissioned reports to the Scrutiny Officer by e-mail for consideration at the 
Committee’s 05 July meeting. 

 

134. Report of the Child Poverty Review Group  

Sue Tanner from Oxford and District Action on Child Poverty addressed the meeting. 
She welcomed the review and the impressive report and commended the Council’s 
existing policies including but not limited to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, funding 
for advice centres, the Oxford Living Wage and the Council’s approach to social 
housing. Sue Tanner drew particular attention to the following recommendations: 

 11 & 12 on the adoption of a socio-economic duty within the next 12 months 

 17 & 18 on holding a poverty truth commission within the next 12 months 

 20 about providing cash support rather than vouchers 

 5 about inflation-proofing the funding provided to advice centres 

Cllr Hosnieh Djafari-Marbini, chair of the child poverty review group, addressed the 
meeting remotely and introduced the report. She thanked all of the contributors and the 
Scrutiny Officer and said that poverty is the result of political choice. By way of context, 
Oxford and Cambridge were the most unequal cities in the country and poverty was 
getting worse due to the cost of living crisis. £3.9m children were living in poverty in the 
UK. There were lots of structural issues that contributed to poverty and it was striking 
that 75% of children in poverty lived in a household where at least one family member 
was in work. Children should be viewed for who they are in the present, not for their 
future potential. There was a need to work with partners in a unified way, to hear the 
voices of those experiencing poverty, to take a cash-first or food-first approach in 
supporting them and to put this issue right at the top of the political agenda. 

The Scrutiny Officer drew the Committee’s attention to some proposed amendments 
that had been circulated in advance of the meeting including a change to the wording of 
recommendation 1 to clarify that the good employer charter would be an extension of 
the Oxford Living Wage, and other typographical amendments and points of 
clarification. The Committee was recommended to approve the report subject to those 
amendments and to delegate to the Scrutiny Officer, in consultation with the Chair of 
the Review Group and the Chair and Vice Chair of the Scrutiny Committee, to make 
minor amendments to the report prior to its submission to Cabinet.  

The Committee welcomed the report and commended the excellent work that had gone 
into producing it. In discussion the Committee noted that: 

9



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 The Council’s work to mitigate poverty during the pandemic was to be 
commended. 

 Experts had advised that a cash/food-first approach was the best way to reduce 
stigma, and to support those with no recourse to public funds. 

 Local Authorities need to be properly funded and given greater powers to tackle 
poverty. 

 In relation to recommendation 36 on the downsides of not being on an electric 
meter, many tenants in the private rented sector had no choice but to use pre-
payment meters and the Council’s interventions in the private rented sector were 
crucial. 

 Food bank usage had increased significantly and there were issues with some 
models of food bank provision not working for everyone. 

The Committee resolved to: 

1. Thank the Chair and members of the Child Poverty Review Group for their work 
and report. 

2. Approve the report for submission to Cabinet subject to the amendment to 
recommendation 1 and other minor and typographical amendments. 

3. Delegate to the Scrutiny Officer, in consultation with the Chair of the Review 
Group and the Chair and Vice Chair of the Scrutiny Committee, to make the 
necessary amendments and finalise the report for submission to Cabinet. 

135. Waterways update  

The Waterways Co-ordinator introduced the report which provided an update on 
recommendations made by the Committee in November 2020. Since then the priorities 
had shifted because a number of health and safety issues had been identified which 
had taken a high priority. An asset management system was being established. It was 
difficult to determine riparian ownership. Designated bathing status had recently been 
achieved for Wolvercote Mill Stream. This meant that water quality would be monitored 
closely but did not necessarily mean that the stream was fit for swimming. 

The Committee welcomed the report and in discussion noted that: 

 Parts of the waterways were deteriorating and there were issues around anti-
social behaviour, bio-diversity and accessibility. The Council should look at 
targeting specific areas for improvement.  

 There needed to be a role for the university and colleges in contributing to the 
improvement of the watersways; communication with them had been limited but 
there was scope to do more. It was suggested that the Council should work with 
them and to pitch for external funding. 

 Any budget bid for waterways improvements would need to be considered in the 
round and priority would have to be given to addressing urgent health and safety 
issues. 

 There was a need to increase mooring provision although the Environment 
Agency had advised that no permanent facilities could be added on the main 
waterways, other sites would need to be considered. 

 The discharge of sewage into the waterways was a serious concern and 
Thames Water had accepted some responsibility. It was suggested that water 

10



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

quality data should be used to lobby government and the Environment Agency to 
hold Thames Water to account. 

 A working group had been established to support the bathing water status. This 
was a five year project and the public would be better informed of water quality. 

 Waterways infrastructure needed to be safe, enabling safe means for users to 
enter and exit the water. The Council was working with specialist consultants on 
this. 

 There was an ongoing conversation with community groups and members about 
the former open air swimming pool Tumbling Bay where the concrete was at risk 
of slipping in. There was a need to decide on options and then to secure funding. 

 

The Committee resolved to note the report and agree to produce a report to Cabinet 
with recommendations based on the discussion, which would come to the next meeting 
of the Committee for approval. 

136. Oxford's Economic Strategy - Consultation Report and 
Recommendations  

Evelyn Sanderson from Trust for Oxfordshire’s Environment addressed the meeting. 
She said that 80% of respondents to the consultation had felt that the Strategy had not 
fully captured the issues. In her view this feedback had been either dismissed or 
addressed only in minor ways in the report before the Committee. Oxford had 99% 
employment and jobs growth in sectors such as life sciences would only serve to 
exacerbate inequality. The Strategy would also not support the aim of achieving net 
zero by 2040. Only one individual who identified as being from a BAME group had 
responded to the consultation. Members had insufficient time to digest the report prior 
to its adoption by Cabinet and it should be deferred to enable further engagement and 
work on the aims of the Strategy and to ensure that it would be coherent, deliverable 
and fit for the future. 
 
Councillor Susan Brown, Leader and Cabinet Member for Inclusive Economy and 
Partnerships, introduced the report and clarified that the Strategy aimed to address 
existing planned growth, as set out in Local Plans, and ensure that growth would be 
inclusive. The Strategy reflected a range of other strategies related to housing, 
planning, etc. but was focused specifically on the economy. The work on the Strategy 
had started pre-pandemic and there had been a good level of engagement from 
residents and stakeholders. The context was that notwithstanding the national 
economic challenges, Oxford’s economy was growing strongly and this was clearly 
evident, for example in the increasing demand for workspaces. It was necessary for the 
City to plan for the growth that was happening. 
 
The Economic Development Manager added that the Council had done its best to listen 
to the consultation feedback. The inclusion and zero carbon themes had been well 
supported but the global theme less so, and efforts had been made to make this 
clearer. Oxford had a globally significant and impactful economy and it was about 
making that impact positive, it wasn’t about greed or globalisation. Lots of work was 
underway to manage growth in an inclusive way, such as the Meanwhile in Oxfordshire 
programme, the Oxford Living Wage, affordable workspaces, the Oxford flood 
alleviation scheme, and community employment benefits from major developments 

11



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

such as Oxford North. It was accepted that there was a need to engage better with 
BAME groups and young people in particular. 
 
In discussion it was noted that: 

 Consulting on strategy documents was inherently difficult so the Council used a 
Citizen Panel to test consultation approaches and there had also been 
workshops offered, but poorly attended. There was a need to consider different 
ways of engaging with diverse groups. 

 The term “affordable housing” could be taken to mean different things and it was 
important to clarify that the Council was primarily talking about social housing 
and, to a lesser extent, shared ownership and keyworker housing schemes. 

 The existing pressure on the city’s infrastructure was a concern although the city 
was the most sustainable location for growth within the county, as a population 
centre with good transport links. 

 The UK had a centralised system of government and local authorities needed 
more powers to address local challenges, such as the power to levy a tourism 
tax. As the Council had limited levers available to make interventions in the 
economy the Strategy was to some extent aimed at influencing partners. 

 Technical and science based jobs were not for everyone but the strategy also 
dealt with the visitor economy, retail and the third sector, although there should 
be more emphasis given to the contribution the third sector and trade unions 
make to an inclusive economy.  

 The Economic Growth Board was being expanded and the diversity of that board 
was crucial; it was suggested that the membership should include trade union 
representation. 

 The Council had successfully bid for external funding to support co-operatives 
and build capacity in that sector. Five new co-ops had been seed funded but it 
was regrettable that a significant and longstanding Oxford retailer had decided 
not to become a co-operative. 

 It was suggested that there should be a bio-diversity metric and consideration 
should be given to where that would sit. 

 The ratio of working age employees who live in the city was of interest. The 
Office for National Statistics did report a local job density figure which measured 
this.  

 Brexit was leading to staff shortages in a number of key sectors. 

 There was a need to consider how to communicate the balance struck between 
different priorities, such as the Doughnut Economics model. 

 The Strategy reflected a range of other strategies. A number of issues that were 
raised around public transport, active travel, transport strategy, air quality, food 
production, and land usage, such as sites for housing and the protection of 
green spaces, where not unrelated to the economy but were being addressed 
elsewhere. 

 
The Committee resolved to make the following recommendations to Cabinet: 

1. That the Council seeks to more effectively engage with diverse communities as 
part of future consultation exercises, with a focus on using different methods of 
engagement to get responses from a wider demographic – and in particular 
increased responses from minoritised groups and young people. 

2. That the Council clarifies the definition of affordable housing being used within 
Oxford’s Economic Strategy. 

12



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

3. That the Council seeks to have Trade Union representation on the Economic 
Growth Steering Board. 

4. That the Council makes explicit reference to Trade Unions within Oxford’s 
Economic Strategy. 

5. That the Council makes reference to the Third Sector within Oxford’s Economic 
Strategy and ensures a bigger focus on the Third Sector’s contribution to the 
local economy. 

6. That the Council includes reference to biodiversity under the ‘environmental 
success factor’ outlined in Oxford’s Economic Strategy. 

7. That the Council develops an additional Key Performance Indicator ratio based 
on the number of working age people living in Oxford and number of jobs in the 
City for inclusion in Oxford’s Economic Strategy. 

8. That the Council seeks to develop a clearer way of demonstrating how 
competing priorities (economic vs. social and environmental) have been 
assessed. 

9. That the Council makes explicit reference to Brexit and the challenges it brings 
within Oxford’s Economic Strategy 

 
 

137. City Centre Action Plan (Draft) - Consultation Report and 
Recommendations  

Cllr Imogen Thomas, Cabinet Member for Zero Carbon Oxford and Climate Justice, 
introduced the report. The City Centre Action Plan had been delayed due to the 
pandemic but there had been lots of engagement on it. The intention was that it would 
be a community-owned plan that encouraged feedback into the future and would add 
structure, momentum and ownership. Lots of the work needed to be delivered by 
partners. 
 
The Economic Development Manager added that there had been a good consultation 
process with 398 responses and the four key themes and SWOT analysis had been 
well supported. There were opportunities to improve the castle quarter, support arts 
and culture and to support the greening of the city centre. The Action Plan would be 
kept under regular review and there would be strong governance in place.  
 
In discussion it was noted that: 

 There was a need to increase overnight stays in the city and there were strong 
environmental and social reasons for seeking to do so. 

 There was very limited available office space and the spaces that were available 
tend to be small and dated. There was demand for both affordable and high 
value office space. 

 Many employers were rationalising their office footprint and wanted more 
flexibility to scale up and scale down.  

 The Action Plan included visions for key city centre streets such as the High 
Street and Cornmarket and it was important to get the right mix of outlets and to 
support independent retail; it was regrettable that the Boswells department store 
had closed. 

 There was an aim to build a vision for the historic core of the city which needed 
co-ordination. 

13



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 There was a need to reflect on the lack of diversity of the consultation responses 
and take an adaptive approach. 

 The Citizen’s Panel was reflective of the diversity of the city but had not engaged 
with the Action Plan. 

 Response rates to formal consultations on more specific places within the city 
centre, such as the Covered Market or Broad Street, tended to be much higher 
than engagement on strategy documents, which was why workshops had also 
taken place. 

 Residents had provided feedback that they were put off from visiting the city 
centre because of a concentration of high end retail, a lack of free activities, and 
because the university and colleges were not seen as being approachable.  

 It was suggested that feedback from residents should be more prominent in the 
report and that the resident engagement should be repeated annually. 

 It was difficult to influence the leasing policies of other organisations but the 
Council sought to lead by example, for example in the Covered Market.  

 
The Committee resolved to make the following recommendations to Cabinet: 

1. That the Council seeks to more effectively engage with diverse communities as 
part of future consultation exercises, with a focus on using different methods of 
engagement to get responses from a wider demographic – and in particular 
increased responses from minoritised groups and young people.  

2. That the Council notes the diversity of consultation responses received in 
relation to the City Centre Action Plan going forward and uses the intelligence to 
adapt the Plan to ensure it reflects that diversity. 

3. That the Council seeks to have diverse and representative annual resident 
engagement. 

4. That the Council makes reference to additional forms of engagement undertaken 
outside of formal consultation exercises within the consultation report. 

138. Dates of future meetings  

The dates of future meetings were noted. 

 

 

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 8.52 pm 

 

Chair ………………………….. Date:  Tuesday 5 July 2022 

 

 

14



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 

Forward Plan 
June 2022 to September 2022 

Published on 27/06/22 

 

Cabinet 13 July 2022 

ITEM 32:   
ID: I027056 

Oxford City Council Safeguarding Report 2020/21  

 

To report on the progress made on the Oxford City Council’s Safeguarding Action 
Plan 2020/21. 

  

ITEM 33:   
ID: I029560 

Draft Oxford Playing Pitches Strategy 2022-2036  

 

This is the Draft City strategy to support and encourage participation in sport and 
physical activity, through a robust fit for purpose framework that promotes accessible 
affordable and sustainable playing pitch and outdoor space provision to meet both 
the current and future local needs. 

  

ITEM 34:   
ID: I032011 

Local Connection Test to the Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding Register  

 

To ask Cabinet to formally adopt a Local Connection Test to the Self-build and 
Custom Housebuilding Register following public consultation and updated 
government guidance. 

  

ITEM 35:   
ID: I032012 

Oxford City Council Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy  

 

Presentation of, and approval sought for Oxford City Council Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure Strategy 

  

ITEM 36:   
ID: I032016 

Growth Fund Cycle Routes  

 

To seek Cabinet approval for changes to Growth Fund cycle routes. 

  

15

Agenda Item 5



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

ITEM 37:   
ID: I032044 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023-24 to 2026-27 

 

To agree the budget setting strategy for the forthcoming Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2023-24 to 2026-27 

  

ITEM 38:   
ID: I032050 

Appointments to Outside Bodies  

 

To consider appointments to charities, trusts, community associations and other 
organisations for the 2022/23 Council year. 

  

ITEM 39:   
ID: I032088 

Park and Ride sites arrangements  

 

To consider future arrangements for the management of the park and ride sites. 

  

ITEM 40:   
ID: I032282 

OxWED - additional loans to support additional costs 
associated with submitting a planning application and third 
party land investigation and acquisition  

 

A report to seek Cabinet approval for additional loans to the OxWED LLP to provide 
funds to allow for OxWED to complete the submission of a planning application for 
land within its ownership and to undertake third party land investigation and where 
appropriate land acquisition. 

  

Cabinet 10 August 2022 

ITEM 42:   
ID: I032097 

Botley Road Retail Park Development Brief  

 

To seek endorsement from Cabinet on ways in which the site could be developed for 
use other than retail, in the light of a range of changes on the site. 

  

ITEM 43:   
ID: I030345 

CCTV at Gloucester Green Car Park  

 

To seek approval for a budget increase to upgrade and improve CCTV provision at 
Gloucester Green Car Park. 

  

16



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

ITEM 44:   
ID: I032230 

Asset Management Strategy 2021-2031  

 

Approval of the Asset Management Strategy 2021 - 2031 which will provide an 
ongoing framework for the management of the Council’s property assets following 
consultation for adoption by the Council 

  

ITEM 45:   
ID: I030189 

Financial Outturn Report (Integrated Performance Report for 
Q4)  

 

A report to Members on Finance, Risk & Performance as at the end of the financial 
year. 

  

ITEM 46:   
ID: I031687 

Long Lease Extension(s) or Renegotiations  

 

To consider renegotiation or extension of long leasehold(s) where the Council is the 
freeholder. 

  

Cabinet 14 September 2022 

ITEM 47:   
ID: I032049 

Draft Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy  

 

Report presenting the draft Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
and accompanying draft Action Plan that has been developed and informed by a 
homelessness review and strategy evidence base, and consultation feedback on the 
review and evidence base. The report seeks approval for the launch of a public 
consultation on the draft Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and 
accompanying Action Plan. 

  

ITEM 48:   
ID: I027041 

Grant Allocations to Community & Voluntary Organisations  
2023/24  

 

A report to make decisions on the allocation of grants to the community and 
voluntary organisations for 2023/2024. 

  

ITEM 49:   
ID: I030317 

Integrated Performance Report for Q1  

 

A report to Members on Finance, Risk & Performance as at 30 June 2022. 

17



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

ITEM 50:   
ID: I030318 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2023/24  

 

To seek approval to consult on the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2023/24. 

  

ITEM 51:   
ID: I030319 

Treasury Management Annual Report 2021/22  

 

To set out the Council’s Treasury Management activity and performance for the 
financial year 2021/22. 

  

ITEM 52:   
ID: I030102 

16/17 Turl Street, Oxford  

 

Letting of vacant commercial property on long term lease. 

  

ITEM 53:   
ID: I032045 

Transport Core Schemes - Oxford City Council's position  

 

To set out Oxford City Council’s position on the proposals for introduction of Traffic 
Filters, a Workplace Parking Levy and an expanded Zero Emission Zone, together 
with improvements to bus services and cycle routes – as part of Oxfordshire County 
Council’s “Oxford Transport Core Schemes” consultation this summer. And, to 
delegate authority to the Executive Director (Development), in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Green Transport to submit a response to the consultation on 
behalf of Oxford City Council. 

  

 

18



 

Scrutiny work plan 
July 2022 to September 2022 

Published on 27/06/22 

 

The Scrutiny Committee agrees a work plan every year detailing selected issues that affect Oxford or its people.  

Time is allowed within this plan to consider topical issues as they arise throughout the year as well as decisions to be taken by the 
Cabinet. 

The plan sets out the work of scrutiny for this council year and will be reviewed at each meeting of the Scrutiny Committee.   

The plan is based on suggestions received from all elected members and senior officers. Members of the public can also contribute 
topics for inclusion in the scrutiny work plan by completing and submitting our suggestion form. See our get involved webpage for 
further details of how you can participate in the work of scrutiny. 

Some topics will be considered at Scrutiny Committee meetings and others will be delegated to standing panels. Items for more 
detailed review will be considered by time-limited review groups. 

The Committee will review the Council’s Forward Plan at each meeting and decide which Cabinet decisions it wishes to comment 
on before the decision is made. The Council also has a “call in” process which allows decisions made by the Cabinet to be reviewed 
by the Scrutiny Committee before they are implemented.  

Scrutiny Committee 

05 July 2022 

Agenda item 
Cabinet 
item 

Description 
Cabinet 
portfolio  

Lead officer 

Oxford City Council 
Safeguarding 
Report 2021/22 

Yes To report on the progress made on the Oxford 
City Council’s Safeguarding Action Plan 2020/21. 

Cabinet Member 
for Safer 
Communities 

Daniella Granito, 
Policy and 
Partnerships 
Manager; 
Safeguarding co-
ordinator 

19

https://ecitizen.oxford.gov.uk/citizenportal/form.aspx?form=Scrutiny_Committee_Suggestion
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings/1024/get_involved_at_scrutiny_committee_meetings
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=345&RD=0


 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

Oxford City Council 
Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure 
Strategy 

Yes Presentation of, and approval sought for Oxford 
City Council Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
Strategy 

Cabinet Member 
for Health and 
Transport 

Vikki Robins, Project 
Manager – Innovation 
(Environmental 
Sustainability Team) 

Growth Fund Cycle 
Routes 

Yes To seek Cabinet approval for changes to Growth 
Fund cycle routes. 

Cabinet Member 
for Health and 
Transport 

Douglas Kerrigan, 
Intrerim  
Development 
Manager 

02 August 2022 (provisional) 

It is recommended that Scrutiny Committee agrees whether to consider any Cabinet reports in August 

06 September 2022 

Agenda item 
Cabinet 
item 

Description 
Cabinet 
portfolio  

Lead officer 

Grant Allocations to 
Community & 
Voluntary 
Organisations  
2023/24 

Yes A report to make decisions on the allocation of 
grants to the community and voluntary 
organisations for 2023/2024. 

Cabinet Member 
for Communities 
and Culture 

Ian Brooke, Head of 
Community Services 

Transport Core 
Schemes - Oxford 
City Council's 
position 

Yes To set out Oxford City Council’s position on the 
proposals for introduction of Traffic Filters, a 
Workplace Parking Levy and an expanded Zero 
Emission Zone, together with improvements to 
bus services and cycle routes – as part of 
Oxfordshire County Council’s “Oxford Transport 
Core Schemes” consultation this summer. And, to 
delegate authority to the Executive Director 
(Development), in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Green Transport to submit a 
response to the consultation on behalf of Oxford 

Cabinet Member 
for Zero Carbon 
Oxford and 
Climate Justice 

Mish Tullar, Head of 
Corporate Strategy 

20



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

City Council. 

 Covered Market Site Visit (date tbc) 

 

Finance and Performance Panel 

07 July 2022 

Agenda item 
Cabinet 
item 

Description 
Cabinet 
portfolio  

Lead officer 

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
2023-24 to 2026-27 

Yes To agree the budget setting strategy for the 
forthcoming Medium Term Financial Plan 2023-
24 to 2026-27. 

Deputy Leader 
(Statutory) - 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management 

Nigel Kennedy, Head 
of Financial Services 

 Scrutiny-selected Performance Monitoring 

07 September 2022 

Agenda item 
Cabinet 
item 

Description 
Cabinet 
portfolio  

Lead officer 

Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme 
for 2023/24 

Yes To seek approval to consult on the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2023/24. 

Cabinet Member 
for Communities 
and Culture 

Phil McGaskill, 
Revenues Manager 

Integrated 
Performance Report 

Yes A report to Members on Finance, Risk & 
Performance as at 30 June 2022. 

Deputy Leader 
(Statutory) - 
Finance and 

Anna Winship, 
Management 
Accountancy 

21



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

for Q1 Asset 
Management 

Manager 

Treasury 
Management 
Annual Report 
2021/22 

Yes To set out the Council’s Treasury Management 
activity and performance for the financial year 
2021/22. 

Deputy Leader 
(Statutory) - 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management 

Bill Lewis, Financial 
Accounting Manager 

Housing and Homelessness Panel 

01 September 2022 (moved from 04 July 2022) 

Agenda item 
Cabinet 
item 

Description 
Cabinet 
portfolio  

Lead officer 

Draft Housing, 
Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 

Yes Report presenting the draft Housing, 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and 
accompanying draft Action Plan that has been 
developed and informed by a homelessness 
review and strategy evidence base, and 
consultation feedback on the review and evidence 
base. The report seeks approval for the launch of 
a public consultation on the draft Housing, 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and 
accompanying Action Plan. 

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

Richard Wood, 
Strategy & Service 
Development 
Manager 

 

 

 

22



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

Companies Scrutiny Panel 

Companies Scrutiny Panel will join meetings of the Shareholder and Joint Venture Group as non-voting members to provide 
scrutiny of the Shareholder function.  

Companies Scrutiny Panel will consider the same reports as the Shareholder and Joint Venture Group. 

 28 July 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Criteria 

The following TOPIC criteria may be used by the Scrutiny Committee to evaluate and prioritise suggested topics: 

 Timely – is it timely to consider the issue? 

 Oxford priority – is it a council priority or relates to an essential service? 

 Public interest – is it of significant public interest? 

 Influence – can Scrutiny have a meaningful influence and add value? 

 Cost – is there a significant financial impact or an area of high expenditure? 

 

 

 

 

23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 13 July 2022 

Report of: Head of Corporate Strategy 

Title of Report:  Oxford City Council Safeguarding Report 2021/22 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To report on the progress made on the Oxford City 
Council’s Safeguarding Action Plan 2021/22 

Key decision: Yes  

Cabinet Member: Cllr Diko Walcott, Cabinet Member for Safer Communities 

Corporate Priority: Supporting Thriving Communities 

Policy Framework: Council Strategy 2020- 24 

Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Note the key achievements of the Safeguarding work delivered through 
Oxford City Council during 2021/2022; and 

2. Approve the Safeguarding Action Plan 2022/23 set out at Appendix 1. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Oxford City Council’s Safeguarding Action Plan 2022/23 

Appendix 2 Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children Board (OSCB) 
Governance Structure 

 

Introduction 

1. This is an agreed annual report to Cabinet on how we are fulfilling our statutory 
safeguarding duties within Oxford City Council. It aims to:  

 Outline the multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in Oxfordshire. 

 Share the results of the safeguarding self-assessment audit 2021. 

 Highlight the key achievements and progress made in relation to the 
safeguarding work delivered by Oxford City Council. 

25

Agenda Item 6



 

 Recognise the impact of COVID-19 on safeguarding issues and Oxford City 
Council’s responses to these. 

 Focus on areas identified to strengthen in 2021/22, collated within an Action 
Plan attached at Appendix 1. 

 Consider identified challenges and risks in relation to external environment 
and actions that we will contribute to, to support the system. 

2. Oxford City Council has a legal duty of care to ensure children and adults at risk 
are protected within the facilities, services and activities under the direct remit and 
control of the Council. The Council has specific legal responsibilities under the 
Children Act 2004 (section 11) and the Care Act 2014 (sections 42-46) which aim 
to make sure the welfare and development needs of children are met and that 
children are protected from harm. 

3. Safeguarding is the action taken to promote the welfare of children and vulnerable 
adults with care and support needs and protect them from harm as well as 
protecting children and vulnerable adults from abuse and maltreatment, preventing 
harm to children's health or development and ensuring that they grow up with the 
provision of safe and effective care enabling them to live free from harm, abuse 
and neglect. 

4. Oxford City Council's Safeguarding Policy builds upon existing good practice 
across its services and sets out its safeguarding policies and procedures.  

5. The Safeguarding Policy was reviewed in May 2021 and agreed at Cabinet in June 
2021. There are no changes to the Policy to note this year. 

Oxfordshire Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASA) 

6. The development, delivery and quality monitoring of safeguarding service provision 
is the responsibility of the Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children Board (OSCB) and 
Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board (OSAB). 

7. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 introduced flexibility to replace Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) with new local safeguarding arrangements. 
It also established that collective responsibility and accountability of these 
arrangements lies with Oxfordshire County Council, the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and the Police, “the three safeguarding partners”. 

8. The three safeguarding partners in Oxfordshire have made arrangements to work 
together as an Executive Group with overall accountability for safeguarding  
consisting of the Chief Executive of Oxfordshire County Council, the Assistant 
Chief Constable of Thames Valley Police and the Accountable Officer of The 
Clinical Commissioning Group. 

9. The new Integrated Care Board (ICB) comes into existence on July 1st, a member 
of this board will join MASA in replacement of the Clinical Commissioning Group.  

10. The purpose of the Executive Group is to work with relevant partners through the 
Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children Board (OSCB), under the leadership and 
scrutiny of an independent Chair, Derek Benson. Derek Benson retires in June and 
the role is currently out to advert. 

 

 

26



 

11. The focus of the Executive Group this year has been to oversee the multi-agency 
COVID-19 Opportunities and Risks register. As key statutory agencies, the group 
ensures they are sighted on new and emerging concerns, seek evidence and 
assurance from OSCB that the concerns are being addressed and there is no 
duplication across the system. The focus has been: 

 Increase in referrals to services, in particular CAMHS. 

 Staff recruitment, retentions and sickness. 

 Looked after children placement shortage. 
 
12. The independent Chair acts as the link between the Executive Board and the 

OSCB. The governance framework can be viewed in Appendix 2. 
13. The key priorities for OSCB over the last 12 months have been:  

 Child exploitation  

 Keeping children safe in education  

 Jacob Child Safeguarding Practice Review  

14. The OSCB Business Group continues to work operationally under the OSCB. This 
group includes all the chairs of OSCB sub-groups and strategic leads for 
operational services. In addition, the Council’s Policy and Partnership team 
manager is a representative on the group for both City and all Districts.  Its purpose 
is to recognise emerging concerns, problem solve, work collaboratively across the 
system and escalate issues when needed.   

15. Oxford City Council’s contributions to this work have been:  

 To ensure free school meals were provided for those that are eligible and 
continued in school holidays through participating in data mapping exercise to 
identify children and families. 

 Attending weekly sessions with social and health care colleagues to review the 
needs of families identified and target outreach support.  

 Weekly system calls have been established to discuss caseloads and children 
of concern. Joint plans have been developed to support these children. 

Children missing out on education 

16. Oxford City Council was concerned about the percentage of children missing out 
on education and the exacerbation of the attainment gap for disadvantaged 
children before COVID-19. 

17. There is growing concern about children that have been hidden from view for 
periods of time and this is intensified by non-attendance to school. 

 At the end of Easter term, a quarter of Oxfordshire children have attendance 
under 90%. 

 The highest non-attenders are our most vulnerable children – on Child 
Protection Plans or educational health care plans (EHCPs).  

 

18. In response to this concern an education summit was convened, led by Oxford 
Strategic Partnership (OSP), to start a dialogue about finding a collaborative way 
forward to address this issue. 

27



 

19. The education summit came up with a set of recommendations and subsequent 
actions, in summary: 

 Lobby Government for establishment of an Education Opportunity Area in 
Oxford - OSP to commission letter to Secretary of State signed by members + 
MPs + others setting out case for Oxford Opportunity Area. 

 Set up computers for schools donation programme - Oxfordshire Community 
Foundation coordinating a programme targeting donated laptops to schools for 
use by digitally excluded children. 

 CPD expansion and creation of linkages between existing programmes -  
Oxfordshire teaching schools – 100 trainees 
Brookes and Oxford University CPD collaboration 
County Council support programme with Oxford Head Teachers 
Examine the creation of a funding pot to help backfill teachers released for 
training 

 Increase partner involvement with oxford community impact zone - Invite much 
wider group of stakeholders including businesses to participate in Community 
Impact Zone (CIZ) 

 Expansion of schools access programme -  
Mapping exercise within Oxford University + Colleges to better understand 
existing links with schools 
Expand twinning arrangement to involve other Oxford colleges and local 
schools. 

20. Progress has already been made on the second, third and fifth actions – with the 
creation of a Computers for schools donation programme; additional CPD support 
provided for school head teachers; the completion of the Oxford University and 
Colleges mapping work, and five colleges and Oxford primary schools now 
involved in twinning arrangements. 

21. The City Council participated in a Neglect Challenge Event held in September 2021 
and this has progressed in a newly created joint Neglect action plan with three 
district Councils. The Policy and Partnership Team Manager Reports back to each 
quarterly Neglect Strategy meeting. 

 
22. Oxford City Council has incorporated specific actions in relation to the core 

components within our action plan. These are: 

 Include a specific slide on Neglect in awareness briefings for staff and 
councillors. 

 Offer training to front facing teams on using the neglect practitioner 
assessment tool, to support staff to check list their thoughts and thinking. 

 Two staff to attend the neglect practitioner forums, to share good practice and 
cascade through our champion network. 

 Ensure that learning from neglect serious case reviews is shared within our 
Communications plan, through videos and the voice of the child’s lived 
experience. 

 Ensure our Housing teams record all concerns on our central MyConcern 
system. 

28



 

 Share case examples on the intranet. 

23. Oxford City Council is further represented on the performance and quality 
assurance group, training sub groups, exploitation sub group, neglect strategy 
group, as well other task and finish groups.  

24. Oxford City Council staff have engaged with and are supporting the 
recommendations from the recent ‘Jacob’ serious case review and participate in 
all three work streams highlighted within the report in relation to Education, Child 
exploitation and System approach. Cllr Louise Upton has also participated in the 
learning review workshop. 

25. The OSCB held an online learning event in January, which was attended by 100 
delegates. They were given an overview of the findings from the CSPR for Jacob 
and a reminder of the need for system change, both locally and nationally, to 
prevent and tackle child exploitation. They heard the views of children and 
families in Oxfordshire and what has worked well in supporting them as well as 
what could be better. 

26. The business group has developed the Risk Register, which identifies key areas 
of concern in relation to the impact of COVID 19 and it is monitored and reviewed 
at every meeting. 

27. All of the boards and sub groups have continued to meet virtually throughout the 
pandemic. The OSCB business group increasing the amount of meetings. 

28. The Adult Safeguarding Board, OSAB also has an independent Chair, newly 
appointed this year (Jayne Chidgey-Clark). 

29. The four priorities set last year were: 1. Move training to an accessible e-learning 
and webinar format 2. Improve our communication links with non-Board members 
3. Share the learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews 4. Maintain high 
standards of strategic safeguarding work during COVID 19 

30. The Department of Health and Social Care wrote to the Board at the beginning of 
COVID 19 outlining its expectations throughout the pandemic. OSAB continued to 
deliver on all its agreed priorities. 

31. Oxford City Council contributions to this work have been:  

 The learning/recommendations from these serious case reviews have 
resulted in the following actions: 

o An audit of safeguarding practice across our housing team functions. 

o Targeted training on central reporting system MyConcern. 
 

32. Oxford City Council put forward the Safeguarding Serious Adult Review (SAR) for 
the homelessness deaths and requested an independent review of these and the 
process. This resulted in an independent review report, an ongoing conversation 
with County and multi-agency action plan.  

33. This multi-agency action plan aims to fulfil all the recommendations in the review 
and gain traction on a whole systems approach to homelessness countywide. 
This is making good progress. 

34. A new Governance structure for homelessness has now been established and 
convened for the first time in this capacity in May. Oxford City have been striving 

29



 

towards this system wide support for some time, this is a very positive step 
forward. 

35. A strategic, planned approach to domestic abuse is being taken forward with 
Oxford City Council’s active contribution to the development and delivery of a 
countywide plan and continued delivery of bespoke services for victims of 
domestic abuse. Oxford City Council is now working towards a Domestic Abuse 
Housing Alliance (DAHA) accreditation and has recently employed two Domestic 
Abuse Housing Link workers to support complex cases and work towards 
achieving the DAHA accreditation. 

36. A Supported Learning Visit was conducted by OSAB which partner agencies were 
invited to observe. Oxford City Council presented an overview of safeguarding at 
the Council. This was widely praised and agreement was made that Oxford City 
Council is fulfilling its safeguarding duties with no recommendations made. 

37. The Joint Community Hub working group is bringing together initiatives to 
enhance welfare support through Community Hubs at City and District Councils 
and Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS). 

38. Oxford City Council’s food response was designed around the lockdown, 
particularly aimed at people who were vulnerable, housebound, and those that 
would not have access to or could not afford food.  

39. Oxford City Council set up a single point of contact telephone number and using 
the locality hubs as a base, set up an emergency food parcel delivery system for 
our residents. 

40. We also worked with Oxford Brookes University and Good Food Oxford to create 
a balanced and nutritious food parcel offer that was sensitive to cultural and 
religious requirements such as Halal and Kosher. 

41. In addition to the delivery of the emergency food parcels, we also began 
contacting the recipients to understand the root causal issues and began offering 
support through Council services and other partner services, such as advice 
centres. 

42. As we moved through the pandemic our support to the most vulnerable through 
the Community Food System evolved. The system now includes food banks, 
community food larders, local community fridges, SOFEA, GFO and community 
food operations such as Oxford Mutual Aid and Oxford Community Action.  

43. The support included Oxford City Council targeting funding through Government 
Food Essentials Funding and COVID Winter Support grants amongst others. In 
addition we supported the system with logistics such as vans and drivers, 
signposting groups to training such as safeguarding and support with their own 
systems and processes. 

44. We worked with Good Food Oxford (GFO) to set up the City Community Food 
networkWithin the City this enables the sharing of resources, joint opportunities, 
upcoming issues and working together to ensure that nobody falls between the 
gaps. 

Safeguarding Responsibilities 

45. Oxford City Council has a statutory duty to ensure that, in discharging its 
functions, it has regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare and 

30



 

wellbeing of children, young people and adults with care and support needs. Day 
to day safeguarding challenges are supported and managed by a group of 
Safeguarding Champions from across service areas with oversight being provided 
by the Safeguarding Coordinator and four Designated Safeguarding Leads.  

46. The impact of COVID 19 has seen an increase in mental health concerns, social 
isolation and people struggling with bereavement and loneliness.  

47. MyConcern is Oxford City Council’s internal safeguarding concern recording 
system.  Reports are discussed at quarterly internal Strategic Safeguarding 
meetings, attended by senior managers and Designated Safeguarding Leads, 
during which the data is interrogated and themes are identified 

48. The MyConcern application has had a positive impact on the safeguarding culture 
within Oxford City Council. Quarterly reports are published on the intranet to show 
staff across the organisation the current safeguarding themes and trends. Reports 
by service area are also published. Reporting trends in relation to topic or service 
area are bought to the attention of the strategic safeguarding group for discussion 
and further consideration. 

49. Most recently we have identified an increase in suicidal threats, attempts and 
thoughts. This highlighted the need for further training and the republishing of 
Oxford City Council’s suicide threat guidance for staff. This includes a section on 
staff welfare. 

50. December 2021 saw 44 concern categories recorded. The total for the year was 
305 and the average monthly number of reports was 25. 

51. Oxford City Council’s own staff, reporting into MyConcern, are also reflecting the 
increase in these wellbeing challenges, with an increase in reports of suicidal 
thoughts, suicidal threats and suicide attempts. 

52. Oxford City Council has utilised this information by updating and redistributing 
Oxford City Council’s Suicide Threat Guidance for staff. Partner work was 
undertaken to produce this guidance and the final document was shared with 
partner agencies. 

53. The OSCB Neglect strategy 2020/23 has been developed and an Action Plan 
managed by the Neglect Strategy Group. The peer group findings showed that to 
tackle Neglect effectively it needed a system wide approach. Subsequently, each 
member agency of the Neglect Strategy group has developed its own Neglect 
Action Plan based on suggested common core components in order to ensure a 
more robust ownership and responsibility on an individual as well as a collective 
agency basis.  

 
Safeguarding Audit 2021 
 
54. Oxford City Council is required to complete an annual self-assessment to 

evidence standards in the quality of its safeguarding work.  The self-assessment 
audit, which is a joint audit between the OSCB and OSAB spans across all 
Council departments. This year Oxford City Council has been able to evidence 
best practice in all areas for the fifth consecutive year. 

55. Oxford City Council was required to evidence its standard of work in the following 
areas: 

 For 2021, the standards assessed are as follows: 

31



 

1. Leadership, Strategy and Working Together 
2. Service Delivery, Development & Effective Practice  
3. Commissioning Arrangements 
4. Safer Recruitment, Staff Development & Effective Learning  
5. People's Experiences of Safeguarding  
6. Reflecting on Past and Future Challenges 
 

56. The evidence provided is assessed and one of the following RAG ratings is given: 

Green – Fully met and evidenced – Best Practice 

Amber – the standard/compliance point is not met but work has begun or 
work is underway but has experienced delays in completion 

Red – the standard/compliance point is not met, work is not underway and 
there are issues with commencing work 

57. Oxford City Council’s assessed standards were as follows: 

 
Leadership, 
Strategy  
& Working 
Together 

Service Delivery, 
Development  
& Effective Practice 

Commissioning  
Arrangements  

Safer Recruitment,  
Staff Development 
& 
 Effective Learning 

People's 
Experiences  
of Safeguarding 

Green Green Green Green Green 

 

58. The full Self-Assessment is available as a background paper to the report. 

59. A peer review was held in February that enables partners to check and challenge 
the self-assessments of different organisations. Oxford City Council upheld their 
green ratings across all five areas within this process for the fifth consecutive 
year. 

Key achievements to note 2021/2022  

60. As Chair of the Refugee, Vulnerable Migrant and Asylum Seeker coordination 
group for Oxford we had been discussing as a partnership that there have been 
growing concerns about the availability and access to interpretation services for 
people who are experiencing domestic abuse issues or health concerns.  

61. Oxford City Council supported the providers to bring a report with real case 
examples to the group. Oxford City Council presented this report to OSAB with a 
call to the board to explore the safeguarding issues that had arisen for this 
vulnerable group due to lack of accessible interpretation services.  

62. As a result of this challenge, the Board worked effectively across the partnership 
to produce a poster and campaign for health services to increase awareness to 
all health staff about the interpretation services available. The Board wrote back 
to the group to inform them of the actions taken. 

63. 2021 saw the recruitment of seven additional Safeguarding Champions, two 
additional Designated Safeguarding Officers and one additional Designated 
Safeguarding Lead; taking the respective totals to 14, seven and four. 

64. The internal training package was updated in January 2022 to reflect responses 
from the October 2021 staff survey. 

65. 38 Safeguarding Awareness briefings were carried out in 2021. 

32



 

66. The Council’s one hour awareness briefing session, which is now an interactive 
online session, enabled us to continue to deliver the sessions throughout the 
pandemic. The October 2021 staff survey showed 51% of colleagues would 
prefer safeguarding briefings and training to remain online and 28% would prefer 
a combination of online and face to face training. 

67. Sessions were also made available and delivered to Councillors throughout 2021.  

68. Managing Suicide threats had become an increasing concern across Oxford City 
Council. MyConcern reporting enabled the identification of the increase in trends 
and subsequently, guidance and support was distributed and offered to staff. 

69. Briefings around the use and purpose of MyConcern have been delivered at team 
meetings in Housing Services and Locality Hubs, in addition to the mandatory 
Safeguarding Awareness briefings. Plans to deliver the briefings to additional 
team are in place for 2022. Intranet pages are regularly updated with information 
and key messages. 

70. The inclusion of Modern Slavery in the Care Act 2014 as a form of abuse 
means that the subject of Modern Slavery is included in the remit of adult 
safeguarding in England.  

71. Oxford City Council employed a new Anti-Slavery Coordinator in January 2022.  
Although employed by Oxford City Council the role covers the whole of 
Oxfordshire and will therefore also be working closely with the other Oxfordshire 
Local Authorities and agencies. 

72. Oxford City Council’s successful bid to the Controlling Migration Fund has 
enabled us to commission research to investigate the nature and extent of 
Modern Slavery and trafficking in Oxford. The findings will be used by city and 
countywide bodies responsible for community safety to: 

 Identify where exploitation is happening and who is vulnerable  

 Understand how to protect and support victims better  

 Make it harder for exploiters and traffickers to operate in our area 

The key areas of focus for 2022/23 

73. To support the priorities of the OSAB and OSCB and to further improve 
safeguarding provision in all of Oxford City Council’s service areas, our analysis 
identified the greatest needs as Homelessness, and Mental Health & Wellbeing. 

 
74. Details on actions being taken forward to support these areas can be found in 

Appendix 1. 

Risks and Challenges 

75.  As an organisation our key safeguarding challenges and priorities are: 

Homelessness/Housing – Identified within Priority 2 of Oxford City Business 

plan 

76. Emerging from the pandemic Homelessness continues to be under significant 
pressure. Ranging from the impact of ‘Everyone In’ to the ending of the eviction 
ban, the end of the furlough scheme and rising unemployment, all of which may 
drive further hardship and homelessness.  

33



 

77. In addition, the introduction of new Government legislation and programmes that 
require reviews and change in local housing legislation, policy and process to 
support the implementation, such as the Domestic Abuse Bill, Safer 
Accommodation Strategy and the recent National and Local impact of the 
Afghan refugee crisis and homes for Ukraine need to be considered.  

78. This places additional pressure on an already stretched housing supply and on 
the system as a whole. 

79. We will continue to drive and support the positive move towards a countywide 
approach to homelessness in the next year which aims to bring health, housing, 
criminal justice and social care together around these issues, this is progressing 
but is challenging.  

80. Our housing, homeless and community services are developing upstream 
prevention/intervention to identify families and single people who are at risk of 
homelessness early in order to prevent their homelessness. Particularly in the 
private rented sector where the greatest risk is. We will be ensuring all of our 
staff keep up to date with their safeguarding training and encourage any 
additional training  where required. We will continue to provide SWEP to support 
rough sleepers. We have committed to housing a further 10 afghan families this 
year. 

81. Violence against Women and Girls is a priority this year and we will be leading 
on the implementation of a Safer Streets project in the night time that increases 
safety for women and girls, and complements the Operation Vigilant approach 
led by Thames Valley Police. 

Mental Health and Wellbeing – Youth and Adults. Identified within priority 3 of 
Oxford City Council business plan 

82. There is no doubt that COVID-19 has impacted on how we safeguard vulnerable 
people. This has been challenging, especially during periods of the COVID 19 
restrictions and with vulnerable residents not able to access face to face support 
services.   
 

83. With restrictions being lifted and things returning back to normal, numbers of 
concerns being raised in relation to mental health has increased within the City 
Council . This is reflected in the data coming through the board performance 
reports. We will ensure that staff are being vigilant on the subject and have 
confidence to deal with safeguarding issues and make appropriate referral into 
services in good time. This will be monitored though our DSL network. 
 

84. Oxford City Council set up Locality response hubs to help with responding to the 
needs of residents in our communities. These Locality hubs are still in place and 
continue to support the needs of vulnerable people.  

85. This includes a pilot project being delivered with Public Health to support young 
people with mental health issues. 

86. Our Youth team has now resumed their face to face provisions in disadvantaged 
areas in the city.  

34



 

87. The Public Health England (PHE) Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health 
aims to facilitate local and national action around preventing mental health 
problems and promoting good mental health. Oxford City Council signed up to 
the Concordat in 2019 and are represented on the partnership group that 
includes organisations within the Health and Wellbeing Board, Oxfordshire 
Mental Health Partnership and Active Oxfordshire. The aim of the concordat has 
been building relationships, by sharing tools and communications, identifying 
quick wins, reviewing what's existing and inviting new partners. Oxford City 
Council will continue to actively contribute to this programme of work. 

 
88. It is also important in the next 12 months to ensure that: 

 Safeguarding is embedded across all services areas.  

 Team managers are able to support staff with safeguarding concerns. 

 Staff can confidentially raise concerns for colleagues.  

 New staff induction programmes include access to MyConcern and 
appropriate training. 

 Members receive training and understand how to report safeguarding and 
handle sensitive information. 

 Training addresses local and national concerns. 

 Sufficient horizon scanning is conducted to allow the Council to predict 
impending trends, changes to government priorities and funding 
opportunities. 

 Staff are listened to through the internal survey about what they feel they 
need support with most in relation to good quality safeguarding practice. 

Financial implications 

89. Oxford City Council contributes an annual contribution towards the running 
costs of the OSCB of £10,000 and the OSAB of £10,000. The Council has one 
member of staff who is an active trainer who contributes to the OSCB and 
OSAB training pool.  

90. MyConcern annual licence fee is £6,592.80 

91. All work identified in this report can be funded from within the Policy and 
Partnerships budget.    

Legal implications  

92.   Oxford City Council’s legal responsibilities are set out in the body of this report 
and also in the Appendices.  Reference is made to various Acts of Parliament 
and which apply to Oxford City Council.  These include Children Act 1989/2004, 
Care Act 2014, Modern Slavery Act 2015, Homelessness Reduction Act 2018, 
Mental Capacity Act 2005, Equality Act 2010 and Children & Social Work Act 
2017. Oxford City Council has a legal duty of care to ensure children and adults 
at risk are protected within the facilities, services and activities under the direct 
remit and control of the Council. The Council has specific legal responsibilities 
under the Children Act 2004 (section 11) and the Care Act 2014 (sections 42-

35



 

46) which aim to make sure the welfare and development needs of children are 
met and that children are protected from harm. 

 93.  Failure to meet these legal responsibilities would increase the risk that children 
and vulnerable adults are not protected from harm and may lead to an increase 
in unidentified abuse and neglect of children and vulnerable adults. 

Equalities impact  
 

94.  An Equality Impact Assessment was carried out in  June 2021 in relation to The 
Council’s Safeguarding Policy.  This assessment is considered to be relevant to 
this report and also sufficient.  Therefore the Equality Impact Assessment of the 
current Safeguarding Policy set is set out below: 

 

95.  The policy’s aim is to safeguard vulnerable adults and children and is inclusive 
for all. The policy takes the equality strands in to consideration and makes 
reference to the Equality Act 2010. No concerns have been raised previously 
regarding the equality impact. 

 
96.  The policy, report and action plan is solely focused on safeguarding and / or the 

welfare of children and vulnerable adults and will have a positive impact. The 
Safeguarding policy is a statutory requirement so no alternative approaches are 
possible. 

 
The monitoring arrangements for any adverse impact in future includes: 

 Quarterly strategic safeguarding group meeting chaired by Head of Business 
Improvement  

 Quarterly Safeguarding Champion and Designated Officer meeting 

 Annual review in line with Safeguarding action plan 

 Annual self-assessment 
 

97.  After considering all areas of the policy, report and action plan, there appears to 
be no differential impact on any protected characteristics. 

 

Report author Dani Granito 

Job title Policy and Partnership Team Manager 

Service area or department Corporate Policy and Partnerships 

e-mail  dgranito@oxford.gov.uk 

Telephone number 07483010758 

 

Background Papers: 

1. Safeguarding Self-assessment 2021 

2. Safeguarding Policy 2021 

 

 

36



 
 

Appendix 1: Oxford City Council Safeguarding Action Plan June 2022 - June 2023                                         

 
Key Influences/inputs 

 Corporate Plan                                                                                                                                   

 The Safeguarding Self-Assessment Audit 

 Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board (OSCB) Business Plan 

 Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults (OSAB) Business Plan 

 Oxford City Council’s Children and young people strategy 

 Oxfordshire Children’s and Young Peoples plan 
 
The annual Safeguarding Self- Assessment Audit is a joint audit between the OSCB and OSAB.  
 
The Action Plan Framework is based on the Self-Assessment Standards and it is aimed at maintaining best practice across Oxford City Council 

 
 
 

Standard Objective Action Input Desired outcome Lead Timescale Bi-annual update 
Dec 22 

Leadership 
Strategy 
and 
working 
together 

2022-2023 Neglect 
Strategy Actions 
monitored 

Peer review feedback from 
quarterly neglect strategy 
meeting to be an agenda 
item for  
safeguarding champions 
meeting  
quarterly strategic 
safeguarding group 

Staff to use neglect 
practitioner tool to 
support with 
assessment and 
decision making. 

Identify neglect early and 
evidence appropriate 
signposting and referrals though 
MyConcern. Staff survey shows 
a more confident understanding 
of the issue. 
 

Dani 
Granito / 
Laura 
Jones 

 
Quarterly 
meetings 

 

 Safeguarding policy 
and procedures 
remain current 

Annual review and update Cabinet sign off 
and circulated to all 
staff. 
Referred to in 
safeguarding 
briefing. 

Easily accessible procedural 
guidance and support for all 
staff.  

 
 
Laura 
Jones 

 
 
Apr 2023 

 

 Raise awareness of 
safeguarding 
SCR points 
cascaded throughout 
organisation 
 

Produce a Newsletter 
containing MyConcern 
data, circulated every three 
months via intranet news 
page and email. 

Engagement 
across organisation 
offering opportunity 
for learning and 
accessing 
information 

Visual representation of the 
safeguarding work cross City 
Council Greater understanding. 
Dissemination of learning from 
Serious Case Reviews 
 

 
 
 
Laura 
Jones/ 
 

 
 
 
All year 

 

                      

37



 
 

Let’s Talk session. 
Leadership Conversation 
session. Case examples 
 

  

 Promote the 
Safeguarding 
Champion structure 
 

Use internal 
communications to publish 
profiles of champions. 
 

Use case 
management 
examples to share 
with staff. 
 

Imbed positive safeguarding 
culture 
 

 
Laura 
Jones 
 

All year 
 

 

 Coordinate external 
communication plan 
with Districts and 
County to ensure 
coordinated 
response to key 
dates and themes. 
 

Quarterly district meetings. 
 

Communication 
Strategy for 
safeguarding and 
key messaging 
throughout the year 

Clear communication plan for 
key messages for maximum 
impact county wide. 

 
Laura 
Jones 
 

All year  
 

 

 Support Oxford 
Direct Services in 
delivering 
safeguarding    
 
 
 

Share training materials, 
information and updates 
from Safeguarding Boards. 
Update SLA  
 

Coordinated 
safeguarding 
approach from city 
and Council and 
ODS 
 

Increase knowledge and 
awareness across ODS and 
increased reporting rates. 
 

 
Laura 
Jones 
Dani 
Granito 

All year 
 

 

 Promote and support 
maintenance of 
Champions Network 
at ODS 

Champions network to 
provide support and 
guidance to ODS 
colleagues 

Improve reporting 
standards and 
referral times  

Raising standard of referrals Laura 
Jones/ 
Jon 
Childs  
 

June 
2023 

 

 Increase the centrally 
recorded data on 
modern slavery 
cases  
 
 
 

Where Modern Slavery is 
suspected on a premises, 
disclosed or person is at 
risk of MS details are 
recorded by Anti-Slavery 
Coordinator 

Identify training 
need and reporting 
trends in service 
areas. 

Raise awareness of risks and 
signs that MS is present 

 
Nicola 
Bell 

 
All year 

 

38



 
 

Support the 
implementation of 
new legislation 
following the 
Domestic Abuse Act 
2021 
 

Implement and coordinate 
domestic abuse County 
strategy in City and 
Districts. 
Keep all staff and 
champions up to date with 
the changes with regular 
briefings and at 
safeguarding officers 
meeting. 

Membership of 
Domestic Abuse 
Strategic Group 
and Domestic 
Abuse Partnership 
Group 

Improve outcomes for victims, 
children and families, and 
perpetrators.  
Progress Domestic Abuse 
Housing Accreditation (DAHA) 
DAHL support for victims fleeing 
domestic abuse. 
Scrutiny review implementation. 

 
Liz 
Jones 

 
July 2023 

 

Continue to work 
with OSCB  
Child Exploitation 
Sub-group and JTAC 
multi-agency process 
 

Multi-agency information 
sharing and guidance. 
 

Regular attendance 
at CSE sub-groups 
and associated 
meeting and carry 
out any agreed 
actions  
 

Joint response to reduce crime 
and protect children exploitation 
and serious harm 

Richard
Adams 

Ongoing 
 

 

Hotel Watch scheme 
to continue. 
Statement of intent 
for all hotels in City. 
 

All hotels to be contacted 
by city and council.  
 

Raise awareness of 
safeguarding and 
exploitation in all of 
city’s hotels.  
 

Reduce opportunity for 
safeguarding and exploitation in 
the city. 
 

Nicola 
Bell 
 

Ongoing 
 

 

Service 
delivery 
and 
effective 
practice 

Ensure all grant and 
commissioned 
services completed 
annual safeguarding 
audit and any 
outstanding action 
from previous year 

Request completed 
commissioned services 
audits prior to Oxford City 
Council submission of S11 
audit 

Annual audit of 
commissioned 
services 

All commissioned services have 
safe practises  
Written evidence in procurement 
process, contracts and contract  
monitoring visits 
 

Laura 
Jones 
 

Ongoing 
 

 

 Service providers 
notify City of all 
safeguarding 
incidents referred 
under Section 42 
Care Act and Section 
47 Children’s Act.  
 

Serious safeguarding 
incidents centrally 
recorded. 

Monitor through 
contract meetings 
across service 
areas. 

Improve practise and 
information sharing  

 
Laura 
Jones 

 
Ongoing 

 

39



 
 

 Support delivery of 
Countywide 
Homelessness 
Strategy 
 
 

Monitor countywide 
homelessness service and 
prioritise safeguarding 
actions 
 

Participation in 
formal meetings 
and work streams 

Improved system wide approach 
to homelessness across county 

Paul 
Wilding 

June 
2023 

 

 Participate in 
Homelessness 
Mortality Review 
Group 

Share learning report from 
HMRG at strategic group 
and in safeguarding 
communications 

Contribute to 
review groups 

Reduction in premature deaths 
of people experiencing 
homelessness 

Paul 
Wilding 

June 
2023 

 

 Safeguarding audit of 
volunteer training 
across organisation 

Scope volunteer audit Engagement from 
volunteers and 
associated 
managers to review 
current systems 
and practice 

Improvement in consistency of 
practice across service 
area/organisation 

Laura 
Jones 

June 
2023 

 

 Measure training 
outcomes in practice 
and assess 
effectiveness of 
training staff 
 

Review evaluation forms, 
referrals and staff survey 
 

Accurate picture of 
effectiveness of 
safeguarding 
training. 
 

Ability to capture staff views and 
improve service. 
 

Laura 
Jones 
 

All Year 
 

 

 Deliver internal 
safeguarding 
awareness briefings 
throughout the year. 
Ensure training 
information is up-to-
date and accessible 
 
 

Deliver minimum of 12 
online awareness sessions 
in 2021 
Deliver four (plus additional 
for any missed) for 
Councillors 
Review training package 6 
monthly 
 

Quarterly sub 
training group 
meeting – plan and 
support the delivery 
and development of 
internal training 
packages. 
 

All employees able to meet 
safeguarding training 
requirements. 
 

Laura 
Jones 
 

All year 
 

 

 Attend all OSCB and 
OSAB Training 
Groups/ workshops 
to develop training 
programmes and 
learning events that 
meet the needs of 

Represent on training sub-
group and attend meetings 
regularly. 

Provide a collective 
report to 
safeguarding 
training sub group 
to continually 
improve our training 

Effective partnership working. 
 

Laura 
Jones 
Dani 
Granito 
 

Ongoing 
 

 

40



 
 

our staff arranged for 
2022/23 
 

by listening to staff 
feedback. 
 

 All identified Young 
carers are referred to 
support services.  
YA to run non-formal 
sessions of what it 
means to be a young 
carer and upskilling 
staff to refer 

accordingly. 
 

Details to be recorded on 
MyConcern 
 

Younger carers are 
referred to Carers 
Oxfordshire and 
young carer’s 
needs assessment 
completed. 
 

Measurable identification and 
classification of young carers 
and use of support service. 

Leonard 
Sackey 
 

All year  

 Promote use of 
pathways and 
awareness of joint 
protocols e.g. Adults 
who don’t engage, 
multi-agency self-
neglect policy and 
Hoarding Protocol 
 
 

Offer training and guidance 
to all safeguarding 
champions. 
Support Locality HUBS 
though connecting 
champions to each and 
attending complex case 
meetings. 
Escalate wider concerns 
through board process 
 

Engage partner 
agencies to provide 
outcomes and 
options for 
individuals who 
don’t engage or 
use services 

Improve partnership working.   
 
 
Dani 
Granito 

 
 
 
All year 

 

 
  

41



 
 

 
 
Previous Action Plan 2021/2022 
Completed Actions: 
 
 

Objective Action Input Desired outcome Lead Status 

 
Concerns, trends and issues 
highlighted at strategic 
safeguarding officers quarterly 
meeting 
 
 

Present dashboard at quarterly 
meeting. provide brief on key 
observations 
 
 

Group discussion and 
planning on issues 
identified. 
 
 
 

Better knowledge across the organisation 
on safeguarding themes and current 
issues. 
 
Training and information targeted at 
specific issues 

 
Dani 
Granito 
 
 

 
Completed 
 

Neglect Strategy Actions 
monitored 

Peer review feedback from 
quarterly neglect strategy 
meeting to be an agenda item for 
safeguarding champions and 
Designated Safeguarding 
Officers 

Staff to use neglect 
practioner tool to support 
with assessment and 
decision making. 

Identify neglect early and evidence 
appropriate signposting and referrals 
though MyConcern. Staff survey shows a 
more confident understanding of the 
issue. 
 

Dani 
Granito / 
Laura 
Jones 

 
Completed 

Safeguarding policy and 
procedures remain current 

Annual review and update Cabinet sign off and 
circulated to all staff. 
Referred to in 
safeguarding briefing. 

Easily accessible procedural guidance 
and support for all staff.  

 
Laura 
Jones 

 
 
Completed 

Raise awareness of 
safeguarding 
 
SCR points cascaded 
throughout organisation 
 

Produce a Newsletter containing 
MyConcern data, circulated every 
three months via intranet news 
page and email. 
Let’s Talk session. Leadership 
Conversation session. Case 
examples 
 

Engagement across 
organisation offering 
opportunity for learning 
and accessing 
information 
 

Visual representation of the safeguarding 
work cross City Council Greater 
understanding. Dissemination of learning 
from serious case reviews 
 

 
Laura 
Jones 
Dani 
Granito 
 

 
 
 
Completed 

 
Promote the Safeguarding 
Champion structure 
 

Use internal communications to 
publish profiles of champions. 
 

Use case management 
examples to share with 
staff. 
 

Imbed positive safeguarding culture 
 

 
Laura 
Jones 
 

Completed  

42



 
 

Coordinate external 
communication plan with 
Districts and County to ensure 
coordinated response to key 
dates and themes. 
 

Bi-annual district meetings. 
 

Communication Strategy 
for safeguarding and key 
messaging throughout 
the year 

Clear communication plan for key 
messages for maximum impact county 
wide. 

 
Laura 
Jones 
 

Completed  

Support Oxford Direct Services 
in delivering safeguarding.   
 
 
 

Share training materials, 
information and updates from 
Safeguarding Boards.  
 

Coordinated 
safeguarding approach 
from city and Council and 
ODS 
 

Increase knowledge and awareness 
across ODS and increased reporting 
rates. 
 

 
Laura 
Jones 

Completed  

Develop Champions Network at 
ODS 

Champions network to provide 
support and guidance to ODS 
colleagues 

Improve reporting 
standards and referral 
times  

Raising standard of referrals Laura 
Jones  
Dani 
Granito 

Completed 

Increase the centrally recorded 
data on modern slavery cases 
visible on MyConcern 
 
 
 

Where Modern Slavery is 
suspected on a premises, 
disclosed or person is at risk of 
Modern Slavery record details on 
MyConcern. 

Identify training need and 
reporting trends in 
service areas. 

Raise awareness of risks and signs that 
Modern Slavery is present 

 
Nicola Bell 

 
Completed 

Support the development of the 
new local governance structure 
 

Implement and coordinate 
domestic abuse County strategy 
in City and Districts. 
Keep all staff and  champions up 
to date with the changes with 
regular briefings and at 
safeguarding officers meeting 

Membership of Domestic 
Abuse Strategic Group 
and Oxfordshire 
Domestic Abuse Advisory 
Group 

Improve outcomes for victims, children 
and families, and perpetrators 

 
Liz Jones 

 
Completed 

Continue to work with OSCB 
CSE (Child Sexual Exploitation) 
Sub-group and Kingfisher 
Team in delivering the CSE 
Action plan aims 
 
 

Multi-agency information sharing 
and guidance. 
 

Regular attendance at 
CSE sub-groups and 
associated meeting and 
carryout any agreed 
actions  
 

Joint response to reduce crime and 
protect children exploitation and serious 
harm 

Richard 
Adams 

Completed  

Hotel Watch scheme to 
continue. Statement of intent 
for all hotels in City. 

All hotels to be contacted by city 
and council.  
 

Raise awareness of 
safeguarding and 

Reduce opportunity for safeguarding and 
exploitation in the city. 
 

Nicola Bell 
 

Completed  

43



 
 

 exploitation in all of city’s 
hotels.  
 

Ensure all grant and 
commissioned services are 
required to evidence suitable 
safeguarding policy and 
procedure before funding is 
committed 

Check Safeguarding policy and 
contracts amended to reflect 
requirement. 
 

Annual audit of 
commissioned services 

All commissioned services have safe 
practises  
Written evidence in procurement process, 
contracts and contract  monitoring visits 
 

Laura 
Jones 
 

Completed  

Service providers notify City of 
all safeguarding incidents 
referred under Section 42 Care 
Act and Section 47 Children’s 
Act.  
 

Serious safeguarding incidents 
centrally recorded. 

Monitor through contract 
meetings across service 
areas. 

Improve practise and information sharing   
Laura 
Jones 

 
Completed 

Participation and completion  of 
homelessness action plan 
 
 

Attend all task and finish groups 
Link to action plan 

Share information across 
council teams and embed 
in our practice 

Improved system wide approach to 
homelessness across county 

Paul Leo/ 
Paul 
Wilding 

Completed 

Safeguarding Audit of Housing 
services 

Scope housing services audit Engagement from staff 
across housing services 
to review current systems 
and practice 

Improvement in consistency of practice 
across service area/organisation 

Dani 
Granito/  
Nerys 
Parry 

Completed 

Review all Council roles and 
safeguarding training 
requirements. 

Match job roles to level of 
safeguarding training required. 
Consider any additional training 
elements needs on a team basis 

Heads of service to 
confirm current roles and 
staff relocation into 
HUBS 

A skilled and confident workforce DG/LJ/ 
Angela 
Bowman 

Completed 

Measure training outcomes in 
practice and assess 
effectiveness of training staff. 
 

Review evaluation forms, 
referrals and staff survey 
 

Accurate picture of 
effectiveness of 
safeguarding training. 
 

Ability to capture staff views and improve 
service. 
 

Laura 
Jones 
 

Completed  

Promote the support available 
to staff through the Employee 
Assistance Programme ‘Health 
Assured’ and to develop further 
support where required. 
 

Include details on safeguarding 
awareness briefing. 
 

Employees encouraged 
to consider own welfare 
when managing 
challenging situations. 
 

Healthier workforce, positive 
safeguarding culture.  
 

Laura 
Jones 
 

Completed  

44



 
 

Deliver internal safeguarding 
awareness briefings throughout 
the year. 
Ensure training information is 
up-to-date and accessible 
 
 

Deliver 12 online awareness 
sessions in 2021 
Deliver four (plus additional for 
any missed) for Councillors 
Review training package 6 
monthly 
 

Quarterly sub training 
group meeting – plan and 
support the delivery and 
development of internal 
training packages. 
 

All employees able to meet safeguarding 
training requirements. 
 

Laura 
Jones 
Dani 
Granito 
 

Completed  

Attend all OSCB and OSAB 
Training Groups/ workshops to 
develop training programmes 
and learning events that meet 
the needs of our staff arranged 
for 2021 

Represent on training sub-group 
and attend meetings regularly. 

Provide a collective 
report to safeguarding 
training sub group to 
continually improve our 
training by listening to 
staff feedback. 

Effective partnership working. 
 

Laura 
Jones 
Dani 
Granito 
 

Completed  

All identified Young carers are 
referred to support services 
 

Details to be recorded on 
MYCONCERN 
 

Younger carers are 
referred to Carers 
Oxfordshire and young 
carer’s needs 
assessment completed. 
 

Measurable identification and 
classification of young carers and use of 
support service. 

Joseph 
Barrett 
 

Completed 

Promote use of pathways and 
awareness of joint protocols 
e.g. Adults who don’t engage, 
multi-agency self-neglect policy 
and Hoarding Protocol 
 
 

Offer training and guidance to all 
safeguarding champions. 
Support Locality HUBS though 
connecting champions to each 
and attending complex case 
meetings. 
Escalate wider concerns through 
board process 
 

Engage partner agencies 
to provide outcomes and 
options for individuals 
who don’t engage or use 
services 

Improve partnership working.   
 
 
Dani 
Granito 

 
 
 
Completed 

Internal cross department case 
management meetings(staff 
concerns) 

Relevant roles convened to meet 
and discuss cases on individual 
basis. 
Action plans developed from 
learning. 
HR monitor and sign off actions 

Participation when 
required across teams 

Better understanding of staff 
safeguarding issues and management. 
Shared skills and knowledge. Alignment 
of policy. Strengthened staff support 
structure 

Helen 
Bishop 
 

Completed 

 
  

45



 
 

 
Document Control 
 

Document  
Oxford City Council 
Safeguarding Action Plan 2022/2023 

Owner  Mish Tullar, Head of Corporate Strategy 

Author 

 
Laura Jones 
Safeguarding Coordinator 
 

Date last reviewed April 2022 

Next Review Date Due  April 2023 

Version  1 

 
 

46



Executive Group
Chief Executive Officer, Oxfordshire County Council

Assistant Chief Constable Thames Valley Police, Accountable Officer, Clinical Commissioning Group

Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
Independent Chair - Relevant Partners

OSCB Business Group
 Independent Chair, Strategic Leads and Chairs of Sub Groups

Performance,  
Audit and Quality 

Assurance
Sub Group

Case Review  
and Governance

Sub Group

Training
Sub Group

Child Exploitation
Sub Group

Neglect Task and
Finish Group

Procedures
Sub Group

Housing Forum

Disabled Children
Sub Group

Health Advisory
Sub Group

Child Death
Overview Panel

Safeguarding in 
Education Sub Group

Structure Chart
Appendix 2

47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 13 July 2022 

Report of: Head of Corporate Strategy 

Title of Report:  Oxford Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To approve the Oxford City Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
Strategy which sets out the Council’s approach to ensuring 
a robust, quality and equitable deployment of charging 
infrastructure across the city.  

Key decision: Yes 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Louise Upton, Cabinet Member for Health and 
Transport 
 

Corporate Priority:  Pursue a zero carbon Oxford 
 Enable an inclusive economy 
 Support thriving communities 

Policy Framework: Council Strategy 2020-24, Local Plan 2016-2036 

 

Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Approve the draft Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy as set out in 
Appendix 1, confirming the principles for future decision making within this 
strategy and delegate authority to the Head of Corporate Strategy in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Health and Transport to make further 
minor amendments to the draft Strategy prior to its adoption; 
 

2. Note that an Implementation Plan will follow for Cabinet approval in Autumn 
2022; and 

3. Adopt the Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy which links in a 
complementary way with the Oxford city specific policies and actions set out in 
the Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Strategy. 

 

  

49

Agenda Item 7



 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 
 
Appendix 2 
 
Appendix 3 
 
Appendix 4 

Oxford City Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy (OxEVIS) 
 
Risk Register 
 
Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy (OEVIS) 

 

Introduction and background  

1. Oxford City Council has set out a road map and action plan to become a net zero 
Council by 2030 and with the Zero Carbon Oxford Partnership (ZCOP), compiled of 
the city’s largest institutions and employers, to reach a target of net zero carbon 
emissions for Oxford by 2040 or earlier.  

2. Transport is the second largest contributor to Oxford’s emissions, accounting for 171 
ktCO2e (2018), with private cars being the main source of emissions. Transport also 
contributes 40.47% of NO2 pollution in Oxford and is therefore a significant area to be 
addressed to meet these targets. 

3. Oxford City Council and Oxfordshire County Council have introduced a city centre Pilot 
Zero Emissions Zone (ZEZ) to address air pollution and help to reach this target. 
These measures, combined with the Council’s Local Plan 2040, will further stimulate 
demand for EVs, which will help to reduce transport emissions and improve air quality 
and support the 2040 zero carbon target. 

4. On 21st July 2021, Oxford City Council’s Cabinet approved the commissioning of an 
EV strategy, to set out a strategic framework for the delivery of EV Infrastructure in line 
with its 2040 net zero carbon target.  

5. The full strategy has been drafted over the last year, covering extensive internal and 
external stakeholder engagement, data collection and analysis of what infrastructure is 
needed to support Oxford and its residents’ needs, alongside a thorough assessment 
and alignment with local and national decarbonisation and transport policies.  

6. This paper requests approval to adopt the Oxford City EV Infrastructure Strategy 
(OxEVIS). Which sets out the Council’s approach to determine the EV charging needs 
of the city, in a manner that is: fair, equitable, sustainable and economically attractive. 
It seeks to create policies that will integrate into key Council-led service areas, to 
ensure a joined-up and collaborative approach to providing charging infrastructure.  

7. OxEVIS will be supported by an Implementation Plan, which will be submitted through 
the Council’s constitutional governance approval processes by autumn 2022.  

8. OxEVIS is structured to complement and realise national as well as local transport and 
planning policies, including the Oxfordshire County Council Oxfordshire Electric 
Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy (OEVIS) published 2021 and the Government’s recent 
Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy ‘Taking Charge’ published in March 2022. In 
particular, it will implement the hierarchy (implicit in both OEVIS and ‘Taking Charge’) 
of EV charging infrastructure installations that seek to keep pavements accessible and 
minimise negative impacts on active transport options, prioritising off-street charging 

50



hubs and safe, GUL-e type pavement crossing solutions over conventional on-street 
EV chargers (where feasible).  

9. The GUL-e solution currently being trialled by ODS provides a number of advantages 
including;  

a. a convenient, accessible solution with a low Return of Investment for those 
without access to off-street parking, allowing access to the vibrant and 
innovative home charging market,  

b. improved targeting of public EV infrastructure funds for those EV users that 
cannot rely on home charging as their primary charging,  

c. utilisation of existing household grid connections, reducing the need for grid 
reinforcement and enabling smart energy management,  

d. a revenue opportunity for ODS.  

 

10. Ongoing co-commitments between Oxford City Council and Oxfordshire County 
Council are essential to the continuous development of comprehensive regional 
change in travel habits, and partnership working with the Highways Authority is a pre-
requisite for Government funding. It will also enhance the collective opportunities for 
future projects. Therefore, this paper requests approval for the adoption of OEVIS, 
which forms a strategic umbrella for many of the more detailed Oxford city specific 
policies and actions set out in the Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Strategy.  

11. The Government’s Strategy confirmed an estimate of between 450,000-700,000 
additional charge points will be needed nationally by 2040. It also clearly defined the 
strategic role it wants Local Authorities (LA’s) to take in the transition to electric 
vehicles, with Transport and District Authorities working together. It recognises that 
whilst commercial companies will provide charging, local authorities are best placed to 
ensure that infrastructure meets the needs of the people they serve, addressing fair 
and equitable distribution, reducing risks of poorly located and/or insufficiently 
maintained infrastructure.  

12. In support of this ambition the government has recently launched further funding 
support packages including the Local EV Infrastructure (LEVI) fund. The city is placing 
a joint bid with Oxfordshire County Council and neighbouring districts to access Pilot 
funding from this grant pot. This bid is covered in more detail in a separate report, 
titled LEVI Grant EV Infrastructure Project Approval, which went to Cabinet on 15 June 
2022, and submitted to Government on 17 June 2022. 

 

Trajectory of EV Uptake 

13. Of the 52,000 vehicles in Oxford today, just under 900 are EVs (less than 2%).  In 
order to meet net zero by 2040, these numbers must rise sharply over the next few 
years – ZCOP identifies that to meet Oxford’s Zero Carbon ambitions, 16,000 fossil 
fuel cars need to be replaced by EVs in the next four years alone.  

14. In a recent survey, 53% of respondents1 in Oxford stated that they expect to switch to 
an EV in the coming 6-24 months. EV infrastructure needs to grow quickly to meet this 
demand. 

                                            
1
 Survey gained 510 responses and was open to anyone who lives, works or visits the City. Survey open between April -  

May 2022 

51



15. The table below sets out 3 trajectories for EV uptake in the city. These figures have 
been calculated using nationally recognised formulas to predict the city’s future car 
and light commercial vehicle (LCV) EV charging needs2. To achieve the city’s zero 
carbon targets, we would need to achieve the ZCOP uptake trajectory.   

16. However, it is recognised that there are many factors that will dictate the actual rate of 
EV uptake. Therefore, the Strategy recommends that we align targets for EV 
infrastructure deployment by annually checking EV adoption rates for the city. The 
purpose of the strategy is to enable EV uptake in an agile way, not to constrain it, 
while avoiding oversupply of infrastructure that is not used.   

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

EV Infrastructure Strategy Vision and Objectives 

17. OxEVIS will ‘Progress Oxford’s leadership in the transition to a sustainable, 
decarbonised transport system through the delivery of a fair, sustainable, accessible 
and equitable network of EV charging infrastructure”. 

 

 

                                            
2
 Figures based on formulae and ratios from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) is the United 

Nations body for assessing the science related to climate change and the International Council on Clean 
Transportation (ICCT) is an independent non-profit organization to provide research scientific analysis to 
environmental regulators. 

TRAJECTORY Definition 2026 2030 2040

% EV's in Oxford per total number of cars and vans

MEDIUM UPTAKE

Based on Oxford's current 

uptake (before ZEZ 

implementation) 24% 50% 100%

HIGH UPTAKE

Based on another city which 

has a highre number of EV 

chargers currently. 29% 61% 100%

ZCOP TARGET 36% 80% 100%

52



18. The Strategy seeks to enable the Council to secure additional investment from the 
private sector and through grant bids, as well as opening up opportunities for 
ODS/ODSTL to deliver services in this space.   

19. Where possible the Council will seek to structure deployment such that the more 
lucrative EV charging sites provide cross-subsidy to those, initially, less well-used. It 
should be noted that sites in those areas of the city with higher numbers of commercial 
vehicles parked overnight may be currently less attractive to the market, but may 
eventually see the highest usage of EV charging sites in the latter years once most 
vehicles are electric. 

20. Over the longer term, connected EV infrastructure sites are anticipated to become 
valuable commercial and community energy assets. In the short term, whilst EV 
charging uptake is still low, the Council may incur revenue costs to subsidise operation 
and maintenance of equipment, where this is less attractive to the market, to ensure 
equitable infrastructure delivery.  

21. Any procurements will be structured to seek longer term revenue opportunities for the 
Council and ODS/ODSTL. Revenue will be used to meet the objectives of this 
strategy, subsidising equity of provision, best value for the public, maintenance and 
operation costs and where possible return income to the Council.  

22. Quality of provision and value for the public and Oxford City Council will be secured 
through the Council’s award winning EV Infrastructure Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS), which will also enable the Council to generate revenue by supporting other 
local authorities to procure, building on Oxford’s expertise.  

Benefits 

23. Government confirmed in March ‘22 that it expects all local authorities to have an EV 
strategy that is tailored, ambitious, scaled and commercially sustainable, as well as 
aligned with wider local transport and energy decarbonisation policies.  

24. There will only be a limited window of opportunity for local authorities to secure EV 
infrastructure funding as Government has highlighted that it will only provide such 
finance in the short to medium term, through competitive bids, until a commercial 
market is established. By approving this Strategy the city will be able to move swiftly to 
seek grant funding.  

25. This Strategy provides a much needed consistent framework for evaluating, managing 
and monitoring the Council’s approach to public charging infrastructure in a manner 
that is consistent and robust, ensuring that future infrastructure rollouts holistically 
meets the needs of the city, its residents, visitors and its energy system, rather than a 
piecemeal project approach.  

26. By setting out city-wide long term aspirations, OxEVIS will facilitate a stronger 
proposition to commercial suppliers, resulting in better offers / investment solutions 
from the market, as well as providing an opportunity to balance the needs of the public 
by ensuring that good commercial sites are mixed with less attractive much needed 
locations. This will ensure that the city meets one of the core fundamental principles of 
this strategy, which is to deliver fair and equitable provision.  

Financial implications 

27. The Implementation Plan will set out any funding required to deliver infrastructure.  

28. The ZCOP target to be zero carbon by 2040 requires a significant injection of funds to 
allow the required 7500 ktCO2 of carbon reduction by 2040 to be achieved. 

53



29. The Council does not have funding in its Forward Plan to provide public EV charging 
infrastructure. Funding will be sought from Government grants and by procuring 
commercial concession contracts and/or Council/ODSTL investment.   

30. We will also explore use of revenue gained from initiatives such as Zero Emission 
Zone, workplace charging schemes and income derived from existing EV contracts 
and the Council’s Dynamic Purchasing System. 

31. Access to internal staff resource will be required to support grant funding bids and 
manage infrastructure delivery.  This includes support from within key teams such as 
Procurement, Property Services, Finance, Planning, Legal and Environmental 
Sustainability.  

32. Some land assets will gain an optimum value for development and will not be suitable 
for EV Infrastructure, but there is a need to consider investing in other assets to future 
proof them and create additional value/revenue streams, especially brownfield sites, 
carparks or unused garages, to avoid them becoming redundant as wider ZEZ zones 
go live, active travel provision grows and the reduction in parking is implemented. 

33. To minimise the public funding requirement, the Strategy proposes to enable solutions 
that allow private sector investment, such as commercial, private landowner and 
household investment. The Gul-e solution also requires minimal public funding, as it 
will be self-funded by the householder, reducing the requirement for funding to provide 
equivalent solutions to meet the on-street demand. The proposed procurement 
strategy, zone based procurement, will enable private landowners to deliver public 
charging on private land, the cable gully (GUL-e) will enable householders to invest in 
home chargers rather than relying on public supply.  

Legal issues 

34. Legal input will be required to create land leases and supporting agreements for 
commercial use of Council land as well as template leases for private landlords. 

Levels of risk 

35. There are a few risks associated with this strategy.  

a. Resource; there may be insufficient internal resource across relevant 
departments to implement this Strategy.  

Mitigation: EV charging is a key driver of the corporate strategic objective to 
pursue a net zero Oxford. Close working with key Oxford City Council 
departments is already taking place, and creation of data-sets to help inform 
decisions already underway. The strategy work will support Property 
Services, Housing, ODS, Regeneration and Planning by providing Advice 
Notes and/or protocols around EV Infrastructure.  

b. Planning Legislation; planning and other legislation has not been updated by 
Government to support equitable roll out of EV charging infrastructure.  

Mitigation: National changes to planning laws are expected in summer 2023 
which should reduce the impact of current legislation constraining 
deployment. The Sustainable Innovation team are working closely with 
planning colleagues to simplify challenges in heritage areas and will continue 
to lobby government consultations regarding the changes to national 
planning policy needed. 

54



c. Land availability; finding suitable locations for EV infrastructure on Council and 
other city land. Under current land value assessment criteria, the EV charging 
business case is not attractive enough to trump development opportunities.  

Mitigation: A working group will be set up with property services, 
communities, housing, regen and others to assess all land owned by the 
Council for future use opportunities including development, sustainable 
infrastructure development (such as EV, solar farms, battery sites). 

The city will maximise current and already approved development 
opportunities to add in EV provision. Using data layers created in OxEVIS 
and LEO projects to inform location selection and business plans. 

We will work with private landowners where possible to support EV 
infrastructure roll outs that provide benefit to the city.  

36. A risk register is attached (see Appendix 2), outlining the potential known risks.  

 

Environmental considerations 

37. OxEVIS aligns with the Council’s policies and commitments relating to carbon 
reduction and safeguarding the environment, bringing us closer to our commitment to 
becoming a Zero Carbon Council by 2030 or earlier and Zero Carbon Oxford by 2040.  

38. However, it should be noted that particulate matter (PM) emanating from braking 
systems, tyres road surface wear and road dust suspension are also produced by 
EVs. Ambient PM exposure is associated with health harms and premature mortality, 
so electrification is pursued alongside measures that support an overall reduction in 
car ownership, such as electric car clubs, and integrated into the wider transport 
planning framework supporting active and public transport.  

39. OxEVIS supports delivery of the following key council priorities: 

a. The 4th Carbon Management Plan 2021 – 2030: The Strategy will support the 
development of a plan to decarbonise the City Council’s fleet vehicles.  

b. The Net Zero Oxford Action Plan: Net Zero by 2040 requires decarbonisation of 
road transport.  

c. The Council Strategy 2020 – 2024: Includes the priority to pursue a zero carbon 
Oxford 

d. Oxford Local Plan 2036: Includes commitments to provide EV infrastructure with 
new developments.  

e. Air Quality Action Plan 2021 – 2025: Requires the reduction in usage of fossil 
fuel cars in the city. 

 

Human Resource Implications 

40. In order to deliver this strategy, resource from legal, property, planning, housing will be 
required.  

41. An implementation plan will be created which will set out the resource requirements in 
detail. 

42. The strategy does rely on maintaining a core team with EV subject matter expertise. 
This is acknowledged through active skills retention and succession planning.  

55



43. Few Government grants allow revenue funding allocations in bids or allow resource 
costs to be capitalised. Therefore it is unlikely grant funding alone will cover all 
resource costs for the Council and alternative funding will be required. Options to 
consider may include internal funding bids, income generators such as the EV DPS 
and subject matter expertise consultancy, or income generated by low carbon 
initiatives such as ZEZ charging, bus gates, polluter pays, overstay charges or future 
workplace charging levies. 

 

Consultation and Communications Implications 

44. Oxford residents and visitors were surveyed in the context of the strategy preparation. 
An EV survey in March/April 2022 had over 500 responses. These have been 
considered and incorporated into the final strategy proposal.   

 Statutory public consultation on this strategy will commence 13th June 2022.   

 

45. In the creation of OxEVIS, the team have consulted widely with city and county 
colleagues, ODS, ZCOP members, transport providers, EV infrastructure suppliers, 
and other organisations who will provide or use EV Infrastructure.  

 

Health and Safety.  

46. Projects will be managed by experienced staff in EV construction and health and 
safety requirements. 

 

Equalities impact  

47. There are no adverse impacts on any part of the community only positive ones. 
OxEVIS provides a framework to support equitability of EV Infrastructure across the 
city. More details are set out in Appendix 3 the Equality Impact Assessment. 

 

Report author Kristina Mould 

Job title Capital Programme Project Manager 

Service area or department Environment Sustainability 

Telephone  01865 252082 

e-mail  kmould@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Background Papers:  

1 https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/7685/zero_carbon_oxford_partnership_r

oadmap_and_action_plan_-_summary
 

2 Report to Cabinet – 15 June 2022: LEVI Grant EV Infrastructure Project 

 

56

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/7685/zero_carbon_oxford_partnership_roadmap_and_action_plan_-_summary
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/7685/zero_carbon_oxford_partnership_roadmap_and_action_plan_-_summary
https://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s68513/Local%20Electric%20Vehicle%20Infrastructure%20Grant%20and%20Project.pdf


Urban Foresight 

Oxford City Council 

Electric Vehicle 

Strategy  
DRAFT   

V3.0  - JUNE 2022 

Urban Foresight were commissioned by Oxford City Council to compile this Strategy using 

feedback from a wide range of internal and external sources.  

Appendix 1

57



 

Urban Foresight 

Executive Summary 
The Oxford City Electric Vehicle Strategy builds on the excellent reputation the city and wider 

region has developed over the years in leading the transition to zero emission vehicles. 

The strategy supports the Government’s aims set out in the recent Electric Vehicle 

Infrastructure Strategy, “Taking Charge,” where an obligation is placed on local authorities to 

take a leading role in the transition to electric vehicles. 

Transport is the second largest contributor to Oxford’s emissions, accounting for 171 ktCO2e 
(2018), with private cars being the main source of emissions. Transportation is responsible 
for 17% of total emissions, with on-road transport making up 16% of carbon emissions and is 
therefore a significant area to be addressed in order to meet these targets. 

While Oxford City’s EV uptake is ahead of the UK average, there is still a way to go to meet the 
targets of net zero carbon emissions by 2040, as declared in the Zero Carbon Oxford 
Partnership (ZCOP) Roadmap and Action Plan. 

This strategy sets out clear targets for the city of Oxford to meet by 2026, 2030 and 2040, in 

terms of infrastructure deployment and EV uptake, which measure the city’s fulfilment of its 

net zero ambitions.  

The key policies and actions in this strategy have been split into three key categories: vehicles, 

infrastructure, and people—to provide a comprehensive suite of actions that will build upon 

both national and regional policies.  

This strategy sets out a clear vision for the city, along with six key objectives, which will help 

ensure that Oxford is able to take full advantage of the environmental, social, and financial 

benefits that the transition to electric vehicles offers. 

 

 

58



 

Urban Foresight 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ......................................................................................... 2 

Oxford EV Infrastructure Strategy (OxEVIS) ......................................... 4 

Local Context ...................................................................................................... 8 

EVs in Context ................................................................................................. 10 

Infrastructure in Context ............................................................................ 14 

Oxford City in the Future ............................................................................ 19 

Policy and Actions ......................................................................................... 22 

Vehicles .............................................................................................................. 24 

Infrastructure .................................................................................................. 28 

People ................................................................................................................. 33 

Financial Opportunity .................................................................................. 37 

Summary ........................................................................................................... 38 

Appendix I ......................................................................................................... 39 

Appendix II ....................................................................................................... 42 

 

  

59



 

Urban Foresight 

Oxford EV Infrastructure Strategy (OxEVIS) 
 

In January 2019, Oxford City Council declared a Climate Emergency, recognising the reduction 
of Oxford’s carbon emissions as key to more sustainable living in the city.  

This strategy sets out how the city will support the transition of car and van-dependent 
journeys towards zero emissions, as part of a wider foundational shift to more active and 
sustainable transport.  

The policies and actions set out in this strategy will help Oxford take a proactive approach to 
supporting the uptake of zero emission transport options, meeting the obligations identified in 
the government’s strategy, while building on the work undertaken in the region and deliver for 
the people who live, work, and visit the city.  

 

The vision for the strategy is to: 

“Progress Oxford’s leadership in the transition to a sustainable, 
decarbonised transport system through the delivery of a fair, sustainable, 

accessible and equitable network of EV charging infrastructure.” 

 

This will be achieved by tackling the key questions below: 

 What is the Council’s role in the future provision of charging infrastructure? 
 How to ensure appropriate provision of numbers and types of chargers now and in 

future years?  
 How can we ensure fair and equitable EV infrastructure that is equally accessible for 

all?  
 How can we ensure best outcomes in regard to the rapid and ongoing changes in 

technology?  
 How can Oxford City make best use of its assets to support infrastructure deployment?  
 How can Oxford attract its fair share of funding and private investment that may lead 

to future revenue streams? 
 How can we use EV infrastructure to promote community wealth-building? 1 

The transition to EVs is still relatively new and Oxford City Council recognises that there are 
several major obstacles to overcome.  

 

 

 

 

                                                        

1 Oxford City Council (7.2021) Oxford City Council to develop electric vehicle strategy for Oxford  

60

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/news/article/1911/oxford_city_council_to_develop_electric_vehicle_strategy_for_oxford#:~:text=The%20Electric%20Vehicle%20Strategy,roads%20and%20100%2C000%20by%202035


 

Urban Foresight 

In this strategy, the term ‘EV’ is used to refer to all ‘plug-in’ vehicles, including: 

Battery Electric Vehicles (BEVs) Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles (PHEVs) 
Extended Range Electric Vehicles 

(REEVs) 

 

While playing an important role in emissions reduction, the Council recognises that Electric 
Vehicles are not a panacea. Everyone has the right to move anywhere, anytime, yet traffic is an 
issue in the city and the Council is committed to schemes to cut congestion, including 
Connecting Oxford and policies for car free developments in its Local Plan 2036.  

The private car has historically enjoyed a near-monopoly of the transportation network. The 
Council is committed to bringing about a balanced road network which is open, safe, and 
accessible to all road users, so that all citizens can move around their own city in their own 
preferred modality as easily as possible. This will require the redistribution of Oxford's road 
space to users of other vehicle types than the private car, which can slow the growth in 
predicted car use and enable infrastructure to increase the numbers of citizens getting around 
by cycling, walking, and bus. 

As such, the Council seeks a reduction of private car ownership and use wherever feasible, 
and this extends to electric vehicles as well as fossil fuel vehicles. 

This EV strategy seeks to identify an optimal way for ensuring those who need to drive cars – 
where cycling, walking or the use of buses is not practicable – are supported to do so in zero 
emitting vehicles.  

The full transition to electric vehicles (EVs), alongside a significant reduction in car ownership 
and private car use, and a greater shift to active and bus travel, will be among some of the 
actions to achieve Oxford’s zero carbon transportation and air quality targets. We refer to this 
shift from personal car ownership to shared car use and public and active travel in the 
document as “travel hierarchy”.  

Of the 52,000 vehicles in Oxford today, just under 900 are EVs (less than 2%).  In order to 
meet net zero by 2040, these numbers must rise sharply over the next few years – ZCOP 
identifies that to meet Oxford’s Zero Carbon ambitions, 16,000 fossil fuel cars need to be 
replaced by EVs in the next four years alone.  

In a recent survey2, 53% of respondents in Oxford stated that they expect to switch to an EV in 
the coming 6-24 months. EV infrastructure needs to grow quickly to meet this demand. 

The table below sets out 3 trajectories for EV uptake in the city. These figures have been 

calculated using nationally recognised formulas to predict the city’s future car and light 

commercial vehicle (LCV) EV charging needs3. To achieve the city’s zero carbon targets we 

would need to achieve the ZCOP uptake trajectory.   

                                                        

2 Survey gained 510 responses and was open to anyone who lives, works or visits the City. Survey open between April -  May 2022 

3 Figures based on formulae and ratios from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) is the United Nations body for assessing 
the science related to climate change and the International Council on Clean Transportation (ICCT) is an independent non-profit organization 
to provide research scientific analysis to environmental regulators. 

61



 

Urban Foresight 

 

 

However, it is recognised that there are many factors that will dictate the actual rate of EV 
uptake. Therefore, the Strategy recommends that we align targets for EV infrastructure 
deployment by annually checking EV adoption rates for the city. The purpose of the strategy is 
to enable EV uptake in an agile way, not to constrain it, while avoiding oversupply of 
infrastructure that is not used.   

  

TRAJECTORY Definition 2026 2030 2040

% EV's in Oxford per total number of cars and vans

MEDIUM UPTAKE

Based on Oxford's current 

uptake (before ZEZ 

implementation) 24% 50% 100%

HIGH UPTAKE

Based on another city which 

has a highre number of EV 

chargers currently. 29% 61% 100%

ZCOP TARGET 36% 80% 100%

62



 

Urban Foresight 

National and Regional Policy Context  
The growth of EVs in Oxford requires an integrated policy approach. This principle of 
integrated policymaking, set out in both Oxford’s Low Emission Strategy (2013-2020) and Air 
Quality Action Plan (2021-2025), will generate maximum benefit to the step-change EVs offer. 

National Policy  
The impetus for EV adoption is well-established within the national policy framework. The UK 

Government is committed to a transition away from internal combustion engines (ICE) and 

have a legally binding target for all new cars and vans to be effectively zero emission by 2035. 

The most recent development in the UK Government’s planning is the Electric Vehicle 

Infrastructure Strategy, “Taking Charge.”4 Released in March 2022, the strategy outlines the 

vision for charging infrastructure and the fundamental role local authorities can/should take 

in creating a successful rollout.  

It estimates 450,000-700,000 additional charge points will be needed nationally by 2040. It also 

clearly defined the strategic role it wants Local Authorities (LA’s) to take in the transition to 

electric vehicles, with Transport and District Authorities working together. It recognises that 

whilst commercial companies will provide charging, local authorities are best placed to ensure 

that infrastructure meets the needs of the people they serve, addressing fair and equitable 

distribution, reducing risks of poorly located and/or insufficiently maintained infrastructure 

Additional roles and objectives identified for local authorities are as follows: 

 Implementation of charge points should be designed with accessibility in mind, for use 

by residents, businesses, and visitors alike. 

 In-house efficiency should be ensured through all aspects, such as grant permissions, 

so that they are easy and user friendly. 

 Identification and implementation of clear ownership and resourcing of the planning 

and delivery of EV charging infrastructure rollout.  

Along with these expectations for local authorities and vision for the network, the strategy 

also announces funding which supports councils’ in resourcing the transition.  

Regional Policy  
Oxfordshire County Council has publicly committed to planning for electric vehicles. The 
Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy (OEVIS)5 supports all 6 of the county’s 
councils in the move towards net-zero carbon transport through the creation of 17 EV-related 
policies and 55 actions. The policy statements are included in Appendix I. 

The schedule of projects outlined in OEVIS is set to bring the installation of up to 432 EV 
charge points across the region by June 2022, through both private and public partnerships.  

Ongoing co-commitments between Oxford City Council and Oxfordshire County Council are 
essential to the continuous development of comprehensive regional change in travel habits, 

                                                        

4 OZEV (3.2022) Taking charge: the electric vehicle infrastructure strategy  

5 Oxfordshire County Council (03.2021) Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy  

63

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063567/taking-charge-the-electric-vehicle-infrastructure-strategy.pdf
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/(S(0qslfpunjtwzla330vllet55))/documents/s55283/CA_MAR1621R11%20Annex%203%20-%20DRAFT%20Oxfordshire%20Electric%20Vehicle%20Infrastructure%20Strategy%2020210225.pdf


 

Urban Foresight 

and partnership working with the Highways Authority is a pre-requisite for Government 
funding. It will also enhance the collective opportunities for future projects.  

OxEVIS is structured to complement and realise national as well as local transport and planning 
policies, including the Oxfordshire County Council Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
Strategy (OEVIS) published 2021 and the Government’s recent Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
Strategy ‘Taking Charge’ published in March 2022.  

In particular, it will implement the hierarchy (implicit in both OEVIS and ‘Taking Charge’) of 
EV charging infrastructure installations that seek to keep pavements accessible and minimise 
negative impacts on active transport options, prioritising off-street charging hubs and safe, 
licensed  pavement crossing solutions over conventional on-street EV chargers (where 
feasible). This strategy commits Oxford City Council to adopting OEVIS in full.  

 

Local Context   
Home to a third of Oxfordshire County’s jobs and prominent research and education 
institutions, the city of Oxford is well-situated to continue to lead the way in the adoption of 
electric vehicles. 

Alongside declaring a climate emergency, in the fourth Carbon Management Plan, “Zero 
Carbon Plan 2030”, Oxford City Council has declared that by 2030, Council activities will no 
longer contribute to a worsening climate crisis, with annual carbon emissions reducing to 
zero. 

This is further enhanced by the Zero Carbon Oxford Partnership (ZCOP) Roadmap and Action 
Plan, launched in February 2021, which sets a target of net zero carbon emissions for the city 
of Oxford by 2040, if not earlier.  

Recent data for Oxford6 shows that:   
 

 

To deliver these ambitious targets and to ensure that the people who live, work, and visit 
Oxford have access to attractive carbon-neutral sustainable transport, a reduction of 
transport-related emissions of 88% is required.7 

Oxford City Council 
The delivery of Oxford’s EV Strategy fits well with the key council priorities to:8 

 Promote the uptake of electric vehicles by working with partners to install electric 
vehicle recharging infrastructure. 

 Promote the development of low and zero emission car club schemes in the city. 

                                                        

6 Oxford City Council (1.2020) A Journey to Zero  

7 Oxford City Council (7.2021) Roadmap outlines Oxford’s journey to net zero carbon emissions by 2040  
8 Oxford City Council Electric Vehicles - Overview  

64

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/homepage/316/oxford_zero_emission_zone_-_january_2020_update
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/news/article/1918/roadmap_outlines_oxford_s_journey_to_net_zero_carbon_emissions_by_2040
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20185/electric_vehicles/236/electric_vehicles_-_overview


 

Urban Foresight 

 Investigate the potential to offer preferential parking arrangements for low emission 
vehicles. 

 Develop low emission and zero emission vehicles in Oxford City Council’s own fleet, 
including the development of an electric vehicle car-pool for the Council 

Oxford’s Pathway to Net Zero    
In delivering an EV strategy for the city, we should acknowledge the significant work already 
underway in Oxford and Oxfordshire more broadly. A number of innovative mobility projects 
are helping establish the region as a leader in sustainable transport. These include: 

Oxford Zero Emission Zone   
To improve air quality, cut carbon emissions, and move towards zero emissions travel in the 
city, Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council have implemented a Zero Emission 
Zone (ZEZ) pilot scheme in Oxford, started on the 28 February 2022. Learnings from public 
engagement and consultation during the pilot scheme will inform the expansion of the ZEZ, 
with the full city centre expected to be included by 2024.9  

Under the current approach, covering ten key streets, private cars that are not zero emission 
(i.e. emit 0g/km CO2) are proposed to be banned from parking and loading. The councils are 
also working with bus operators to update their fleets to zero emission vehicles. Oxford plans 
to engage in knowledge-sharing exercises with other city and regional councils to continue 
the growth of the ZEZ movement across the country. 

Go Ultra Low Oxford   
Go Ultra Low Oxford (GULO) provides on-street electric car charging solutions for residents 
who are considering buying an electric vehicle or own an electric vehicle and need access to 
electric charging points but do not have a driveway.  

With installations beginning in 2017, the project has trialled 6 charging technologies to best 
provide for residential usage.10  

In collaboration with Oxford Direct Services and Oxfordshire County Council, the project has 
three key goals:   

 Cleaner: Reduce air pollution by making it easier for people to drive electric vehicles. 
 Safer: Local people will have a safe way of charging electric cars without creating trip 

hazards by leaving wires across pavements  
 For everyone: If you choose to drive electric in the future and don’t have a driveway, 

GULO chargers could help you  
 

With an estimated 46% of Oxford city properties having no access to off-street parking and 
unable to install a home charger, GULO’s innovative GUL-e project, provides a channel for 
charging cables to extend from homes to the roadside, without creating additional street 
clutter. 

Energy Superhub Oxford   
Energy Superhub Oxford (ESO) is a £41 million project to trial the world’s largest hybrid 
battery technology in the city, to support rapid and ultra-rapid EV charging on Oxford’s 
strategic road network, as well as its low-carbon heat network.  

                                                        

9 LocalGov (2.2022) Zero Emission Zone to be extended across Oxford city centre  

10 Go Ultra Low Oxford (2022) The Project  

65

https://www.localgov.co.uk/Zero-Emission-Zone-to-be-extended-across-Oxford-city-centre/53731
https://www.goultralowoxford.org/info/6/project


 

Urban Foresight 

The EV ‘superhub’ at the Redbridge Park and Ride site will use new technology helping to 
minimise the impact of large-scale charging on the grid, with battery technology optimising 
time-of-day charging.  The project aim is to save 10,000 tonnes of CO2 per year by 2021, 
increasing to 25,000 tonnes by 2032.11  

 

EVs in Context 
Oxford City Council’s approach to planning for EVs is focused on understanding the scale of 

demand in Oxford, and where support is needed to enable a fair and equitable transition to 

cleaner vehicles.  

The mapping of Oxford’s EV charging landscape requires engagement activities with many 

stakeholders to understand the best strategic sites for installation of infrastructure and to 

ensure that the needs of the end user are placed at the heart of the transition.  

EVs as Part of the Road Transport Ecosystem  
While a fully net zero transport system requires decarbonisation of all vehicles, for the 
purposes of this strategy, the focus is on cars and light goods vehicles (LGVs), which are most 
likely to use public infrastructure. 

Analysis of Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions by vehicle type shows that passenger cars are a 
significant source of transport emissions in the UK. Road transport in Oxford, contributes to 
40.47% NOx emissions.12. 

 
Figure 1 CO2 emissions (per passenger) for equivalent journeys in the average petrol car versus electric car13 

Cars account for 85% of the vehicles on the road with 65% of the fuel used, figure 2 shows 
that if light goods vehicles are added, this rises to 95% of the vehicles, with 82% of the fuel.14  

                                                        

11 Fleetnews (7.2020) Oxford outlines its plan to be UK’s first zero-emission city  
12 https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/download/1185/oxford_source_apportionment_study 

13 Department for Transport (5.2021) Transport and environment Statistics 2021 Annual Report 

14 Department for Transport (9.2021) Road transport energy consumption at regional and local authority level, 2005-2019 

66

https://www.fleetnews.co.uk/electric-fleet/case-studies/oxford-outlines-its-plan-to-be-uk-s-first-zero-emission-city
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/download/1185/oxford_source_apportionment_study
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984685/transport-and-environment-statistics-2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/road-transport-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-2019


 

Urban Foresight 

 

Figure 2 Oxford Vehicle Share by Fuel Consumption & Total Vehicles 

In recognising cars and vans as the predominant proportion of both total vehicle numbers and 
fuel consumption, it is clear why this policy focuses on supporting the transition of these 
vehicle groups.  

Targeting the largest carbon footprint is an intentional effort to create the greatest impact on 
Oxford’s Net Zero future, catalysing transformational change across the remainder of the 
transport system. 

 

Transition to a Sustainable Transport System   
In the long-term vision, Oxford City Council’s transport outlook prioritises active travel, as 
established in Policy M1: Prioritising walking, cycling, and public transport from the Local 
Plan 2036.15  

Opportunities for successful active travel systems are high in Oxford because of the number of 
Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs), the availability of walking and cycling routes and facilities, 
and the excellent public transport options available.  

 

Oxford City Council views the widespread migration to EV ownership as a disruptive 
opportunity by which conventional car-dependent travel patterns can be re-evaluated.  

This transition to EVs as part of the wider change in patterns could lead to additional benefits 
of improved journey time and traffic experience, which may play a significant role in the 
general quality of living in the city.  

Emerging legislation, and guidance including this strategy, is paving the way towards a largely 
transport emissions-free city centre by 2035.   

                                                        

15 Oxford City Council (6.2020) Adopted Oxford Local Plan 2036  

3%

85%

10%

1%

1%

1%

65%

17%

6%

11%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

Motorcycles

Cars

Light Good Vehicles

Buses & Coaches

Heavy Good Vehicles

Oxford Vehicle Share

% of Fuel Consumption % of Total Vehicles

“We have to make the change but need help and encouragement to do it.” 

“The improvement in air quality and potential for sustainable electricity 

generation is a positive, but we also need to use cars less to reduce congestion 

and make cycling and walking safer and more pleasant.” 

67

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/7380/adopted_oxford_local_plan_2036


 

Urban Foresight 

Oxford’s Journey so Far 
Delivering this EV strategy requires understanding of where the city is currently in terms of 
EV uptake and supporting infrastructure. 

Private ownership accounts for the largest proportion of EVs in Oxford at 65%. Current data 
from Department of Transport (DfT) on vehicle registration,16 shows that despite the 
accelerated growth in EVs, only 1.68% of the vehicle stock registered in Oxford is currently an 
EV. 

 

                                                        

16 Department for Transport (1.2022) Vehicle Statistics  

68

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/vehicles-statistics


 

Urban Foresight 

Oxford Today 

Population 

 

Cars & Vans 

 

      Electric Vehicles 

 

Charging Infrastructure 

 

No of each type of charger 

Solution No. of Locations (Today) % of 2040 Total Charger Target 

Rapid Hubs 3* 33.33% 

Mixed Hubs 4 3.81% 

Home Charging 287 0.76% 

GUL-e 27 0.84% 

On-Street Residential  24 11.16% 

Off-Street Car Park 5** 20.00% 

Destination 10 13.70% 
 

 

 

*Redbridge 

Superhub is 3 

times the size of 

an average rapid 

hub.  

**Current car 

park 

infrastructure is 

suitably equipped 

for 5 locations 
11.39% 
Vehicles supported 

69



 

Urban Foresight 

Infrastructure in Context 
EVs, by the nature of how they charge, offer the opportunity to move away from the 
traditional petrol station model to a more convenient and customer-focused approach, in 
recognition that in England, cars can be parked for up to 96% of the time.17  

To ensure that this strategy meets the needs of the end users, a variety of different charging 
opportunities are included. 

Types of EV Infrastructure 
 

 

 

Each of the identified types of infrastructure will have a mix of hardware delivering the charge 

at varying speeds. The table below provides an overview of the speed and approximate 

charging times associated with each charging type, as well as the current number of charge 

points in Oxford in 2022. 

Charging Type  Speed  Charging Time Chargers 

Slow  3kW – 6kW  6 – 12 hours 32 

Fast  7kW – 22kW  3 – 4 hours 71 

Rapid  43kW (AC) – 50kW (DC)  30 – 40 minutes 4 

Ultra-rapid  100kW – 350kW  15 – 25 minutes 22 

  

While most charging (around 80%) is projected to be done at home, a strong network of 
public EV chargers is essential to the adoption of clean transport attitudes across the wider 
private and commercial fleet.  

                                                        

17 RAC Foundation (7.2021) Standing Still  

70

https://www.racfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/standing-still-Nagler-June-2021.pdf


 

Urban Foresight 

Setting the Standards  
To date, there are limited standards dictating the delivery of charge points, however a number 
of regulations are being developed which are likely to include: 

 Ensuring infrastructure does not obstruct pavements or highways and is not 
hazardous to pedestrians 

 Cables will not be permitted to trail across pavements or walkways, and instead will be 
accommodated safely in gullies etc.  

 Charge points will be retrofitted into existing urban furniture where possible  
 No exceptions will be made for EV bays (i.e., EV bays will not be introduced where 

traditional parking is not authorised)  

All charge points’ design and placements should meet Government guidance and accessibility 
standards. By recognising these key factors which are set to define the industry standard, 
Oxford City Council will ensure that the cities EV network will be high quality, reliable, 
open, value for money, future-proofed and offer truly instant access. 

 

Key Challenges for Oxford   
Each city experiences its own unique challenges and opportunities, and Oxford is no different. 
The following section identifies some of the key EV-related issues in the city. 

With job growth in Oxford estimated to bring 26,000 additional journeys within the city 
boundary by 2031, there may be approximately 13,000 more commuter car trips made each 
day. A 10% decrease in car travel is needed to prevent traffic levels rising.18 

Charge Point Operators  
While EV charging is still a relatively new market, it is already made up of a number of private 

Charge Point Operators (CPOs). The number and variety of companies offering charging 

services makes it difficult to establish industry-wide standardised best practice. 

As detailed above, there are several standards set to come into effect in the coming years, with 

the Government stating that the industry needs to implement features that make it easy for 

users to utilise any infrastructure without the need for multiple memberships or applications. 

This will include the establishment of a single payment metric allowing users to easily 

compare prices between operators, as well as consistent payment methods, ideally seeing 

contactless payments across the board. Currently, only 9% of all public charge points accept 

contactless.19  

Ensuring a consistent and accessible network will make the transition significantly smoother 

for users of the network and will be a key focus of future infrastructure projects. 

                                                        

18 Connecting Oxfordshire (2019) Oxford Transport Strategy  

19 Competition & Markets Authority. (2021). Building a comprehensive and competitive EV charging sector that works for all drivers.  

“The lack of consistent, reliable charging infrastructure that is accessible to all is a 

major challenge. The multiplicity of operators (and therefore associated 

cards/apps/accounts) makes travelling in an EV in the UK a nightmare!” 

71

https://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s34993/OTS.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/electric-vehicle-charging-market-study-final-report/final-report


 

Urban Foresight 

Lack of Off-Street Infrastructure  
Many Oxford residents would like to drive an electric vehicle, but do not have or are not able 
to have a charger at home, most commonly due to lack of driveways and/or garages. 

On-street charging infrastructure will be vital to cities such as Oxford, as learned through a 
number of on-street solution projects which have been tried in the city (Figure 3).  

  
Figure 6: On-street chargers in Oxford 

 

Alongside these charging options is a need for safe, licensed pavement crossing solutions, to 
reduce the risk from unsafe charging practices. The GUL-e solution, detailed earlier as part of 
the GULO project section, is an innovative example of this. It will enable more properties to 
charge at home, which would otherwise be excluded.   

  

The GUL-e solution provides a number of advantages including;  

a. a convenient, accessible solution, allowing access to the benefits and innovation of 
the home charging market,  

b. improved targeting of public EV infrastructure funding into on-street and hubs, for 
those EV users that cannot rely on home charging for their primary charging 

c. utilisation of existing household grid connections, reducing the need for grid 
reinforcement and enabling smart energy management, 

d. an opportunity for ODS to work with local Councils and residents to continually 
improve design, as well as pursuing opportunities to make the GUL-e available 
across the Country and thus secure income for reinvestment into the City. 

 

Electric Grid Management  
As the number of plug-in vehicles on Oxford’s roads rises, so will demand for electricity. 
Charging hubs, particularly rapid and ultra-rapid, consume sizable amounts of energy from 
the grid.  

Local Energy Oxfordshire project (LEO) is a SSEN-led initiative aiming to build a smart, fair, 
and reliable energy network, demonstrating that smart local energy systems can benefit the 
region’s sustainable future. 

72



 

Urban Foresight 

 

Smart Charging   
The Government has announced an “Electric Vehicle Smart Charging Action Plan” in 

conjunction with Ofgem, to be published in summer 2022. This will include a consultation of 

the additional measures required to ensure there is a system-wide approach to transitioning 

to smart charging technologies.  

Smart charging is a technology that takes power when demand for electricity is lower. This is 

typically at night or if there is a high volume of renewable energy on the grid.  

Smart charging is also being integrated into Government regulation. For example, private 

charge points sold in the UK must be smart from June 2022.  

The inclusion of local energy generation is key to Oxford City Council’s whole-picture outlook 
for our sustainable zero-carbon future. Consideration of energy sourcing will be a requisite 
for EV planning going forward. 

 

Future Projections  
To forecast the future number of EVs in Oxford City, and ultimately the number of charge 
points required, the Committee on Climate Change forecasts20 were utilised. These project the 
year-on-year growth and ultimately project the year in which all cars and vans in the UK will 
likely be electric.  

For the purpose of this strategy, the Balanced Net Zero pathway has been used. As part of this 
strategy, three local EV uptake scenarios have been identified to show the impact of EV 
adoption from differing levels of intervention.  

 
Figure 3 Expected number of plug-in vehicles to 2040 

 

                                                        

20 Committee on Climate Change (12.2020) The Sixth Carbon Budget: The UK's Path to Net Zero  

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

2017 2020 2023 2025 2028 2031 2034 2036 2039 2042

Expected No. of Plug-in Vehicles to 2040

Low Scenario - UK Medium Scenario - Oxford High Scenario - Exeter ZCOP

“If we had more sustainable electricity it would be a better incentive.” 

73

https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/The-Sixth-Carbon-Budget-The-UKs-path-to-Net-Zero.pdf


 

Urban Foresight 

The scenarios all reach the same end goal with 100% of cars and vans being electric, however 

the speed at which they get there varies, but all signify the need for rapid growth in the 

coming years.  

 

To meet this vehicle demand, it is vital to provide enough infrastructure of the varying types 

in the city. The Government’s EV Infrastructure Strategy estimates that the UK requires 

anywhere between 300,000 to 700,000 public chargers, a range which depends on factors 

such as the proportion of on-street chargers required and charging behaviours. 

The high-level projections for future infrastructure included in this strategy provide an 

excellent insight into the likely make up of infrastructure in the coming years and allows for 

meaningful discussions with private investors looking to deploy infrastructure at scale. 

74



 

Urban Foresight 

Oxford City in the Future 
The following figures show the possible future makeup of charge points across Oxford, with the city set to become fully electric in 2039 if they continue 

to follow the medium-paced scenario.  

75



 

Urban Foresight 

The following figures show the possible future makeup of charge points across Oxford, with the city set to become fully electric in 2035 if they follow 

the high scenario. Oxford reaches 100% EV earlier than the previous senario as it considers a higher level of uptake. 

  

76



 

Urban Foresight 

The following figures show the possible future makeup of charge points across Oxford, with the city set to become fully electric in 2035 if they follow 

the ZCOP scenario. Oxford reaches 100% EV earlier than the medium senario as it considers a higher level of uptake. 

 

 

77



 

Urban Foresight 

Policy and Actions 
To meet the ambitious targets for Oxford city in terms of Net Zero, Oxford City Council must 

introduce a range of policies and actions that support the creation of a fair and accessible 

network, equipped to meet current and future EV demand. 

Oxford can currently support up to 11.39% of its vehicles becoming electric. This needs to 

rapidly accelerate to accommodate at least 24% of cars and vans by 2026, 50% by 2030, then 

at 100% by 2039 using the medium up take figures. 

Oxford City Council recognises the need to lead by example in the transition to EVs and 

intends for these policy statements and actions to ensure that the city maintains in reputation 

as a leading EV city. As discussed in “Taking Charge,” the future of charging infrastructure is 

still developing, so the strategy will need to be refreshed at regular intervals to ensure that it 

is delivering the appropriate pace of change, while meeting the needs of current users.  

Broad Policy Objectives 

 

 

EV Strategy 

Policy Statement & Area Action 

Facilitate a fair and accessible EV 
infrastructure for Oxford City 

 

Create design and delivery methodologies to support city-wide charging 
infrastructure. 

Adoption of Oxfordshire’s EV Infrastructure Strategy to complement and 
realise opportunities for consistent and efficient charging deployment. 

Maximise our innovative status to work with commercial sector and devise 
novel ways to maximise charger distribution, utilisation and balance 
energy management, bookable solutions, energy storage and mobility hubs. 

Create a dedicated EV team to 
oversee the implementation of 

this strategy 

 

Maintain EV teams within Oxford City Council/Oxford Direct Services  

Identify funding sources to support the EV delivery team 

Review this strategy at set time intervals 2026, 2030, 2035, 2040 and 
refresh as appropriate 

Continue to promote Oxford City 
as a test bed innovative mobility 

technologies 
Continue to create relationships with government, innovative suppliers, 
local partners, and organisations that support the City’s net zero 
ambitions.   

Continue to seek funding 
opportunities that support this 

EV strategy 

Identify key funding initiatives to support the deployment of EV 
infrastructure   

Identify key land and assets within Oxford that can support future EV 
Infrastructure bids e.g., car parks, community buildings, lockups, etc.   

78



 

Urban Foresight 

The following sections consider the three key areas required to deliver Oxford’s transition to 

zero emission transport, as identified in the vision: 

 

  

79



 

Urban Foresight 

Vehicles 
Major vehicle manufacturers have made commitments to transition their vehicle fleets to be 

fully electric to meet the ban on ICE vehicles in 2030 and hybrids in 2035. This section looks 

at the main groups of vehicles and how they can be supported to transition to zero emission 

alternatives. 

Private Cars 
The UK remains a car-centric society—roughly two thirds of Oxford households (67%) own 

one or more car.6  

Oxford City Council is looking to develop the optimal way for ensuring those who need to 

drive cars—in circumstances where cycling, walking or public transport use is not 

practicable—are supported to do so in zero-emitting vehicles.  

As identified, the carbon impact of private car usage is significant, with city-wide initiatives 

such as the ZEZ looking to dis-incentivise car journeys, especially for those without a zero-

emission vehicle.  

The delivery of suitable infrastructure for all those that live, work, and visit Oxford will ensure 

that the 53% people who have said their next vehicle may be electric have no reservations 

about charging in the city. 

Changes in Vehicle Size  
According to research in the UK, the size of cars is continuing to grow by an average of almost 
3% from generation to generation.21 As of 2018, 129 car models on the market exceed the 
standard size of a UK parking space (16ft x 8ft).22  

The growing popularity of larger-size Sport Utility Vehicles (SUVs) is pushing councils and 
developers to reconsider the spatial dimensions and environmental impact of vehicle 
infrastructure, as SUVs emit almost 10% more than the average car.23  

When considering the impact of increasing car size on Oxford’s transition to EVs, the 
challenge is in finding the right balance of capacity and efficiency within car parks and 
charging hubs.  

Following this strategy’s public consultation, Oxford City Council in collaboration with 
Oxfordshire County Council, will publicise a best practice parking hierarchy which maps out 
suggested space allotments, from charging hubs to council car parks, building on BSI’s 
forthcoming 2022 PAS standards.  

                                                        

21 Thisismoney.co.uk (11.2020) One size no longer fits all   

22 Which (6.2018) Cars too big for parking spaces – the worst culprits revealed  
23 European Environment Agency (6.2020) Average CO2 emissions from new cars and new vans increased again in 2019   

80

https://www.thisismoney.co.uk/money/cars/article-8986069/Parking-space-sizes-havent-increased-1970s-todays-cars-55-bigger.html
https://www.which.co.uk/news/2018/06/cars-too-big-for-parking-spaces-the-worst-culprits-revealed/
https://www.eea.europa.eu/highlights/average-co2-emissions-from-new-cars-vans-2019


 

Urban Foresight 

Electric Shared Cars   
Car clubs are a form of shared mobility that allow for individuals and commercial 
organisations to access a personal vehicle without the cost of ownership, offering a practical 
and cost-effective alternative, while reducing congestion and the demand for private parking 
spaces. 

The inclusion of electric shared cars can bring significant environmental improvement to a 
city. It is estimated that for every shared car in use, 18 private vehicles can be removed as a 
result. As of 2019, Oxford had more shared electric vehicles per head of population than any 
other UK city.24  

A social impact report by Co-Wheels also found that shared cars has decreased transport 
poverty by 18%, while saving members an average of £1,000 a year.  

 

Oxford City Council will continue to work with the Highways Authority, Oxfordshire County 
Council and car club suppliers to ensure that the delivery of these services is geographically 
and socially accessible, using open data from organisations to identify key areas of interest for 
new car club locations.  

The installation of new infrastructure at both strategic and on-street locations offers the 
opportunity to solidify car clubs place as part of wider deployment and should be considered 
at all future sites.  

The level of provision for car club vehicles varies with the size and location of the 
development, however industry analysis has shown that approximately 1 car per 30 
properties is a reasonable starting assumption, with membership ranging from 30-15o people 
per vehicle, depending on activity levels and increases in cars required at 40-50% utilisation 
rates. 

 
 

Community-oriented projects such as car sharing are valuable assets to the delivery of wider 
social inclusivity, expanding the reach which EVs can have. Going forward, Oxford City Council 
will look to commercial EV car clubs and community car-sharing schemes as a transport 
priority.  

Working Drivers’ Vehicles 
With a growth in home deliveries, self-employed drivers and home starts over the last few 
years, the number of people taking their vehicles home at night is on the rise. Coupled with 
the shift towards electric vehicles, this means that more drivers will require access to a 
convenient or available public charging network. 

The use of public infrastructure by working drivers’ vehicles helps improve the business case 
for deploying infrastructure and in certain locations, can dovetail well with public charge 
points to avoid duplication and additional strain on the network. 

                                                        

24 Co-wheels (2019) Oxford leads the way for shared electric cars  

“I feel there needs to be priority for jointly-owned vehicles such as car clubs, 

rather than for household-owned vehicles.” 

“We must move to electric cars, but we also must have less of them on the roads, 

both when they are driven and parked. Encourage community use of cars!” 

81

https://www.co-wheels.org.uk/about-us/blog/oxford-leads-way-shared-electric-cars


 

Urban Foresight 

Park & Rides sites offers an ideal opportunity for shared use, commuters during the day and 
working vehicles overnight, as well as mini charging hubs in local communities that support 
residents and local working drivers. 

Oxford City Council already has an excellent reputation of engaging with private partners, 
through activities including becoming DPD’s first ‘all-electric city.’ 25 

 
 

Oxford City Council will support organisations that have expressed an interest in developing 
relationships to utilise public infrastructure and help overcome issues they face in large scale 
EV adoption. 

As well as exploring opportunities for shared public/private infrastructure, the Council will 
continue to promote the GUL-e initiative and other safe, licensed pavement crossing solutions 
as a means for enabling affordable home charging access for working drivers without a 
driveway.  

Taxis: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles   
As of 2022, Oxford has 107 Oxford licensed Hackney Carriages of which 20 are electric. There 
are 545 licenced Private Hire vehicles. Together with an estimated 101 out of town private 
hire taxis entering the city, there is a total of some 750 HC and PH vehicles active in the city.  

In addition to the requirements for vehicles travelling in Oxford’s ZEZ, all new Hackney 
Carriage Vehicles newly licensed by Oxford City Council must be Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles 
(ULEVs). The phasing out of emissions standards between 2020-2025 will bring about a fully-
zero emissions fleet of Oxford-licensed Hackney Carriages.26  

There are several taxi-only rapid charging sites already deployed in Oxford, with additional 
dedicated and shared sites to come, with taxi drivers benefiting from discounted charging 
rates in some cases.27 

For high mileage taxi drivers, ensuring that charging infrastructure is available at popular 
routes or ranks will help maximise productivity, supporting the business case for migration to 
EV’s. Many of these working drivers also live as well as work in the city, often in more densely 
populated locations, without access to off-street parking. Provision of closely located charging 
infrastructure is a good example of the equitability of charging provision that OxEVIS seeks to 
promote.   

Providing reliable, affordable e-taxis may be especially important for those who rely on 
occasional car-based travel. Having a reliable option in these cases aids the larger goal of 
limiting unnecessary private car ownership.  

Oxford City Council will continue to consider the unique use case of taxi and private hire 
vehicles when rolling out the infrastructure included in this strategy, with an additional 

                                                        

25 DPD Group (7.2021) Oxford becomes DPD's first all-electric city  
26 Oxford City Council (1.2020) A Journey to Zero  

27 Oxford City Council (9.2021) Rapid EV charging sites for taxis and public go live at Keble Road and Manzil Way  

Bicester Eco-depot 
 

With the opening of the new state-of-the-art Bicester eco-depot in June 2021, all parcel 
deliveries by DPD in Oxford will be made exclusively by electric vehicles. This delivery 
fleet consists of 40 electric vehicles, which transport over 15,000 parcels a week across 
the city.  

 

82

https://www.dpd.co.uk/content/about_dpd/press_centre/oxford-becomes-dpds-first-all-electric-city.jsp
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/homepage/316/oxford_zero_emission_zone_-_january_2020_update
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/news/article/1963/rapid_ev_charging_sites_for_taxis_and_public_go_live_at_keble_road_and_manzil_way


 

Urban Foresight 

allowance made for the number of public rapid chargers needed to meet the likely future 
demand of a 100% electric fleet. 

Vehicle Policy Objectives 
Vehicle Policies 

Policy Statement & Area Action 

Promote shared electric 
mobility schemes as a 

priority in Oxford’s travel 
hierarchy 

  

Ensure electric car clubs are deployed at all significant charging 
developments   

A set proportion of car club membership tariff will be spent on marketing for 
expansion of car club networks   

Facilitate relationships between car club operators and charge point 
operators to ensure a seamless experience.  

Develop a monitoring framework to build evidence base for impact of car 
clubs   

Facilitate joined up solutions for mobility hubs by working with key partners 
in the City 

Council will deploy electric only pool car fleet at appropriate offices 

Lead by example through 
the decarbonisation of 

transport in the city  Support ODS in the reduction of carbon emissions from their fleet to support 
the city’s net zero 2030 target  Consider City and ODS fleet charging needs 
for chargepoint infrastructure business case opportunities  

Deliver a zero-emission fleet 
of taxi and private hire 

vehicles 

 

Monitor the transition of taxis and private hires on an annual basis 

All Oxford-licensed Hackney Carriages (black cabs) to be zero emission by 
2025 

All private hire vehicles to be zero emission by 2030. 

Work with all partners to ensure procurement policies promote zero 
emission taxis and private hire vehicles 

Support working drivers to 
transition to electric vehicles 

 

Work with key organisations, deploying working drivers in the city to create 
and implement EV infrastructure multi-use solutions.   

Provide charging solutions to meet the needs of working drivers 
accommodating different vehicle sizes and working patterns 

 

  

83



 

Urban Foresight 

Infrastructure 
“Taking Charge” places an obligation on local authorities to be involved in the deployment of 
infrastructure. This section outlines the key areas of infrastructure deployment required for 
mass adoption of EVs in Oxford. 

This will be achieved by continually reviewing provision in the city against the set targets and 
identifying and pursuing geographic gaps in commercial and home charging facilities in areas, 
with a focus on ensuring that there is equal coverage across all city wards. 

In delivering the required infrastructure, this strategy aligns with the regional deployment 
prioritisation framework in OEVIS (shown below).  

 

Rapid Charging on Oxford’s Strategic Road Network  
The UK has one of the largest and most comprehensive rapid networks in Europe, including 
more than 3,500 rapid chargers.28  

The development of Energy Superhub Oxford (ESO) will distinguish Oxford’s place in this 
network. This will not only help stimulate the city’s visitor economy, but also provide the 
highest standard of transport service to the local population.  

 
 

The strategic placement of ESO, to the south of central Oxford near the A34, is part of the 
larger ambition to reduce all motor traffic in the city centre.  

The Rapid Charging Fund (RCF)29 will support the installation of at least six rapid chargers at 
every motorway service area by the end of 2023. This is likely to benefit Oxford and the 
surrounding region. 

By influencing traffic out towards the orbital roads on the Outer Ring Road and along the A34 
and M40, active travel and public transport options are more likely to take precedent over 
increasingly limited car-based options in central Oxford.  

                                                        

28 Zap-Map (2.2022) EV Charging Stats 2022  

29 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/rapid-charging-fund  

“Charging facilities need to be more accessible on sites outside of the city.” 

84

https://www.zap-map.com/statistics/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/rapid-charging-fund


 

Urban Foresight 

Public Charging in Local Authority Locations  
The provision of EV charging in assets owned by the local authority and partners will ensure 
that those that work at, visit, or live near these locations can make use of charging 
infrastructure. 

Where possible the Council will seek to structure deployment such that the more lucrative EV 
charging sites provide cross-subsidy to those, initially, less well-used. It should be noted that 
sites in those areas of the city with higher numbers of commercial vehicles parked overnight 
may be currently less attractive to the market but may eventually see the highest usage of EV 
charging sites in the latter years once most vehicles are electric. 

Over the longer term, connected EV infrastructure sites are anticipated to become valuable 
commercial and community energy assets. In the short term, whilst EV charging uptake is still 
low, the Council may incur revenue costs to subsidise operation and maintenance of 
equipment, where this is less attractive to the market, to ensure equitable infrastructure 
delivery. 

To manage local authority spaces in the most efficient and effective manner, Oxford City 
Council will look to: 

 Manage parking bays for EV charging to promote both destination and overnight EV 
charging 

 Use enforceable Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) to reserve parking bays with EV 
chargers for charging EVs or specific car club vehicles only  

 Use consistent EV charging bay markings in line with UK government and industry 
standards  

 

These steps will ensure that Oxford City is in alignment with neighbouring authorities, 
providing consistency for the end user. 

The deployment of charging infrastructure in council and partner owned parking assets will 
depend on the size, length of stay, tourist/visitor demand, and forecasted EV uptake in the 
surrounding area, as well as the long-term strategic priorities for the properties. 

The use of car parks can limit the number of on-street locations required, keeping city streets 
as active-travel-friendly and as clutter-free as possible. This reflects Oxford Local Plan's 
presumption that vehicle parking will be kept to the minimum necessary to ensure the 
successful functioning of the city’s travel network. 

On-street Parking   
Oxford City Council will continue to deliver on-street solutions through its Go Ultra Low 
Oxford project, which is currently projected to install up to 100 further chargers across the 
city for residents without off-street parking.  

Residents who would like a charger to be installed on their street are currently able to register 
their interest on the GULO website.30 This feature helps the Council assess the level of demand 
and ensure that the roll-out of these chargers benefits as many eligible residents as possible. 

The Council will look to continue to engage with local stakeholders to create a productive 
dialogue between residents, businesses, and the council to deliver the required infrastructure 
in the right locations. 

                                                        

30 Go Ultra Low Oxford (2022) Register your interest  

85

https://www.goultralowoxford.org/homepage/18/register_your_interest_in_on-street_charging


 

Urban Foresight 

There are currently a number of on-street charging technologies operating in Oxford as part of 
GULO project, including lamppost chargers and bollard chargers.  

The GUL-e solution also offers a significant opportunity to increase the number of properties 
where a vehicle can be charged directly. The successful trial of GUL-e ended in March 2022 and 
the product is expected to be rolled out across the city and wider region (hence its inclusion as 
a possible charging option in the future forecasts). 

Current planning legislation means that some EV infrastructure installations will require 
planning permission. These will be considered on a case-by-case basis.  Homeowners without 
access to off-street parking, would currently need to apply for planning permission to install a 
charger on their house, if they wanted to use the GUL-e solution. 

New Developments Provision  
Oxford’s high density of housing developments with communal residential parking areas 
limits the spatial availability for home EV charger installations. In many cases, landowners 
and housing management companies lack the resources and finances to deliver EV 
infrastructure in communal parking areas, if appropriate.  

Oxford City Housing Limited (OCHL) has committed to building around 1,900 new homes for 
sale and rent across Oxford over the next 10 years,31 which can more directly plan for EVs 
from the onset. 

EV charging infrastructure in residential car parking at new developments will be required 
through the council’s planning process, as per the standards set in the Oxford City Council 
Local Plan (2016-2036) which state that:  

 Where parking is to be provided, planning permission will only be granted for 
developments if:   

o Provision is made for EV charging points for each residential unit with an 
allocated parking space; and   

o Non-allocated spaces are provided with at least 25% (with a minimum of 2) 
having electric charging points installed.  

 Planning permission will only be granted for non-residential development that 
includes parking spaces if a minimum of 25% of the spaces are provided with electric 
charging points.  

The development of EV charging at new properties also offers real opportunity to link up with 
shared electric car clubs. Oxford City Council will look to provide guidance and advice on this 
opportunity, alongside the planning conditions detailed above, to set the benchmark for new 
or redeveloped properties. 
 
The updated Building Regulations 2010, published in June 2022, include new requirements 
for electric vehicles charging infrastructure to be installed. This is covered in Part S.  These 
updates stipulate a requirement for chargepoints to be included in new residential 
developments and non-residential developments, including those that undergo material 
changed or major renovation.   

 
 
 
 
                                                        

31 Oxford City Council (5.2021) #OxfordNeedsHomes  

“If we’re shifting towards encouraging people to use electric vehicle, they should 

have electric points fitted as standard on all new houses and flats. There should be 

more accessible fast charging points in shopping centres & towns.” 

86

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/news/article/1825/oxfordneedshomes#:~:text=Whether%20for%20sale%20or%20rent,and%20zero%20carbon%20by%202030


 

Urban Foresight 

Historic Areas Provision  
Oxford City Council is dedicated to ensure that the transition from conventional fuel to 
electric vehicles enhances the character of Oxford as a historic, living city, ensuring that the 
city’s zero carbon targets can be met while minimising negative impacts on the historic 
streetscape.  

Proposals for the introduction of EV infrastructure will follow planning and design guidance. 
They will also be carefully assessed in relation to travel and infrastructure hierarchy as well 
as a site’s immediate setting and surroundings, including its impact on streetscape quality. 

As such, the design of EV parking and charging will adhere to relevant material considerations 
set out in heritage conservation policy and be weighed in accordance with local planning 
policies and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  

To ensure appropriate EV charging infrastructure can be delivered in all of the city’s 
neighbourhoods, local and government planning legislation needs to evolve. OxEVIS targets 
will be considered in the context of local planning legislation changes, and the Council will 
actively engage with the government to influence and advise it, on the national planning 
legislation changes needed in this area  

To enable this, OxEVIS will provide the umbrella for collaboration with key Council 
stakeholders, including planning, housing, property services and others to create guidance for 
developers and homeowners regarding EV installations as well as updating existing Technical 
Advice Notes (TANs) and/or protocols to support evolution in these areas. 

Infrastructure Policy Objectives 
Infrastructure Policies 

Policy Statement & Area Action 

Oversee the deployment of a 
network that meets current 

and future demand in the 

city 

 

On an annual basis, monitor progress of EV infrastructure delivery against 
trajectory using the modelling tool to ensure provision continues to meet 
revised demand and takes into account wider ZEZ plans/impact 

Scale-up of GUL-e trial for mass home charger installation  

Seek to leverage efficient use of energy to facilitate charging by partnering 
with DNO 

Work with private sector to deliver required infrastructure via a set of 
coordinated programmes and projects, to meet the targets for 2026, 2030 
and 2040 

Set the minimum standards 
required for any new 

deployment within the city  

All new charge points will be required to support interoperability, including 
contactless payment.   

All new charge points will meet minimum standards set in PAS standards 
(due 2022) and Government’s EV Infrastructure Strategy 

Set minimum standards for network availability as part of any future 
contracts 

Wherever possible, drive innovation by encouraging suppliers to source 
materials for deployment that have a lower carbon footprint and are more 
efficient. 

All tenders/contracts will include a requirement for social inclusion to 
ensure the provision of accessible, fair and socially equitable EV 
Infrastructure. 

87



 

Urban Foresight 

Ensure planning policies 
reflect the changing needs of 

EV infrastructure  

Collaborate to define minimum charging infrastructure provision to be 
provided in new and redeveloped or materially changed developments, 
where not defined at a national level. 

Electric car clubs to be considered in all new developments   

Updating of  the Technical Advice Note (TAN)  to support delivery of EV 
solutions in a heritage context  

Encourage existing non-residential locations to have, as a minimum, 1 in 4 

spaces provided with EV charging points 

Any areas of the City Council planning EV infrastructure development to 

ensure they have consulted with colleagues involved in transport planning, 

Net Zero targets and wider EV infrastructure planning 

Ensure that the future 
network meets the needs of 

all 

 

Continue to test new technologies in the city that support the transition to 
EVs especially utilising Smart charge points and local energy projects  

Continue to partner and test new innovative products/approaches that 
support the accessibility of charging  

Infrastructure delivery is prioritised to ensure it is fair and equitable.  

Ensure EV infrastructure 
supports the wider 

transport goals within the 
city 

 

All new charging hubs to consider an electric shared car club vehicle  

Consider links to active and public transport when identifying new sites for 
charge points  

 

  

88



 

Urban Foresight 

People 
The switch to EVs will require marked change in behaviours from drivers, however it does 

offer the opportunity for refuelling to be more convenient, more accessible, cheaper and part 

of the wider transition to more sustainable transport. 

Influencing City Stakeholders  
Oxford City Council acknowledges that the move to EVs will not be possible without the help 
and contribution of the city’s array of stakeholders. The groups who can play a part in the 
switch to EVs include:  
 

 Local authorities  
 UK Government   
 Car companies  

 Private organisations  
 Friends and family 
 All public sector bodies  

  
The council will continue its successful record in seeking out funding and resourcing 
opportunities to enable commercial stakeholders to test out new and innovative products in 
the city, building delivery partnerships to set standards of best practice, while increasing the 
number of EV projects on. 

Commercial Opportunities  
The UK government (as per “Taking Charge”) and Oxford City Council believe that leveraging 
the private sector to help with the delivery of charging infrastructure and supporting services 
offers a real opportunity for the successful integration into everyday life in Oxford.  

 
 

While the delivery of the charging network required in Oxford will require significant upfront 
capital investment, estimated at up to £21.372 million until 2040, it also offers the 
opportunity for local authorities to generate additional revenue. 

Supermarkets, gyms, and hospitality venues continue to deploy charging infrastructure at 
scale, with several large retailers announcing plans to boost EV charging at their stores across 
the country over the last 3 years.32 

Oxford City Council plans to build upon this momentum, with parallel focus on smaller-scale, 
local businesses that are equally suitable to provide EV charging.  

There is significant appetite among fleets to transition to EVs, however this presents the 
challenge of matching appetite to charging provision.33 The Council will explore options to 
share public and commercial charge points. 

Turning to established commercial relationships, such as those with Low Carbon Hub and 
Oxfordshire Greentech, for guidance on outreach strategies that may have significant benefit 

                                                        

32 Oxfordshire County Council (2.2021) Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy   

33 BVRLA (2.2022) Fleet Charging Guide 2022  

Westgate Centre Charging Hub 
 

The EV charging hub with 50 fast EV chargers at the Westgate Centre in Oxford 

exemplifies the possibilities for large-scale commercial projects. EV charging provided by 

commercial destinations for their customers is useful for all motorists but especially for 

users without access to off-road EV charging at home.  

89

https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/(S(0qslfpunjtwzla330vllet55))/documents/s55283/CA_MAR1621R11%20Annex%203%20-%20DRAFT%20Oxfordshire%20Electric%20Vehicle%20Infrastructure%20Strategy%2020210225.pdf
https://www.bvrla.co.uk/uploads/assets/06cc9a33-4064-4835-ae6a832b4abe32b0/BVRLAFleet-Charging-Guide-2022.pdf


 

Urban Foresight 

on Oxford City Council’s EV messaging. These relationships are key to expanding the reach of 
Oxford’s reputation as a test bed for innovative technologies.  

Workplace and Business Opportunities  
The Council is conscious that a large portion of its local population is reliant on private car 
usage for employment purposes however it views the abundance of free workplace parking 
within the city as a significant threat to the step-change required to avert the considerable 
negative impacts of car-based growth.   

The Eastern Arc has the highest amount of workplace parking in Oxford, accounting for just 
under half of commuter car parking spaces.34 Our policy will look to apply interventions in 
areas such as this alongside the rest of the City 

The Council intends to utilise workplace parking and charging tariffs as a means of 
encouraging less commuter congestion.  

Alongside these schemes, where feasible, workplace charging installed specifically at council 
premises could serve as EV charging hubs if made accessible to the public overnight. It may 
also be possible to gain investment from CPOs in concession contracts for these sites.  

 

 

Ensuring Open, Accessible, and Reliable EV Infrastructure  
Demographically, Oxford’s higher levels of affluence increase the likelihood of it being one of 
the first places to see mass adoption of EVs. Nevertheless, there remain a number of areas 
with lower income levels, which are less likely to have equitable access to the city’s changing 
transport infrastructure, as well as often disproportionately impacted by poor air quality.  

The journey towards EV mobility presents a unique opportunity for Oxford City Council to 
embed social inclusivity ideals into its transport planning practice, empowering 
disadvantaged communities, while also reducing the negative impact of vehicle emissions on 
overall public health and wellbeing.  

The Council is committed to ensuring that any future deployment of infrastructure is done in a 
fair and just manner and does not disadvantage any communities or residents. This will be 
achieved through a unique approach to identifying the areas that require infrastructure, 
moving away from high car ownership & income-dependent model to a fairer zoned property 
& population-based approach. 

While the Council is limited in its capacity to assist low-income households in the purchase of 
EVs, it will direct investment towards the growth of electric car clubs and community car 
sharing schemes.  

This may require pursuing infrastructure projects in locations that are not the most 
commercially viable, so that the priority can be on extending the benefits of the lower 
operational costs of driving electric to lower income families who are more likely to park on-
street or in shared parking areas.35  

                                                        

34 Connecting Oxford (2022) Workplace Parking Levy  

35 Transport Studies Unit, University of Oxford (2.2022) Preferences for Public Electric  

“Change is inevitable but it’s down to cost for both at home and employer.” 

90

https://www.connectingoxford.co.uk/workplace-parking-levy/
https://www.tsu.ox.ac.uk/pubs/final_PB2_ParknCharge-Feb2022.pdf


 

Urban Foresight 

Accessibility & Equity  
Across the EV industry, accessibility standards are historically underdeveloped. To date, work 

on inclusive design of EV equipment or infrastructure has been limited to individual projects 

and councils (e.g. Oxford City Council’s accessibility work in the GULO project).  

In the summer of 2022, the UK Government, with BSI and Motability, hopes to release a set of 

industry standards to improve overall accessibility. Appendix II shows the various areas to be 

considered as part of future deployments. 

The challenge is to ensure that EV charging not only meets the needs of a wide range of people 

and does not intentionally discriminate against communities—whether that’s on the grounds 

of gender, race, disability, age, or socio economics etc.—but also upholds the potential health, 

wellbeing, and economic benefits that cleaner air and improved access to flexible modes of 

affordable transport can bring to communities.  

Aligning EV infrastructure with existing community interventions and multi-modal travel 
opportunities as part of a strategic plan that links economic, social, health & wellbeing and 
cultural opportunities will amplify the positive impact of investment in our communities.  

EV-related project’s accessibility and equity measures will be managed through contracts and 
legal agreements between Oxford City Council and commercial stakeholders with an audit 
process put in place. 

 

 

  

“The majority of the population need public EV chargers to make EVs really 

viable. So, we need a programme for universal EV charging provision.” 

91



 

Urban Foresight 

People Policy Objectives 
People Policies 

Policy Statement & Area Action 

Ensure the city of Oxford 
benefits from new 

commercial opportunities in 
the EV space   

EV Infrastructure will meet the needs of delivery and logistic based services 
using Oxford 

Actively consider reserved Park & Ride parking for working drivers operating 
EV delivery vehicles   

Implementation of EV charging at all Park & Rides for commuters/visitors by 
day and residents / fleet drivers by night to maximise utilisation  

Look to maximise the business case for EV charge points by exploring, rental, 
concessions, overstay charges and advertising 

Continue to make use of the 
Go Ultra Low Oxford brand, 

to help marketing & 
research 

  

Develop a network of EV champions within the city that represent the public 
and commercial organisations 

Annual report of demographic usage of EV chargers carried out by Oxford City 
Council   

Deliver a programme of promotional activities to promote the uptake of EVs 
across the city building on GULO campaign 

Use funding generated for Oxford City and Oxfordshire County, through the ZEZ, 
to fund the operation and maintenance of the EV estate and to help businesses 
and residents in the Zero Emission Zone transition to EVs   

Continue to promote Oxford 
City as an exemplar city and 
support other authorities in 

their transition 

 

Pursue funded opportunities to offer services and expertise to other 
organisations 

Build relationships with future partners and identify upcoming funding to test 
new products in the city 

Provide a fully accessible 
transport network which 

meets the needs of all users 

 

Designated accessible bays at every charging hub  

Creation of an Accessibility Audit document to be completed by developers at 
each new EV site 

Pursue an appropriate programme to electrify disabled bays in the City 

Develop relationships with 
all local stakeholders and 
partners to deliver a city-

wide approach 

 

Provide a joined-up solution by introducing a specific EV working group sprint 
via ZCOP, which looks, and is accessed in, consistent ways across the city  

Create city EV working group to identify shared assets and opportunities 

Ensure Oxford City 
maximises the 

environmental and health 
benefits that electric 

vehicles offer 

 

Provide and manage a conduit for resident requests for the siting of new charge 
points  

Measure impact of EV transition on air quality in city  

92



 

Urban Foresight 

Financial Opportunity  
The transition to electric vehicles along with the delivery of a completely new refuelling 

infrastructure offers the opportunity for cities to play a part in the deployment and generate 

revenue. 

There are a number of options open to hosts of charge points to generate future revenue 

streams and these include: 

 

Tariffs (Concession) – Generating revenue through the tariffs charged to users either directly 

or as part of a concession agreement with private companies. 

Landlord – This is where the parking space or land is leased or rented to a CPO. 

Overstay Charges – Where penalty charges are automatically passed on to customers 

exceeding time allowed. 

Advertising – Selling advertising on screens or charge points or through a naming agreement 

 

Furthermore, Oxford is in a unique position with the introduction of the first UK ZEZ to 

leverage early carbon reduction initiatives such as this to provide some of the funding for EV 

charging infrastructure. Other near-future incentives such as Workplace Charging and 

Polluter Pays models would increase opportunities for further funding. 

 

The level of return for any organisation is linked to the level of initial investment and the 

ability to generate the required levels of utilisation and the correct levels of tariff. Oxford City 

Council will continue to seek out the most financially attractive partnerships such as securing 

additional investment from the private sector, through grant bids, as well as opening up 

opportunities for ODS/ODSTL to deliver services in this space to  expand the network in the 

city.  

 

Having the OxEVIS Strategy in place offers the best chance of maximising returns.  

 

  

93



 

Urban Foresight 

Summary  
As detailed in the Government’s new EV Infrastructure Strategy, the UK needs a 10-fold 

increase in charging infrastructure in the coming years. Local authorities are vital to making 

this a reality.  

The transition to EVs as part of a wider switch to cleaner, healthier travel behaviours not only 

offers the city the opportunity to ensure an accessible and equitable transition but can also 

create opportunities for Oxford to identify additional revenue opportunities.  

 
 
A flourishing EV infrastructure is essential to Oxford's contribution to national targets on 
carbon reduction, furthering our reputation as a leader in innovation. This is the beginning of 
an exciting journey towards a greener Oxford.  

“We all need to do more to protect our planet and reduce carbon use and pollution 

through the life cycle. Electric vehicles have a big part to play here, but not the 

only part.” 

 

94



Appendix I 
Executive Summary of City-Wide Policy Statements 

      

1. Oversee the deployment of 
a network that meets 
current and future demand 
in the city 

2. Set the minimum 
standards required for any 
new deployment within 
the city 

3. Ensure planning policies 
reflect the changing needs 
of EV infrastructure 

4. Develop relationships with 
all local stakeholders and 
partners to deliver a city-
wide approach 
 

1. Ensure that the future 
network meets the 
needs of all 

2. Provide a fully 
accessible transport 
network which meets 
the needs of all users 

3. Facilitate a fair and 
accessible EV 
infrastructure for 
Oxford City 

1. Continue to 
promote Oxford 
City as a test bed 
innovative mobility 
technologies 
 

1. Create a dedicated EV 
team to oversee the 
implementation of this 
strategy  

2. Promote shared 
electric mobility 
schemes as a priority 
in Oxford’s travel 
hierarchy  

3. Lead by example 
through the 
decarbonisation of 
transport in the city 

4. Deliver a zero-
emission fleet of taxi 
and private hire 
vehicles 

5. Support working 
drivers to transition to 
electric vehicles 

6. Continue to make use 
of the Go Ultra Low 
Oxford brand, to help 
marketing & research 

1. Continue to seek 
funding 
opportunities 
that support this 
EV strategy 

2. Ensure the city of 
Oxford benefits 
from new 
commercial 
opportunities in 
the EV space 

1. Ensure EV infrastructure 
supports the wider 
transport goals within the 
city 

2. Continue to promote 
Oxford City as an exemplar 
city and support other 
authorities in their 
transition 

3. Ensure Oxford City 
maximises the 
environmental and health 
benefits that electric 
vehicles offer 

 

 

  

95



40 Urban Foresight 

Executive Summary of City-Wide Policy Actions 

      
1. The Council will endeavour to ensure all 

new charge points support 
interoperability, meet standards set in PAS 
standards, Gov EV Strategy and network 
availability standards, and that new 
contracts have an element of social 
inclusion 

2. Collaborate to define minimum charging 
infrastructure provision to be provided in 
new and redeveloped or materially 
changed developments, where not defined 
at a national level.  

3. Create city EV working group to identify 
shared assets and opportunities and work 
with the private sector to monitor 
progress each year 

4. Updating of  the Technical Advice Note 
(TAN)  to support delivery of EV solutions 
in a heritage context 

5. Work with large organisations in the city 
to understand requirements to transition 
fleets to EVs at scale 

6. Alongside the completion of the Energy 
Superhub in Oxford in 2023 and 100 on-
street chargers by 2026, we will actively 
consider implementing EV charging at all 
Park & Rides for commuters by day and 
workplace drivers by night. Additionally, 
we will continue the GUL-e trial for mass 
home charger installation and monitor the 
EV uptake and charger deployment on an 
annual basis 
 

1. We will continue to test new 
technologies in the city that 
support the transition to EVs 
especially utilising Smart charge 
points and local energy projects 
and look to partner and test new 
innovative products that support 
the accessibility of charging 

2. Ensure electric car clubs are 
deployed at all new and 
significant charging 
developments.  

3. Proportion of car club 
membership tariffs will be spent 
on marketing for the expansion 
of car club networks. 
Additionally, facilitate 
relationships between car club 
operators and charge point 
operators to ensure a seamless 
experience and develop a 
monitoring framework to build 
evidence base for impact of car 
clubs 

4. All new contracts will have 
element of social inclusion, e.g. 
80/20 split of infrastructure 
(80% commercial and 20% 
fairness) 

5. Provide designated Blue Badge 
EV parking spaces at every 
charging hub, create an 
Accessibility Audit document to 
be completed by developers at 
each new EV site, and prioritise 
the needs of users with 
mobility/accessibility 
impairments 

1. Continue to create 
relationships with 
innovative 
suppliers, local 
partners, and large 
organisations. 

2. We will identify 
projects for future 
funding bids, 
especially smart 
charge point 
technologies and 
local energy 
projects 

 

1. We will set up an EV team and 
identify funding sources to support 
the EV team’s delivery.  

2. We will review this Strategy at set 
time intervals 2026, 2030, 2035, 
2040 and refresh 

3. Support ODS in the reduction of 
carbon emissions from their fleet to 
help meet net zero 2030 targets 

4. Monitor the transition of taxis and 
private hires on an annual basis with 
targets for all Oxford-licensed 
Hackney Carriages (black cabs) to be 
zero emission by 2025 and private 
hire vehicles to be zero emission by 
2030. Additionally, we will work with 
all partners to ensure procurement 
policies promote zero emission taxis 
and private hire vehicles 

5. Adapt all charge points to meet the 
needs of working drivers, including 
for size and access 

6. Develop a network of EV champions 
within the city that represent the 
public and commercial organisations. 
Deliver a programme of promotional 
activities to promote the uptake of 
EVs across the city.  

7. An annual report of demographic 
usage of EV chargers carried out by 
Oxford City Council and use funding 
generated through the ZEZ to help 
businesses and residents in the zone 
transition to EVs 

1. Identify key 
funding pots to 
support the 
deployment of 
infrastructure 

2. Identify key 
assets within 
Oxford that can 
support future 
funding bids e.g., 
car parks, 
community 
buildings, 
lockups, etc. 

1. We will put in place 
requirements for all 
new charging hubs to 
consider an electric 
shared car club vehicle 
and links to active and 
public transport 

2. We will build our 
relationships with 
future partners and 
identify upcoming 
funding to test new 
products in the city as 
well as offering services 
and expertise to other 
authorities in UK 
beginning EV journey 
and encouraging the 
implementation of 
more Zero Emission 
Zones. 

3. Any areas of the City 
Council planning EV 
infrastructure 
development to ensure 
they have consulted 
with colleagues 
involved in transport 
planning, Net Zero 
targets and wider EV 
infrastructure planning 

 

 

96



41 Urban Foresight 

Executive Summary of Regional Policy Statements 

      
1. The councils will aim for 

deployment of public EV charge 
points in Oxfordshire that goes 
towards meeting predicted 
demand by 2025 in line with 
national targets and with 
reference to European Directives 

2. The councils will seek to include 
statements and policies 
supportive of EV charging 
infrastructure and, where 
appropriate, references to the 
Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure Strategy in their 
planning standards and guidance  

3. The councils will benchmark 
nationally, and between 
themselves, each seeking to set 
minimum standards for the 
quantity of EV charging to be 
provided in development in their 
planning requirements 

4. The councils will seek to improve 
the availability of rapid and ultra-
rapid EV charging on and near the 
strategic road network and 
important link roads across 
Oxfordshire 

1. Recognising that lack of off-road 
parking may be a significant barrier 
to EV take-up, Oxfordshire County 
Council will promote a hierarchy of 
solutions to EV charging for 
residents, businesses, and shared 
vehicles without access to off-road 
parking, which prioritises off-street 
charging hubs, and other solution 
which avoid generating additional 
street clutter or surrounding 
maintenance and management 
challenges 

2. To manage the impact of EV charger 
without restricting access to EV 
charging, the Councils will define 
and communicate the design 
features of EV chargers which will 
have the most positive impact on 
the character of our cities towns and 
villages, and ensure that where 
there are specific heritage 
conservation needs, these are met 
by the charging equipment deployed 

3. The councils will encourage the 
deployment of a high quality, 
reliable, open, value for money, 
future-proofed and truly instant 
access EV charging network for 
Oxfordshire by setting high 
standards which seek to reach 
‘above and beyond’ minimum legal 
requirements 

1. The councils will seek 
to increase the 
emissions reduction 
benefits of electric 
vehicles, and mitigate 
the impact of EV 
charging 
infrastructure on the 
local and national grid 
by encouraging and 
promoting the use of 
renewable energy for 
EV charging, 
encourage ‘off-peak’ 
use of EV chargers, 
and exploring 
technical options to 
manage grid demand 
from EV charging 
infrastructure  

1. The councils will aspire to reach or 
exceed a target of converting 7.5% of 
local authority managed public car 
park spaces, to fast or rapid EV 
charging by 2025 

2. The councils will manage parking bays 
for EV charging in local authority car 
parks to encourage both destination 
and overnight EV charging and for all 
types of EV ownership, including 
private vehicles, shared or car club 
vehicles, and business vehicles where 
appropriate 

3. The councils will support staff and 
visitors to access electric vehicle 
charging at Council premises where 
appropriate 

4. The councils will seek opportunities to 
encourage organisations, businesses 
and other owners of commercial public 
and customer car parks to deploy 
public EV charging infrastructure 
where it is appropriate 

5. The councils will explore opportunities 
to encourage owners and managers of 
housing stock of all types of tenure to 
deploy EV charging infrastructure for 
residents where it is appropriate 

6. The councils will explore opportunities 
to encourage uptake of EV charging at 
workplaces and business premises 
where it is appropriate 

1. The councils will 
collaborate to seek 
funding for EV 
infrastructure and 
support the 
development of a 
self-sustaining EV 
charging network 
for Oxfordshire 
which relies less 
heavily on 
continuing public 
finance support in 
the future and 
minimises the 
impact on existing 
and future council 
budgets 

1. The councils will 
seek to provide 
support and 
guidance on EV 
charging provision 
to Town and 
Parish Councils, 
and other groups 
writing 
Neighbourhood 
Plans 

2. The councils will 
promote 
information about 
public EV charging 
in Oxfordshire, 
and awareness of 
the benefits of EVs 
to the public 
through their 
online and other 
communications 
channels 

Regional Policy actions can be found here. 

 

97

https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/(S(0qslfpunjtwzla330vllet55))/documents/s55283/CA_MAR1621R11%20Annex%203%20-%20DRAFT%20Oxfordshire%20Electric%20Vehicle%20Infrastructure%20Strategy%2020210225.pdf


42 Urban Foresight 

Appendix II 
 

 

98



2 Legislation

National planning and other 
legislation is not updated to 
support equitable roll out of 
EV charging infrastructure Threat

Government needs to change national 
planning policy to enable permitted 
development for home charger and larger 
hub installations

Slow adoption in areas where 
local planning decisions cannot  
mitigate national Planning policy 
guidelines

03/05/22
Adrian Arnold 0 3 4 12

National Planning Policy changes expected Summer 2023 which 
should reduce the impact of current legislation constraining 
deployment

Working closely with planning to address city 
challenges regarding heritage areas. Inputting into 
government consultations regarding planning

30/09/22

Green 3 3 9

3 Finance
Level of investment by the 
Council too prohibitive. Threat

EV uptake is currently low, so there is 
currently more risk around any business 
cases. 

Deployment skewed to areas 
which will quickly support a 
commercial business case.

03/05/22
Nigel Kennedy 0 4 4 16

Implementation plan will set out a holistic and balanced approach to 
procurement of infrastructure. Funding to cross subsidise and provide 
a fair and equitable roll out will be sought from government grants as 
well as low carbon incentives such as ZEZ and workplace charging.

Business cases for procurement of EV infrastructure 
will be authorised by Council governance processes. 

30/09/22

Green 3 3 9

4 Political
Lack of public support for 
charging Threat

EV take up 2% in the city. Parking already 
very constrained so likely push back on 
allocation of bays for charging

Political and administrative 
workload to manage lack of public 
support

03/05/22
Mish Tullar 0 3 4 12

Initiatives such as ZEZ, LTNs, workplace charging, Cowley branch line 
will all nudge public to reduce car use

Demand tracker and inbound emails from public and 
Councillors suggest high demand/desire for charging.

30/09/22
Green 2 3 6

5 Resource

Insufficient internal resource 
across relevant departments 
to implement Strategy Threat

Resources already stretched to meet 
current portfolio of work. 

Conflicting priorities resulting in 
delays. Work can only commence 
when resource available.

03/05/22
Mish Tullar 0 4 4 16

EV charging is a key driver of the corporate strategic objective to 
pursue a net zero Oxford. 

Close working with key departments is already taking 
place, use of data to help inform decisions already 
underway. 

31/07/22

Green 3 3 9

6
Economic - DNO  
network connections

DNO network connections 
too prohibitive for chosen 
sites Threat

Energy capacity in the city very patchy, 
access to data at ward/ street level patchy

Reduction of hubs/ solutions 
delivered by the project.

03/05/22
Mish Tullar 0 3 2 6

Back up solutions will be identified in the event of a site failing due to 
lack of capacity

This is a known problem, we are already working with 
DNO/LEO and in talks regarding the use their trial 
connection mapping tool to support location 
identification.

15/06/22

Green 3 2 6

7
Economic - income 
loss

Loss of parking income in 
EV hubs Threat

Parking charges may need to be waived in 
some cases (rapid charging) Loss of revenue to the Council. 

16/05/22
Jane Winfield 0 3 4 12

Parking Fees for charging will align with existing car parking charges, 
unless an alternative arrangement is agreed within the Council.                                                                                     
Where there is a loss of parking revenue, contracts will be formulated 
so that Bay rental payments seek to  offset loss of parking fees.  

Negotiate terms for chargepoint contracts in 
collaboration with Car parks and Property Services. 

TBD

Green 2 2 4

8 Health & Safety
Electrical solutions to be 
installed Threat risk to personnel and public Injury 16/05/22 Mish Tullar 0 2 4 8

the EV team are well versed in CDM practices and all PMs have CDM 
certification 

All contracts will used CDM practices, quality plans and 
pre- and post- install checklists 26/09/22 Green 2 2 4

9
Land availability for EV 
Charging

Finding Council owned land 
for EV infrastructure can be 
hard with so many 
competing Council 
requirements. Opportunity

Under current land value assessment 
criteria, the EV charging business case 
does currently not provide the same 
financial return as housing development.  
This is because value assessment based 
on monetary value only. Social value 
criteria is not defined or weighted. Also to 
date there has not been sufficient resource 
in Property Services to assess Council 
owned land for future sustainable 
development purposes.. 

Few council owned land locations 
available for EV charging which 
hampers deployment.

03/05/22

Tom 
Bridgman 0 4 4 16

Close working with property, housing and re-gen. Maximise current 
and already approved development opportunities to add in EV 
provision. Use data layers created in OxEVIS and LEO projects to 
inform location selection and business plans

Agreed to conduct an internal workshop across 
property, legal, planning and environmental teams to ID 
possible land for EV and carbon reduction deployment. 

31/07/22

Green 3 3 9

10 Legal

Legal input required to 
create land leases and 
supporting agreements for 
commercial use of Council 
land as well as template 
leases for private landlords. Opportunity

Concession contracts with suppliers will 
require land agreements for some 
locations. Amends to current developments 
may be required if EV charging not 
considered.

Legal input will be required at 
each procurement campaign. 
Without it agreements will be 
delayed and opportunities missed.

03/05/22

Susan Sale 0 3 3 9

Legal agreements from the DPS, Park and Charge and Oxford Super 
Hub will be re-purposed if suitable. A template lease for private 
landlords will reduce legal burden and offer potential income 
opportunity for the Council.

Discussions already under way and legal sighted on 
high level plans.

31/10/22

Green 2 2 4

Gross Risk Score

Current Risk Score

Target Risk Score

Controls (to reduce Probability of Risk)

Risk level if existing key controls and mitigations were not in place or not effective.

This is the risk score after mitigating actions have taken place. The target risk score shows how effective your action plans are at managing the risk.

Target Risk

P I Score

Current Risk

P I Score P I Score

EV Infrastructure Strategy

This is the risk score at the time that the risk is reviewed. When the risk is first identified it will be the same as the gross risk score.  The current risk score is tracked to ensure that progress is being made to manage the risk and reduce the Council’s exposure.

Control Description Date Due Status Progress Action Owner

Appendix 2 - Risk Register

EV Infrastructure Strategy

Risk Date                               
Raised Owner

Gross Risk 

Notes

Ref Title Risk Description Opp / 
Threat Cause Impact

Mitigating Actions                                                                (to reduce 
Impact of Risk)

Comments

99



Description Likelihood of Occurrence Probability of Occurrence Probability

Scale Almost certain Monthly The event is expected to 
occur or occurs regularly

Almost Certain 5 5 10 15 20 25

1 Likely Annually The event will probably occur Likely 4 4 8 12 16 20

2 Possible 1 in 2 years The event should occur Possible 3 3 6 9 12 15

3 Unlikely 1 in 3 years The event could occur Unlikely 2 2 4 6 8 10

4 Rare 1 in 10 years The event may occur in 
certain circumstances

Rare 1 1 2 3 4 5

5 1 2 3 4 5

Impact Insignificant Minor Moderate Major Severe

Financial <£50k per annum £50k - £250k per annum £250k - £500k per 
annum

£500k - £750k per 
annum >£750k per annum

Service Delivery
No impact to service 

quality, limited disruption 
to operations

Minor impact to service 
quality, minor service 

standards are not met, 
short term disruption to 

operations, minor impact 
on a partnership

Significant fall in service 
quality, major 

partnerships strained, 
serious disruption in 
service standards

Major impact to service 
quality, multiple service 
standards are not met, 
long term disruption to 

operations, multiple 
partnerships affected

Catastrophic fall in 
service quality and key 

service standards are not 
met, long term 

catastrophic interruption 
to operations, several 

major partnerships are 
affected

Reputation

Public concern restricted 
to local complaints which 
do not attract local media 

attention

Minor adverse local / 
public / media attention 

and complaints

Adverse national media 
public attention

Serious negative national 
or regional criticism

Prolonged, regional and 
national condemnation

Compliance and 
Regulation

Minor breach of internal 
regulations, not 

reportable

Minor breach of external 
regulations, not 

reportable

Breach of internal 
regulations leading to 

disciplinary action. 
Breach of external 

regulations, reportable

Significant breach of 
external regulations 

leading to intervention or 
sanctions

Major breach leading to 
suspension or 

discontinuation of 
business and services

Strategic Little impact on the 
organisational strategy

May have an impact on 
achieving organisational 

strategy

Would impact on the 
organisational objectives

Would require a 
significant shift from 
current strategy and 

objectives

Would require a 
fundamental change in 
strategy and objectives

100



HR&F3028   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14     Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 1 of 5 

Form to be used for the Full Equalities Impact Assessment 

Service 
Area: 

Environmental 
Sustainability 

Section: Date of Initial 
assessment:1
17-05-2022

Key Person responsible for 
assessment:  
Kristina Mould 

Date assessment commenced: 

27-05-22

Name of Policy to be assessed: The Electric Vehicle (EV) Infrastructure Strategy 

1. In what area are there concerns
that the policy could have a
differential impact

Race Disability 
This would be a positive 

impact 

Age 

Gender reassignment Religion or  Belief Sexual Orientation 

Sex Pregnancy and Maternity Marriage & Civil Partnership 

Other strategic/ equalities 
considerations 

Safeguarding/ Welfare of 
Children and vulnerable 

adults 

Mental Wellbeing/ 
Community Resilience 

2. Background:

Give the background information to 
the policy and the perceived 
problems with the policy which are 

The Oxford Electric Vehicle (EV) Infrastructure Strategy (OxEVIS) seeks to address equitability and 
accessibility of EV charging in the city by introducing policies to promote fair and proportionate 
deployment of on-street, hub and other charging solutions. The strategy addresses this in 3 key 
areas; vehicles, infrastructure and people. 

Appendix 3

101



HR&F3028   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14           Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 2 of 5 

the reason for the Impact 
Assessment. 
 

The first project stemming from this strategy (using the Government’s Local EV Infrastructure fund) 
seeks to address accessibility as part of the first tranche of charger deployments into the City under 
this scheme. 

3. Methodology and Sources of 
Data: 
 
The methods used to collect data and 
what sources of data 
 

Wide stakeholder engagement was sought which included OCC’s Inclusive transport group, 
Motability consultants and a number of accessibility focussed suppliers. 
 
 
OxEVIS will go out for external consultation in June 2022 prior to presentation at Cabinet on 15th 
July 2022.  

4. Consultation 
 
This section should outline all the 
consultation that has taken place on 
the EIA. It should include the 
following.  
• Why you carried out the 

consultation. 
• Details about how you went 
about it.  
• A summary of the replies you 

received from people you 
consulted. 

• An assessment of your 
proposed policy (or policy 
options) in the light of the 
responses you received. 

• A statement of what you plan 
to do next 

An online survey was created as part of the OxEVIS to inform future EV infrastructure proposals. 
The survey was open to all members of the public and focussed towards those who live or work in 
Oxford. The aim of the survey was to gain a better understanding of the need for EV infrastructure, 
the type of infrastructure needed and the role the council should play in fulfilling these needs. This 
spanned the breadth of infrastructure requirements including questions around accessibility and 
disabilities. 
 
Of the 500+ respondents, 11% stated they had mobility challenges with a further 3% who preferred 
not to say. Of these 86% said they owned at least 1 vehicle, 68% of whom don’t have access to a 
drive or garage next to their home and nearly 50% of those couldn’t always park outside their house. 
This highlights the need for accessible on-road and off-street parking within Oxford. 
 
Additionally there is significant public support for accessibility needs to be consider; 19.4% of all 
respondents felt the Council should prioritise those with mobility needs when using public funding for 
charging solutions. 65% felt the Council should deliver a range of charging infrastructure solutions 
that are accessible and equitable for all. 
 
This information has been fed into the strategy and will feed into the criteria selection undertaking 
when considering location of chargers when long listing. 
 
The strategy will go out for external consultation in June 2022 prior to presentation at Cabinet on 15th 
July 2022. 

102



HR&F3028   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14           Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 3 of 5 

5. Assessment of Impact: 
Provide details of the assessment of 
the policy on the six primary equality 
strands. There may have been other 
groups or individuals that you 
considered. Please also consider 
whether the policy, strategy or 
spending decisions could have an 
impact on safeguarding and / or the 
welfare of children and vulnerable 
adults 
 

 
 

Race Disability Age 

postive positive positive 

Gender reassignment Religion or  Belief Sexual Orientation 

Neutral Neutral Neutral 

Sex Pregnancy and Maternity Marriage & Civil Partnership 

positive positive Neutral 

 
Improving accessibility, as well as equitability, of EV charging infrastructure are key drivers for 
OxEVIS, with innovations such as moving charge-points from pavements onto the road, providing 
accessible charging units and electrifying disabled parking bays considered as priority.  
 
Improving equitability of charging provision was also a significant factor, ensuring provision for those 
in disadvantaged areas, in particular working drivers which includes private hire, taxi, care workers 
and delivery drivers. Ethnic minority groups make up a significant proportion of these drivers. 
Disadvantaged areas are often not well served by the market currently, which largely targets the most 
affluent due to high EV uptake trends. Improving infrastructure provision in disadvantaged areas may 
also protect ethnic minorities, which are more likely to live in such areas. 
 
Other vulnerable groups considered were those with particular safely concerns, in particular at night 
time: (female drivers, lone or vulnerable drivers, people with children /less mobile dependents in the 
car). Needs of carers with young children were considered in the context of rapid charging hub design.  
The strategy requires these factors to be assessed in locations feasibility, funding structure and site 
design.  
 

103



HR&F3028   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14           Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 4 of 5 

6. Consideration of Measures: 
 
This section should explain in detail 
all the consideration of alternative 
approaches/mitigation of adverse 
impact of the policy 
 

 
 
 
We do not currently anticipate negative impacts from the policy, which is designed to minimise the 
risk that those at risk from a purely commercially led EV transition are left behind. But the monitoring 
arrangements set out below will act to reduce risk from unintended policy impacts.  

6a. Monitoring Arrangements: 
 
Outline systems which will be put in 
place to monitor for adverse impact in 
the future and this should include all 
relevant timetables. In addition it 
could include a summary and 
assessment of your monitoring, 
making clear whether you found any 
evidence of discrimination.  

  
As part of the strategy we have defined city “zones” (based on ward boundaries) that will be 
monitored annually.  
All of our CPNOs are and will be required to share utilisation and location data as a core requirement 
built into our procurement framework (DPS), and we will use these data sets to monitor take up 
across city zones. In addition we are working with the LEAP tool team (part of the LEO project) to 
ensure all required data packages are available to review , including demographic data, data on 
working drivers, energy constraints etc. This will allow us to monitor provision, and identify any 
inequities at annual reviews.  
We will also seek nuanced reviews with Charge Point Operators to understand the demographic of 
end users.  
 
Furthermore, the four factors outlined in the BSI accessible EV charging provision consultation will 
be considered in each step of the planning and installation of charge point infrastructure. This will 
include consulting with suppliers and outlining the aforementioned factors. In fact, we have already 
held meetings with DUKU, a start-up launching accessible charge points, designed with Motability, to 
explore electrification of disabled parking bays in the city. DUKU have been invited to apply to the 
DPS (pending compliance checks). 

7. Date reported and signed off by 
City Executive Board:  

 

8. Conclusions: 
 

 

104



HR&F3028   Version: v1.0    Dated: 08/08/14           Authorised by: Jarlath Brine Page 5 of 5 

What are your conclusions drawn 
from the results in terms of the policy 
impact 

9. Are there implications 
for the Service Plans?  

YES/NO 
10. Date the Service 
Plans will be updated 

 

11. Date copy sent 
to Equalities Lead 
Officer  
 

 

.13. Date reported to 
Scrutiny and Executive 
Board: 

 
14. Date reported to City 
Executive Board: 

 
12. The date the 
report on EqIA will 
be published 

 

 
Signed (completing officer)        Signed (Lead Officer) 
 

Please list the team members and service areas that were involved in this process: 
 
Equalities Lead Officer 
Service Manager 
Lindsey Cane, Legal Services Manager 
 

 

 

 

105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page | 1 

Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle 

Infrastructure Strategy 

Executive summary .................................................................................................... 2 

2. Introduction and context ................................................................................... 5 

3. EV charging background ................................................................................ 10 

4. This is Oxfordshire ......................................................................................... 12 

5. Where are chargers needed first? .................................................................. 17 

6. Quantity of EV charging .................................................................................. 20 

7. Delivering EV charging ................................................................................... 24 

8. Using the planning system ............................................................................. 31 

9. Influencing others ........................................................................................... 37 

10. Securing open, accessible and reliable EV charging ...................................... 44 

11. Powering EV charging for the future: Managing energy impacts .................... 47 

12. Promoting EVs and infrastructure ................................................................... 50 

13. Annex 1: Stakeholders ................................................................................... 52 

14. Annex 2:  Evaluation of charging options for residents without private off-road

parking ..................................................................................................................... 53 

15. Annex 3: EV charging standards .................................................................... 55 

16. Annex 4: Geospatial Analysis ......................................................................... 71 

Appendix 4

107



Page | 2  

Executive summary 

All six of Oxfordshire’s councils have declared climate emergencies. Supporting a 

transition to zero emission road transport is a key component in Oxfordshire’s 

councils achieving their net zero carbon targets, and this has been reinforced by 

Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Councils’ commitment to delivering the 

UK’s first ZEZ in Oxford to reduce air pollution levels, tackle the climate emergency, 

and improve the health of residents, workers and visitors in Oxford and beyond.  

Comprehensive, accessible and efficient charging infrastructure is essential in 

enabling the rapid adoption of electric vehicles, accelerated by the 2030 date for the 

end of petrol and diesel car sales in the UK.  

In keeping with Oxfordshire’s status as a centre of innovation, the Councils are at the 

forefront of delivering new solutions and sustainable models for EV charging across 

the county. Drawing on partnerships with Oxford’s academic institutions and 

technology firms Oxfordshire is delivering projects at the cutting edge of zero 

emissions mobilities. The Energy Superhub Oxford project will see large scale 

battery storage technology supporting a super-rapid EV charging hub in Oxford, 

while Local Energy Oxfordshire is exploring how local renewable energy generation 

can support decentralisation of the grid, and how EVs can play a part in new energy 

systems. Oxfordshire’s V2GO project has examined the potential for EV fleets to 

support the grid through acting as energy storage units, and the ongoing Go Ultra 

Low Oxford and Park and Charge projects are examining new technologies and 

models to support EV drivers without access to off-road parking and charging.  

This pipeline of projects across the county already is delivering up to 432 charging 

points by June 2022 in partnership with Government and the private sector. 

The Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy (OEVIS) sets out the policies 

and plans to realise our vision for EV charging in Oxfordshire, whereby: 

• Residents, businesses and visitors in Oxfordshire will be confident they can 

recharge EVs conveniently, and in a manner appropriate for their needs. 

• Oxfordshire’s EV charging provision will develop to meet the needs of users now 

and in the future, and in doing so support Oxfordshire’s transition to 

decarbonising transport and improving air quality. 

It has been a true collaborative piece of work between the County, City and District 

Councils and has been informed through the lessons learnt from the innovative EV 

charging projects already being delivered.  

The Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure strategy will put Oxfordshire’s 

councils in a strong position to ensure that those wishing to purchase an EV can 

access convenient charging; providing an operational approach to enabling and 

deploying charging infrastructure in Oxfordshire, and laying the foundations for future 

projects. 

108



Page | 3  

1.1. Policies at a glance 

Policy 

Targets for EV charging 

Policy EVI 1: The Councils will collaborate to enable and encourage deployment of 

public EV chargepoints in Oxfordshire towards meeting predicted demand by 2025 

in line with national targets and with reference to European directives. 

Funding public EV chargers 

Policy EVI 2: The Councils will collaborate to seek funding for EV infrastructure and 

support the development of a self-sustaining EV charging network for Oxfordshire 

which relies less heavily on continuing public finance support in the future and 

minimises the impact on existing and future Council budgets. 

Public Charging in local authority car parks 

Policy EVI 3: The Councils will aspire to reach or exceed a target of converting 

7.5% of local authority managed public car park spaces, to fast or rapid EV charging 

by 2025. 

Policy EVI 4: The Councils will manage parking bays for EV charging in local 

authority car parks to encourage both destination and overnight EV charging and for 

all types of EV ownership, including private vehicles, shared or car club vehicles, 

and business vehicles where appropriate 

Charging at Council sites 

Policy EVI 5:The Councils will support staff and visitors to access electric vehicle 

charging at Council premises where appropriate 

Charging without off-road parking 

Policy EVI 6: Recognising that lack of off-road parking may be a significant barrier 

to EV take-up, Oxfordshire County Council will promote a hierarchy of solutions to 

EV charging for residents, businesses and shared vehicles without access to off-

road parking, which prioritises off-street charging hubs, and other solutions which 

avoid generating additional street clutter or surrounding maintenance and 

management challenges. 

Charging in New Developments 

Policy EVI 7: The Councils will seek to include statements and policies supportive 

of EV charging infrastructure and, where appropriate, references to the Oxfordshire 

Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy in their planning standards and guidance 

Policy EVI 8: The Councils will benchmark nationally, and between themselves, 

each seeking to set minimum standards for the quantity of EV charging to be 

provided in developments in their planning requirements 

Policy EVI 9: The Councils will seek to provide support and guidance on EV 

charging provision to Town and Parish Councils, and other groups writing 

Neighbourhood Plans 

EV Charging in Historic Areas 

109



Page | 4  

Policy EVI 10: In order to manage the impact of EV chargers without restricting 

access to EV charging, the Councils will define and communicate the design 

features of EV chargers which will have the most positive impact on the character of 

our cities towns and villages, and ensure that where there are specific heritage 

conservation needs, these are met by the charging equipment deployed. 

Commercial car parks 

Policy EVI 11: The Councils will seek opportunities to encourage organisations, 

businesses and other owners of commercial public and customer car parks to 

deploy public EV charging infrastructure where it is appropriate 

Communal residential car parks 

Policy EVI 12: The Councils will explore opportunities to encourage owners and 

managers of housing stock of all types of tenure to deploy EV charging infrastructure 

for residents where it is appropriate 

Workplace Charging 

Policy EVI 13: The Councils will explore opportunities to encourage uptake of EV 

charging at workplaces and business premises where it is appropriate 

Rapid charging on strategic roads 

Policy EVI 14: The Councils will seek to improve the availability of rapid and ultra-

rapid EV charging on and near the strategic road network and important link roads 

across Oxfordshire 

Charging standards for Oxon 

Policy EVI 15: The Councils will encourage the deployment of a high quality, 

reliable, open, value for money, future-proofed and truly instant access EV charging 

network for Oxfordshire by setting high standards which seek to reach ‘above and 

beyond’ minimum legal requirements 

Managing Energy Impacts 

Policy EVI 16: The Councils will seek to increase the emissions reduction benefits 

of electric vehicles, and mitigate the impact of EV charging infrastructure on the local 

and national grid by encouraging and promoting the use of renewable energy for EV 

charging, encourage ‘off-peak’ use of EV chargers, and exploring technical options 

to manage grid demand from EV charging infrastructure. 

Promoting EVs & Infrastructure 

Policy EVI 17: The Councils will promote information about public EV charging in 

Oxfordshire, and awareness of the benefits of EVs to the public through their online 

and other communications channels 

 

  

110



Page | 5  

2. Introduction and context 

2.1. Introduction 

2.1.1. Fossil fuels are the principal source of carbon emissions driving the 

anthropogenic climate change that will create devastating impacts for our living 

world. Recognising the critical importance of keeping global warming to 1.5 

degrees C in line with the 2015 Paris Climate Agreement, all of Oxfordshire’s 

Councils have recognised the climate emergency. Supporting a transition to zero 

emission road transport is a key component in Oxfordshire’s Councils achieving 

their net zero carbon targets. Comprehensive, accessible and efficient charging 

infrastructure is essential in enabling the rapid adoption of electric vehicles. This 

strategy sets out the policies and plans to realise this goal. 

2.1.2. Oxfordshire is a place of real innovation – the county is home to Europe’s 

largest concentration of multi-million-pound science research facilities, 

underpinning our leading position in advanced engineering and manufacturing, 

energy systems, and vehicle and mobility technologies. Oxfordshire is also 

growing. The Oxfordshire Growth Board, through the emerging Joint Statutory 

Spatial Plan (JSSP), is planning for 100,000 new homes to be built in our county 

by 2031. An expected 86,500 new jobs are also being created. The Local 

Industrial Strategy for Oxfordshire sets out Oxfordshire’s ambitions to be a pioneer 

for clean and sustainable growth driven by our science and innovation.i 

2.1.3. Oxfordshire is home to the University of Oxford, the global number one 

ranked university and Oxford Brookes University, one of the UK’s leading modern 

universities. Oxford University’s School of Geography and the Environment and 

Department of Engineering Science host research centres with world-leading 

expertise in EV and battery production, energy and future mobilities systems. The 

Energy and Power Group are experts in the impact of EVs on the grid. The 

Transport Studies Unit (TSU) has expertise in understanding EV driving and 

charging patterns.  Oxford Brookes’ Sustainable Vehicle Engineering Centre is 

training next generation EV engineers, with strong links to the county’s 

motorsports and vehicle industries. 

2.1.4. Williams Advanced Engineering, based in Oxfordshire, create high-

performance batteries in the Formula E programme, at the cutting edge of battery 

performance and management. Oxford is home to the BMW mini plant, where the 

all-electric MINI is built for the UK and European market. The Faraday Institution 

on the Harwell Campus is the independent institute for electrochemical energy 

storage science, research and technology. The institute and Oxford University are 

leading projects which could revolutionise the way EV batteries are manufactured.  

2.1.5. Drawing on partnerships with Oxford’s academic institutions and technology 

firms Oxfordshire is delivering projects at the cutting edge of zero emissions 

mobilities, hosting world-firsts for battery storage for EV charging, and EV 

infrastructure delivery. The Energy Superhub Oxford project will see large scale 

111



Page | 6  

battery storage technology supporting a super-rapid EV charging hub in Oxford, 

while Local Energy Oxfordshire is exploring how local renewable energy 

generation can support decentralisation of the grid, and how EVs can play a part 

in new energy systems. Oxfordshire’s V2GO project examines the potential for EV 

fleets to support the grid through acting as energy storage units. The ongoing Go 

Ultra Low Oxford and Park and Charge projects are examining in depth the 

technologies available to support EV drivers without access to off-road parking 

and charging.  

2.1.6. Oxfordshire is also leading the country in policy making to reduce urban 

transport emissions; in the pipeline is the UK’s first Zero Emission Zone in Oxford 

from 2021, championed by Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council. 

2.1.7. The Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure strategy has been a true 

collaborative piece of work between the County, City and District Councils. It has 

taken the lessons learnt from all these, and other, innovative EV charging 

projects, to provide an operational approach to enabling and deploying charging 

infrastructure in Oxfordshire, and lay the foundations for future projects. 

2.2. What is the Oxfordshire EV Infrastructure Strategy about? 

2.2.1. Clean Growth is at the heart of the UK Industrial strategy, and the government 

sees growth in the EV industry as essential to the UK’s clean industrial future and 

National Infrastructure Strategyii. The Road to Zero strategy sets out the 

governments ambitions to end the sales of internal combustion engine (ICE) 

vehicles, which has recently been brought forward by 10 years to 2030, and its 

ambitions for a world-class EV charging network for the UK. 

Figure 1 - EV Charging in national policy 

The Road to Zero Strategy (2018) 

The Government’s Road to Zero Strategy outlines how the government will support the 

transition to zero emission road transport and reduce emissions from conventional vehicles 

during the transition. The document includes a target to end the sale of new conventional 

petrol and diesel vehicles by 2040. The UK government has since brought this date forward 

to 2030.  

A key part of the Road to Zero Strategy focusses on measures to support the development 

of world class EV charging infrastructure network through; 

• The Automated and Electric Vehicles Act (2018) which provide a legislative basis for 

provision of, and standards in EV charging infrastructure. 

• Ensuring that new developments are EV ready, and that all new homes, where 

appropriate, should have a charging point available, through changes to Buildings 

Regulations, and the now revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (revised 

February 2019) to support local authorities in writing local planning policies which 

incorporate facilities for charging EVs. 

112



Page | 7  

2.2.2. In this document we use the term EV to refer to all ‘plug-in’ vehicles including 

pure Battery Electric Vehicles (BEVs), Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles, and 

Extended Range Electric Vehicles (REEVs) as all require charging to travel using 

their zero emissions capabilities. 

2.2.3. Car use in Oxfordshire is high; over 4 billion miles were travelled by car or taxi 

in Oxfordshire in 2019iii. Road transport emissions contribute around 33% of 

carbon emissions nationallyiv  and generate significant issues for air quality; in 

2019, 68% of NOx emissions in Oxford were caused by road trafficv and 22 places 

in Oxfordshire found to be breaching air pollution limits. 

2.2.4. The current Connecting Oxfordshirevi Local Transport Plan 4 shapes our 

transport policy and sets out Oxfordshire County Council’s policy and strategy for 

developing the transport system in Oxfordshire to 2031. It has been developed 

with these over-arching transport goals:  

• To support jobs and housing growth and economic vitality; 

• To reduce transport emissions and meet our obligations to Government; 

• To protect, and where possible enhance Oxfordshire’s environment and 

improve quality of life;  

• To improve public health, air quality, safety and individual wellbeing.  

2.2.5. The Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy (OEVIS) has strong 

ties with the Oxfordshire Energy Strategyvii which seeks to integrate EVs into a 

smart and zero carbon energy infrastructure, and the Oxfordshire 2050 Plan to 

promote future-proofed development in the planned growth across Oxfordshire. 

The strategy also links closely with each of the collaborating Councils’ Climate 

Emergency declarations and net zero carbon targets, and Oxfordshire County 

Council’s Climate Action Framework, where it will act as a supporting strategy to 

facilitate delivery of recommended actions, and support the drive to meet local 

and national emissions reductions targets.  

2.2.6. The OEVIS has further strong links with the development of the emerging 

Connecting Oxfordshire Local Transport and Connectivity Plan, which sets out a 

vision for a net-zero Oxfordshire transport system that enables the county to thrive 

as one of the world’s leading innovation economies, whilst supporting clean 

growth, protecting our rich and varied natural and historic environment and being 

better for health and well-being, social inclusivity and education. This EV 

Infrastructure Strategy aims to compliment and support this vision, by reducing 

emissions from shared transport through promoting EV infrastructure for shared 

transport, and reducing emission from private road transport where active and 

public transport is not an option.  

2.2.7. Oxfordshire’s Councils have an opportunity to encourage uptake of EVs by 

working together to enable the development of a high quality EV charging 

network. The Oxfordshire EV Infrastructure Strategy draws on significant expertise 

113



Page | 8  

and experience across Oxfordshire to further enable reduction in transport 

emissions through enabling quality EV charging provision. 

2.2.8. Through our Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy, we identify: 

• The opportunities and challenges for the EV charging network in Oxfordshire 

• The likely uptake of EVs across Oxfordshire and the centres of demand for EV 

charging in Oxfordshire 

• How we will contribute to and accelerate local deployment of EV charging 

infrastructure to ensure high quality EV charging is accessible in our county 

• A framework of EV charging options for residents without access to private off-

road parking  

• Opportunities to work with landowners and businesses to further increase EV 

charging provision 

• Opportunities to further support the decarbonisation of road transport and 

manage the impact of EV charging on the grid. 

• How we will increase awareness of public EV charging infrastructure and 

promote uptake of EVs 

2.2.9. The strategy will inform our operational policies and processes, to ensure that 

EV charging is accessible and convenient in Oxfordshire. It will set a foundation 

for project development, establish a consistent approach to delivering and 

enabling EV charging across Oxfordshire, and support the developing EV market, 

and local businesses in the EV sector. 

2.3. Our vision and objectives 

2.3.1. Our vision for EV charging in Oxfordshire is: 

• Residents, businesses and visitors in Oxfordshire will be confident they can 

recharge EVs conveniently, and in a manner appropriate for their needs. 

• Oxfordshire’s EV charging provision will develop to meet the needs of users 

now and in the future, and in doing so support Oxfordshire’s transition to 

decarbonising transport and improving air quality. 

2.3.2. The OEVIS will provide an operational approach to enabling and deploying 

charging infrastructure in Oxfordshire. In the short-term (2020-2025), our 

objectives are to: 

• Enable and deliver public EV charging across Oxfordshire  

• Adopt a common approach to managing EV charging in Council car parks 

• Enable residents without access to private off-road parking to access a range 

of options for EV charging  

114



Page | 9  

• Encourage new developments to include high quality EV charging 

infrastructure  

• Set standards for the quality of public EV charging in Oxfordshire which 

supports development of a network which is high quality, open and accessible  

2.4. The development of the Oxfordshire EV Infrastructure Strategy 

2.4.1. This strategy has been developed collaboratively with significant subject 

matter expert input from each of Oxfordshire’s five District and City Councils, and 

a steering board of members from each. We have also engaged with external 

stakeholder groups including Parish and Town Councils and the EV charging 

industry. A full list of our steering group and workshop attendees can be found in 

Annex 1: Stakeholders. 

2.5. The scope of the Oxfordshire EV Infrastructure Strategy 

2.5.1. This strategy covers the administrative area of Oxfordshire County Council 

and includes the administrative areas of each of the five District Councils.  It 

focusses on EV charging for cars, car-based vans, and taxis (hackney carriage 

and private hire vehicles) for three user groups with differing needs for EV 

charging: 

• Oxfordshire residents 

• Local businesses, their employees, taxis, logistics operations and car clubs 

• Visitors to Oxfordshire 

2.5.2. The strategy does not cover EV charging for buses or large goods and service 

vehicles.  Large EVs such as buses and medium/large trucks are still in 

development, and charging requirements are currently uncertain. At the time of 

writing, Oxford’s expression of interest in becoming Britain’s first All-Electric Bus 

Town has been shortlisted by the Department for Transport and we anticipate that 

EV Bus charging infrastructure will be further developed as part of this project, if 

funded. As uptake of these vehicle types is likely to be low in the short term, they 

are not deemed a priority for this strategy. At this time charging for e-bikes and 

other micro-mobility solutions are not included in this strategy but like trucks and 

buses may form the basis for future consideration.  

2.6. Delivering the strategy  

2.6.1. This strategy includes many measures which will require dedicated 

resourcing, funding and the collaboration of external partners to complete delivery. 

Key actions for delivery are outlined under each policy. While budgets are 

constrained and future budgets are uncertain, especially in light of the Covid-19 

pandemic, and our targets and commitments must be considered aspirational, 

Oxfordshire’s Councils will use their best endeavours to deliver on the 

commitments made in this document, using existing project funding, future 

115



Page | 10  

Government funding opportunities and partnerships with the private sector which 

deliver an EV charging network for Oxfordshire with minimal impact on existing 

Council budgets.  

3. EV charging background 

3.1. Types of EV charging infrastructure 

3.1.1. EV charging infrastructure can be broadly split into 4 types: slow, fast, rapid 

and ultra-rapid, based on power output and speed of charging. Each have factors 

which make them suitable for different charging settings and use cases; home, 

workplace, on-street, destination and en-route. 

• Slow: up to 3kW AC – between 6-12 hours to fully charge a battery EV, less 

for a plug-in hybrid  

• Fast: 7 to 22kW AC power outputs, and typically fully charge a battery EV in 3-

4 hours. Frequently these are ‘smart’ chargers; able to communicate with a 

CPMS or back office to manage time and rate of chargingviii 

• Rapid: Typically, rapid AC chargers are rated at 43kW, while rapid DC are 

typically 50kW. Will typically charge a BEV to 80% in around 30-40 minutes.  

• Ultra-rapid: Superchargers and high-powered charging at 100-350kW DC are 

becoming increasingly relevant for battery EV drivers, though current EV 

models may be limited in the charging power they can accept. Will typically 

charge an EV to 80% in 15 to 25 minutes dependent on power output. 

3.1.2. Further details on types of EV charging and where they are most suitably 

deployed can be found in Annex 3: EV charging standards.  

Chargers and Chargepoints 

3.1.3. In this document we refer to an EV charging unit as an EV charger. EV 

chargers may have one or more sockets which allow connection to an EV to 

charge. These sockets are referred to in this document as EV chargepoints.  

3.2. Challenges and opportunities for EV charging 

3.2.1. In general, EVs and the charging infrastructure needed to support them 

present a series of challenges and opportunities to EV drivers and landowners. As 

local authorities, the County and District Councils can work together to support EV 

growth.  

3.2.2. Table 1 summarises factors which were considered in developing our county-

wide EV Infrastructure Strategy. 

  

116



Page | 11  

Table 1 - Opportunities and challenges for developing a public EV charging network 

General  

Opportunities Challenges 

• Encouraging drivers to switch from 

petrol/diesel to EV will benefit local air 

quality, and decarbonise transport as 

energy generation progresses from 

fossil fuels to renewable sources. 

• Demand for chargers in Oxfordshire is 

likely to be higher than other regions 

• Chargers may attract EV users to an 

area and stimulate nearby shops and 

the local economy 

• Increased EV usage will stimulate the 

EV technology sector in Oxfordshire. 

• Charge Point Operators (CPOs) offer 

concession contracts for chargers at 

little or no cost to local authorities and 

which may provide a revenue 

opportunity in the future. 

• District Councils own car parks 

located in urban centres close to both 

businesses and residential properties 

which have limited off road parking. 

• Available power capacity on the electricity 

network varies across the county and is 

limited in some areas. 

• Costs of upgrading the local electricity 

network for charging capacity are often 

high. 

• Some charger sites can be constrained by 

planning/heritage restrictions. 

• Access to working public EV charging is a 

key concern for EV drivers. 

• Instant access to EV charging networks 

often requires use of apps, roaming 

across charger networks is limited. 

• Owning and operating chargers generates 

costs for local authorities at a time when 

funding is constrained. 

• Management of EV charger contracts can 

be an additional resource burden for 

councils. 

• The business case for CPOs remains 

challenging whilst demand for EVs is still 

growing. 

On the Highway  

Opportunities Challenges 

• Oxfordshire County Council has 

control of highways land assets on 

major roads which could provide 

opportunities for rapid charging stops.  

• On-street charging infrastructure at 

appropriate locations may offer 

locations for users to charge where 

there is no off-road alternative. 

 

• Over 30% of households in Oxfordshire 

have limited or no access to home EV 

charging as they park on the street. 

• On-street chargers require space on the 

public highway. Some locations may 

present an obstruction to pedestrians. 

• Some operators are reluctant to offer 

concessions in on-street settings where 

usage is low, and cost of maintenance is 

high. 

• On-street parking bays are limited in 

certain areas. Reserving bays for EV 

users may increase pressure on parking 

and require resources for the traffic order.  

117



Page | 12  

4. This is Oxfordshire 

4.1. EV uptake in Oxfordshire 

4.1.1. To support the drive to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2050, the UK 

government has set out its ambitions to end the sale of new petrol and diesel cars 

by 2030, bringing the end date forward by 10 years from that proposed in the 

Road to Zero. 

4.1.2. At the end of August 2020, there were 4,381 ultra-low emissions vehicles 

(ULEVs)1 in Oxfordshireix, 2,200 of which were BEVs. Socio-economic factors 

mean Oxfordshire is likely to have faster growth in EV sales than the national 

average; research from the University of Oxford indicates that EV sales are likely 

to reach approximately 70% of new vehicle sales by 2025 (Figure 2). In absolute 

numbers, the university’s predictions mean that by 2025 by 2025 there could be 

over 25,000 EVs on Oxfordshire’s roads, and over 44,000 by 2027.  

 
Figure 2 - Predicted Growth of EVs as a percentage of new vehicle sales in 

Oxfordshire. Based on DfT vehicle licensing data from Q4 2011- Q3 2020x. Qualifications: Based 

on historic data; external influences & policy changes may affect growth. DfT has split the Ultra Low 

Emission Vehicle Data into Battery Electric Vehicles (BEV) and Plug-in hybrids (PHEV). As regulation 

now promotes BEV over PHEV, it was felt appropriate to use BEV data to forecast EV growth. 

 

1 ULEVs emit less than 75g of carbon dioxide (CO2) from the tailpipe per km travelled; typically refers to 

battery electric, plug-in hybrid electric and fuel cell EVs 

118



Page | 13  

4.2. Current EV charging provision 

4.2.1. Public EV charging infrastructure in Oxfordshire is currently limited and 

patchy, with most centred in urban areas and little provision in smaller market 

towns or more rural areas. While the network across the UK is growing rapidly, 

Oxfordshire is in danger of falling behind in infrastructure provision which could 

inhibit the forecast speed of transition. 

 

Figure 3 - EV Charging infrastructure in Oxfordshire. Source: Zap-Map (2020). 

4.2.2. The county has 448 public EV chargepoints, distributed over 123 charging 

sites. Numbers of chargers at sites range from a single chargepoint to over 40, 

and sites may contain chargepoints of different speeds.  

119



Page | 14  

4.2.3. Large areas of the county have little or no public EV charging provision. 

Oxford City Council’s administrative area is the most densely covered, reflecting 

the work Oxford City Council undertook, in partnership with Oxfordshire County 

Council, on the Go Ultra Low Oxford On-street Project. The project installed over 

30 fast on-street EV chargers in a trial of charging solutions for residents without 

access to off-road parking. 

4.2.4. There are EV chargers in only 8 of Oxfordshire’s 98 local authority owned and 

managed public car parks, with the remaining chargers hosted by commercial 

entities; including supermarkets and retail parks, hotels and car dealerships. 

4.2.5. Public rapid charging is dispersed around the county, with four charging sites 

at service stations adjacent strategic road network, and the remaining rapid 

charging sites again found at hotels and car dealerships. Ultra-Rapid charging is 

limited to 5 sites, the largest of which is the Tesla Charging hub at the M40 

Junction 8a Services, which hosts 32 ultra-rapid chargepoints available only to 

Tesla Drivers. 

Table 2 - Public EV chargers in Oxfordshire by speed 

4.3. The Oxford Zero Emission Zone 

4.3.1. Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council are proposing to create a 

Zero Emission Zone (ZEZ) pilot in Oxford city centre, starting in August 2021, and 

based on a road user charging scheme. This pilot, and any future implementation 

and expansion, may generate additional need and demand for EV charging for 

road user groups, not just within the zone, but also across the county, from where 

journeys into the zone may originate. 

4.4. Taxis: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 

4.4.1. In addition to the requirements for vehicles travelling in Oxford’s Zero 

Emission Zone, from 2022 all newly licensed Hackney Carriage Vehicles licenced 

by Oxford City Council must be Ultra Low Emissions Taxis (ULEVs) meeting the 

UK government’s definition which typically refers to battery electric, plug-in hybrid 

electric and fuel cell EVs. Across the county EVs are already starting to enter the 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle fleet. The usage patterns of both 

Chargepoint speed Number of sites Number of chargepoints 

Ultra-Rapid 5 55 

Rapid 20 60 

Fast 85 281 

Slow 35 52 

Total N/A 448 

120



Page | 15  

forms of taxi mean that access to Rapid and Ultra-Rapid charging are important in 

allowing drivers to maximise their productive work time, and that charging 

infrastructure at company premises, and close to popular routes or ranks are 

beneficial to supporting the EV taxi business case. While it is not within the scope 

of this strategy to define specific locations for charging for electric taxis, the 

strategy aims to ensure that public EV charging is available to all user types, 

including taxis. 

4.5. Social inclusion 

4.5.1. While many areas of Oxfordshire are affluent, and likely to be among the first 

to see early mass adoption of EVs, there are significant areas of Oxfordshire 

where income is low. Lower income households are often disproportionately 

affected by poor air quality, and also the sector of society least able to adopt EVs 

early.  

4.5.2. While the Councils are limited in the actions they can take to support low 

income households with the purchase of EVs, action can be taken to ensure 

equitable access to EV charging. Car club vehicles may also provide a more 

affordable alternative to private EV ownership, with the potential to give wider 

access to clean vehicles, and support reductions in private vehicle ownership in 

line with the aims of Connecting Oxfordshire.  Electric car clubs and the chargers 

needed to power them are therefore included as a valuable measure to improve 

social inclusion in Oxfordshire’s EV ready future. 

4.6. On-street parking  

4.6.1. Over 34% of households in Oxfordshire are unlikely to have private off-road 

parking, and as such have limited or no access to home charging. Not everyone 

without off-road parking has a vehicle, but there are indications that around 25% 

of all cars nationally are parked on streets overnightxi. Most on-street parking in 

Oxfordshire can be seen in the city of Oxford and other urban centres, where 

terraced properties and high-density housing are key features of the urban 

landscape, and where air quality concerns are most acute. However, this situation 

is also seen in many more rural areas such as historic market towns (Figure 4).  

121



Page | 16  

 

Figure 4 - Oxfordshire hotspots for properties with low probability of a driveway. 

Source: Energeo 2020 & EMU 2018. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of 

occurrence. Properties with low probability of a driveway are defined as those with less than or equal 

to 3 metres distance between the front elevation of the property and the nearest edge of the public 

highway, inclusive of the pedestrian footway where this is present. 

  

122



Page | 17  

5. Where are chargers needed first? 

 

Figure 5 - Oxfordshire hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption. Sources: 

Energeo 2020, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of 

occurrence. Households likely to be early mass adopters were defined as households in categories 1-

10,15-16,18,22-24,26&29, located proximate to an existing ULEV registration. 

  

123



Page | 18  

5.1. Analysing demand 

5.1.1. While most EV charging is done at home (around 80%)xii, a network of public 

chargers is essential for drivers who do high mileage, travel long distances and/or 

have no access to chargers at home or work.  The UK is home to around 19,500 

public chargepoints and has one of the largest, and most comprehensive rapid 

networks in Europe, but more is needed to meet demand.  

5.1.2. Chargers must be located in areas which are convenient to drivers, and have 

the space, energy and network connections to make installations feasible. In this 

section we examine where demand is likely to grow fastest, and where support is 

needed to help residents on lower incomes adopt cleaner vehicles.  

5.1.3. Analysis of likely centres of EV adoption as uptake in Oxfordshire moves from 

‘early adoption’ to ‘early mass adoption’ has been carried out using demographic 

characterisations of people likely to be in these groups across Oxfordshire, and 

combined with data on existing electric vehicle registrations, which are used as a 

predictor of ‘neighbourhood influence’ to give a picture of the hotspots for likely 

uptake over the coming 5 years (Figure 5). 

5.1.4. The outputs show dense areas of likely uptake in Bicester, the North and 

West of Oxford, and larger market towns such as Abingdon, Didcot and Henley. 

Likely uptake in and around Banbury is more diffuse, and further investigation may 

be required to understand the likely cause of slower uptake. 

5.1.5. When EV uptake hotspots are overlaid with areas of high on-street parking, 

the councils can begin to identify key areas for early action on EV charging 

infrastructure (Figure 6). 

5.1.6. More detailed heatmaps of EV uptake hotspots for each of the districts and 

key towns can be seen in Annex 4: Geospatial Analysis. 

124



Page | 19  

 

Figure 6 - Oxfordshire hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption & low driveway 

probability. Sources: Energeo 2020, EMU 2018, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour 

intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

  

125



Page | 20  

5.2. The Councils’ influence (where can we act?) 

5.2.1. The Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy will focus on the 

measures and policies the Councils can either carry out directly or influence:   

• Direct control – measures to improve EV infrastructure provision on the 

Council’s own estate defined as the Council's own operational buildings or at 

Council owned or managed public parking, and through the procurement or 

licensing of EV charging infrastructure.  

5.2.2. The Councils also have extensive direct and indirect spheres of influence: 

• Direct influence – measures that will have a direct impact on the EV 

infrastructure provided by others through planning and infrastructure policies;  

• Wider influence – through partnerships, advice, lobbying and leadership.  

5.2.3. Viewing the challenges for EV charging infrastructure through these three 

lenses gives us an indication of what actions the Councils can take, how they can 

be prioritised, and what impact they are likely to have on the development of EV 

charging infrastructure over the coming five years. 

6. Quantity of EV charging 

6.1. Targets for EV charging in Oxfordshire 

6.1.1. Predicting the absolute number of EV chargers that will be needed in the 

future is highly complex; rapidly changing vehicle and charging technologies, 

economic factors and dependence on public behaviour change means there is a 

great deal of uncertainty. 

6.1.2. A European directivexiii on the deployment of alternative fuels infrastructure 

recommended in 2014 that “the appropriate average number of recharging points 

should be equivalent to at least one recharging point per 10 cars”. This ratio 

applies to public chargers and does not include home chargers. Using this ratio, 

we would need at least 2,500 to 3,000 public charge points across the county in 

order to meet the charging need for the 25,000 to 30,000 EVs on Oxfordshire 

roads by 2025 predicted by the University of Oxfordxiv. 

6.1.3. This simple metric does not differentiate between the different speeds of 

chargers, or how accessible they are. A rapid 50kW charger may serve 4 to 5 

times the number of EVs in a day that a standard 3-7kW charger can, and a 

charger which is open to the public for 12 hours of the  day, can notionally serve 

half as many vehicles as one which is available 24/7. However, the higher costs of 

rapid and ultra-rapid EV charger installation can often be passed on to the end 

user in higher tariffs, and so this must be taken into consideration when designing 

a strategy for EV Infrastructure which promotes value for money. The 

assumptions upon which the original metric was based may no longer be relevant; 

the number of chargers needed may not require the same level of increase in line 

with projected increases in EV uptake, given longer battery ranges, new charging 

126



Page | 21  

technologies and a greater proportion of EVs able to use faster rapid charging 

technologiesxv. For these reasons, campaign groups are calling for the metric to 

be reviewed as part of the review of the Alternative Fuels Infrastructure directive in 

2020. It is recommended that when establishing the number of new chargers 

required in Oxfordshire to meet future demand, the Councils’ approach follows the 

weighting method proposed by T&E.  

Figure 7 - The Transport & Environment Charger Weighting Metric 

Transport & Environment (T&E), a European clean transport campaign group, has 

designed a new metric. Instead of simply counting each charger as one, this metric 

weighs the energy they can provide to the EV fleet and how available they are to the 

public. The T&E ratio model proposed gives each different charging speed a 

weighting: 

• 1 for single phase 3-7 kW Slow Charger 

• 2 for tri-phase 7-22 kW Fast Charger 

• 4 for 43 kW AC Rapid Charger 

• 5 for 50 kW DC Rapid Charger 

• 10 for 150 kW and above Ultra-rapid Charger  

If we accept the EU’s recommended ratio of 1 charger per 10 cars as a base line for 

3-7kW chargers, then higher power chargers can be weighed against the target 

according to the equivalent number of 3-7kW chargers they represent. For example, 

if Oxfordshire were to rely solely on rapid charging at 50kW per hour, the equivalent 

of the recommended EU ratio could be met by 800 rapid charge points. 

6.1.4. With the current public EV charging provision providing the equivalent of 

approximately 1,464 3-7kW chargepoints, and the pipeline of the Council’s EV 

charging projects planned over the next two years providing the equivalent of over 

900 3-7kW chargepoints, the equivalent of 1,636 further 3-7kW public 

chargepoints could be required to meet potential demand. 

Table 3 – Oxfordshire’s planned pipeline of EV charger installations 

Project Number of 

chargepoints 

Chargepoint 

Speed 

T&E 

Weighting 

3-7kW chargepoint 

equivalents  

Park and Charge 280 7-22kW 2 560 

Go Ultra Low 

Oxford: On-street 

100+ Up to 7kW 1 100 

Energy Superhub 

Oxford 

18 

4  

20 

150kW+ 

50kW 

22kW 

10 

5 

2 

180 

20 

40 

West Oxfordshire 

EV Charger project 

10 7kW 1 10 

Total 432 N/A N/A 910 

127



Page | 22  

Policy EVI 1: The Councils will collaborate to enable and encourage 

deployment of public EV chargepoints in Oxfordshire towards meeting 

predicted demand by 2025 in line with national targets and with reference to 

European directives. 

Key actions: 

✓ The Councils will use their best endeavours to enable a geographically and 

socially inclusive EV charging network which promotes equal access to EV 

charging for those in rural and remote locations and areas of deprivation based 

on available evidence of EV charging need. 

✓ The Councils will collaborate to share project learnings, access to charging 

demand and charger locations data and tools amongst themselves where legally 

permitted to do so with each other. 

✓ New data agreements will be developed to allow data sharing and tools access 

between the two tiers in regard to charging demand and locations data. 

✓ The Councils will continue the collaborative approach used in the development 

of the Oxfordshire EV Infrastructure Strategy through regular meetings of a 

Working Group of officers involved in EV infrastructure and other EV related 

projects. 

6.2. Funding public EV chargers 

6.2.1. EV charging is a developing market, and business models for successful 

operation of charging networks are evolving rapidly.   

6.2.2. The costs of installing and operating EV charging equipment require both 

upfront capital and ongoing revenue funding. The bulk of capital funding is spent 

in the connection of the EV charger to the energy network, and remains fairly 

static, while chargers themselves have significantly reduced in cost as technology 

has developed and demand increased. Ongoing and essential inspection and 

maintenance of chargers represent the bulk of revenue costs, with back-office and 

data connection fees taking a smaller part.  

6.2.3. Local authorities have taken various approaches to the funding and ownership 

of EV charging infrastructure. During the first wave of infrastructure deployment, 

several authorities, including Bristol City Council and Transport for London, 

invested in procuring EV chargers which were owned and operated by the 

authorities, who received revenue from the chargers, and committed ongoing 

funding to support the contract management, maintenance and operation of the 

charging network. This approach saw local authorities acting as Charge Point 

Operators (CPOs) and required significant resourcing to manage the network.  

6.2.4. A financial model developed for the Councils, based on owning and operating 

EV charging in house, demonstrates that in car parks Councils could reach 

128



Page | 23  

breakeven on operating costs for fast chargers after 4 years (including potential 

loss of income from parking fees, where they apply) if charger utilisation is 

high at 6 charging events per day.  However, if utilisation drops below this point to 

levels more usually indicated by market engagement, the ongoing revenue losses 

will be considerable, leaving the Councils with significant ongoing funding 

commitments for several years. 

6.2.5. The high cost of installing and managing EV charging equipment in house 

means that it is unlikely that Councils will be able to fund this without ongoing 

government funding and private investment. 

6.2.6. CPOs frequently offer investment via a concession model, whereby local 

authorities can ‘host’ chargers operated and managed by the CPO at little or no 

cost to the local authority, while revenue from charging is retained by the operator 

or shared with the host. The larger scale of the networks operated by commercial 

businesses allow them to benefit from savings in operating costs which are not 

readily accessible to Councils running smaller networks in-house. This model has 

been successfully used around the country, including Oxfordshire, in areas where 

usage and turnover are high, such as in car parks or charging hubs, where the 

investment can be recouped relatively quickly.   

6.2.7. In instances where usage and turnover of EV chargers are low, particularly 

on-street EV charging in residential areas, the business case for operators is 

more challenging. The government’s On-Street Residential Chargepoint Scheme 

(ORCS) provides capital match funding for local authorities up to £6,500 

per charger, but as it does not provide revenue funding for the ongoing operation 

and maintenance of the chargers. Therefore, the business case for operators may 

still be less attractive where return on investment is uncertain.  

6.2.8. This may lead to challenges for Councils in encouraging CPOs to install in 

less economically viable areas without funding aspects of operation and 

maintenance, or entering into very long agreements, which limits their ability to 

request charger upgrades or seek new providers if the incumbent is under-

performing.   

6.2.9. The economics for on-street residential charging will continue to 

be challenging until the tipping point for EV adoption is closer, and analysis of and 

improvements in deployment costs, commercial models and actual asset 

utilisation can be assessed and addressed more fully.  This may continue to 

require government grant funding to help de-risk EV charger deployment. 

Government has committed funding to support the development of new business 

models for ‘on-street’ residential EV charging; Oxfordshire’s Councils are involved 

in three projects which explore new business models for delivering EV charging 

access by lowering costs, avoiding the higher costs of charging at the 

roadside, developing new models of asset ownership and opportunities for 

alternative funding streams.  

129



Page | 24  

6.2.10. In order to facilitate deployment of a high quality EV charger network for 

Oxfordshire, we need to continue to be at the forefront of working with the private 

sector and exploring funding models for EV charging while the market is still 

evolving.  

Policy EVI 2: The Councils will collaborate to seek funding for EV 

infrastructure and support the development of a self-sustaining EV charging 

network for Oxfordshire which relies less heavily on continuing public 

finance support in the future and minimises the impact on existing and 

future Council budgets. 

Key Actions: 

✓ The Councils will collaborate to seek government and other funding for, and 

private investment in, Oxfordshire’s public EV charging network 

✓ Oxfordshire County Council’s EV Integration team, working in partnership with 

industry and the District & City Councils where appropriate, will continue to seek 

project or other funding to explore sustainable business models for EV charging 

7. Delivering EV charging 

7.1. Public charging in local authority car parks 

Setting targets for EV charging spaces 

7.1.1. Oxfordshire’s local authorities have direct control of over 90 off-road car parks 

and ‘Park and Ride’ sites located across the county, in addition to other car 

parking at leisure and community centres. The County Council also manages 

larger areas of on-street parking laid out in car park style at Broad Street and St. 

Giles in Oxford, which for the purposes of target setting in this document we will 

include under the definition of car parks.  

7.1.2. Car parks controlled by the six local authorities provide over 14,000 car 

parking spaces to local residents, businesses, visitors and travellers in 

Oxfordshire. As discussed in section 6.1, to meet destination charging demand 

from the expected number of EVs on Oxfordshire’s roads by 2025, the 

recommended number of 3-7kW equivalent chargepoints calculated using the 

T&E metric is 2,500 – 3,000. 

7.1.3. Charging in public car parks and park and ride sites can be a valuable 

resource for users charging their vehicles while visiting other amenities in the local 

area – known as destination charging - but can also have great value for local 

residents without access to a private driveway or garage where they can charge 

from their home power supply. This dual use helps to maximise usage of the 

chargers and supports the business case for charger deployment as discussed in 

section 6.2. 

130



Page | 25  

7.1.4. Oxfordshire’s local authorities therefore have an opportunity to make a large 

contribution to the public EV charging network by introducing EV charging into 

their own public car parks and park and ride sites.  

7.1.5. If 7.5% of Oxfordshire’s local authority-controlled car park spaces were 

provided with EV charging, this would total over 1100 spaces dedicated to EV 

charging. If the chargers provided were all 7-22kW ‘fast’ chargers or greater, this 

would meet all of Oxfordshire’s likely destination charging needs for 2025 and 

over 70% of the predicted need up to the end of 2027. If carefully located, these 

chargers can also be used to support residents without off-road parking. 

7.1.6. Oxfordshire’s Councils are already actively deploying EV charging in their car 

parks across the county. Here we show how many charging spaces will be made 

available. The Councils’ two major car park based EV charging projects will 

enable the Councils to reach over 40% of the 710-space target by June 2022. 

Project EV charging spaces Expected completion 

Park and Charge 280 March 2022 

Energy Superhub 
Oxford 

42 June 2022 

Total 312  

 

Policy EVI 3: The Councils will aspire to reach or exceed a target of 

converting 7.5% of local authority managed public car park spaces, to fast 

or rapid EV charging by 2025. 

This target will apply across each Council’s entire parking estate to allow for 

challenges in very small or isolated car parks, and include some of Oxfordshire 

County Council’s ‘car park style’ on-road public car parking where appropriate. 

Key Actions: 

✓ The Park and Charge project will be completed by March 2022 and will deliver 

up to 280 charging spaces  

✓ The Energy Superhub Oxford Project will be completed by June 2022 and will 

deliver up to 42 charging spaces 

✓ The Councils will collaborate to deliver further EV charging projects to reach or 

exceed the target by end of 2025 

✓ The Councils will continue to monitor plug-in vehicle uptake in Oxfordshire and 

usage of the Councils’ EV charger network annually to assess if the 7.5% 

chargepoint target is appropriate. The target will be formally reviewed in 2023 

 

131



Page | 26  

Managing EV charging in our car parks 

7.1.7. In order to ensure that EV drivers have a consistent and positive experience 

of using EV chargers, the Councils also have the opportunity to align policies for 

the management and deployment of EV charging at their sites. 

7.1.8. EV drivers frequently report that EV chargers are blocked by petrol or diesel 

cars inappropriately using EV charging bays (known as ICE-ing). Drivers also 

report frustration at finding EV charging bays blocked by EVs which have finished 

charging, but which have not been moved. Reservation of bays adjacent to EV 

chargers, setting maximum stay times which are appropriate to the speed of 

charging and use of the car park, and appropriate and regular enforcement of the 

car park rules can all help to improve the customer experience and increase 

usage of charging points. 

Policy EVI 4: The Councils will manage parking bays for EV charging in 

local authority car parks to encourage both destination and overnight EV 

charging and for all types of EV ownership, including private vehicles, 

shared or car club vehicles, and business vehicles where appropriate 

Key Actions: 

✓ The Councils will use enforceable Parking Orders to reserve parking bays with 

EV chargers for charging EVs or specific car club vehicles only in order to 

prevent and enforce against their misuse 

✓ The Councils will embed charging time limits for EV charging bays during peak 

hours in enforceable parking orders to maximise user access to chargers. These 

will be appropriate to the type of charging and usage of the car park. To 

encourage overnight use of EV chargers for drivers without home charging 

access these charging time limits will not apply during night-time or off-peak 

hours 

✓ The Councils will ensure that where these requirements are implemented, 

enforcement officers will be well briefed on how EV bays are to be enforced, and 

where appropriate the Councils will consider the use of technical options to 

support enforcement i.e. bay sensors, cameras or ANPR cameras 

✓ To encourage overnight use of EV chargers for drivers without home charging 

access, those Councils which charge an over-night parking fee will seek ways to 

remove or reduce parking fees for those unable to charge at home. Parking fees 

at other times of day will continue to apply (where appropriate) when vehicles 

are charging 

✓ To ensure customers are confident in using EV charging bays across 

Oxfordshire the Councils may seek to agree consistent EV charging bay 

markings in line with UK government and industry standards 

132



Page | 27  

7.2. Visitor and workplace charging at Council sites 

7.2.1. The Councils have direct control over the provision of EV charging at their 

own premises, including workplace parking at Council offices. This section 

addresses the Councils’ approach to providing workplace charging for visitors and 

staff. This strategy will not seek to set out the Councils’ approach to fleet vehicle 

charging as this is covered by Council fleet managers within the different 

organisations. 

7.2.2. Commuter traffic contributes significantly to carbon and NOx emissions in 

Oxfordshire, as well as generating significant issues of congestion around major 

centres of employment. A key aim for the Oxfordshire Local Transport and 

Connectivity Plan 5: Connecting Oxfordshire, is to reduce harmful emissions from 

commuter traffic by supporting sustainable alternatives such as public and active 

transport.  

7.2.3. The Councils are each encouraging the reduction of workplace parking and 

actively promoting the use of public and active transport for staff and visitors.  

Parking is limited at many Council sites, in particular those in Oxford. Where 

public and active transport are not an option, the Councils have an opportunity to 

set an example to businesses around the county by providing EV charging for 

staff and visitors, where parking is already provided. 

7.2.4. The Government’s Workplace Charging Scheme provides a grant to support 

charging infrastructure at workplaces of 75% of the purchase and installation 

costs of a charger capped at a maximum of £350 per socket (a maximum of 40 

sockets per organisation), which hundreds of companies across the UK have used 

to install EV chargers for their employees and fleets. The government has also 

legislated so that no benefit in kind liability arises for employees who charge their 

own electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles at work.  

7.2.5. Where feasible, workplace charging installed at Council premises could also 

act as EV charging hubs if accessible to the public overnight – this is being 

considered at WODCs Council premises as part of the Park and Charge project. 

In this case, it may also be possible to attract investment from CPOs into 

concession contracts. 

Policy EVI 5: The Councils will support staff and visitors to access 

electric vehicle charging at Council premises where appropriate 

Key Actions:  

✓ Where visitor parking is provided at Council sites, the Councils will explore 

options to license or deploy EV charging 

✓ The Councils will monitor demand for staff and contractor EV charging and seek 

options to provide access where necessary  

  

133



Page | 28  

7.3. Charging without off-road parking 

7.3.1. As shown in section 4.6, many households in Oxfordshire have no access to 

private off-road parking, and subsequently have limited or no access to home 

charging. This is a significant barrier to EV uptake for many households. 

7.3.2. Without support, some drivers may attempt their own fixes; we have seen 

examples of EV drivers trailing cables across the public footway to charge 

vehicles from their homes. This presents a significant trip hazard, is detrimental to 

inclusive mobility and may contravene the Highways Act (1980).  

7.3.3. Providing safe alternative access to EV charging for people who must park 

their car on the street is therefore critical to the UK’s transition to EVs, and the 

protection of inclusive mobility for road users with additional needs.   

7.3.4. Oxfordshire County Council, as the local highways authority, recognises the 

need to enable safe access to EV charging for residents who must park their car 

on the public highway, and will seek to enable the market to provide charging 

access to these users in a safe and responsible manner.  

7.3.5. Oxford and Oxfordshire have led the UK in attempting to address this 

challenge; the Go Ultra Low Oxford Project led by Oxford City Council in 

partnership with Oxfordshire County Council was a world first, piloting technical 

solutions to the challenges of on-street EV charging. The Park and Charge Project 

(Figure 9) has enabled Oxfordshire County Council and several of Oxfordshire’s 

District Councils to explore an alternative to roadside EV charging; the use of 

public car parks in residential areas to provide access to EV charging for local 

people without a home EV charger. 

Table 4 – Feasibility of EV charging options for residents without off-road parking 

 

7.3.6. Experience from these and other Oxfordshire projects provides valuable 

learning, which has been instrumental in designing the approach described in this 

Option 

Impact on 

streetscape 

& mobility 

Complexity & 

cost  

Commercial 

Sustainability 
Scalability 

Off-road fast 

charging hubs  
Nil Medium High High 

Cable Gullies Low Low High High 

Off-road rapid & 

super-rapid hubs  
Nil High Medium Low 

Street-light 

charging 
Low Medium Medium Medium 

Free-standing on-

street chargers 
High High Low Low 

Rising bollards Medium High Low Low 

134



Page | 29  

strategy. Table 4 summarises performance of different charging options for those 

who park on the street against four key feasibility factors. 

7.3.7. Key learnings from the Go Ultra Low Oxford On-street (O-GULO) project 

demonstrate that installing electrical on-street EV charging infrastructure is 

complex, time consuming and costly to install and manage. Costly electrical/data 

connections and maintenance create a challenging business case for investment 

and limited choice for local authorities and consumers, as discussed in section 

6.2. The installation of EV chargers on the public highway, if not carefully 

managed, may also generate street clutter and create negative impacts for road 

users; in particular, pedestrians and those with disabilities, potentially 

compromising the Council’s commitment to inclusive mobility.  

7.3.8. Our learnings give a strong indication that where it is possible to avoid on-

street electrical infrastructure by creating off-road fast charging hubs, this is 

desirable, and can support better use of infrastructure and a stronger case to 

attract private investment. The potential to provide safe access to charge an EV 

with a home charger using a ‘cable gully’ as piloted in the O-GULO project may 

help us to support on-street EV charging at mass scale, simply and cost 

effectively.  

 

Figure 8 - Priorities for supporting charging without off-street parking 

  

135



Page | 30  

7.3.10. The Councils therefore consider that in the framework of options for 

supporting drivers without off-street parking, these opportunities are key priorities 

for deployment (Figure 8). The Councils also recognise that in some cases, there 

may be no alternative to providing on-street EV charger installations, and will 

continue to support these installations where necessary due to; 

• Lack of suitable land for off-road EV charging hubs in the local area 

• Disability status which would preclude an individual user from accessing an off-

road charging hub. 

7.3.11. A recent study by specialists in geo-spatial mapping indicates that where on-

street EV charging is deployed, appropriate siting in areas of high need can 

reduce the number of on-street EV chargers requiredxvi. Funding for the Ox Gul-e 

project (Figure 10), which is investigating the feasibility of cable gullies, will enable 

Oxfordshire County Council to develop tailored site analysis tools to support staff 

making decisions on appropriate locations for on-street EV charging. 

Policy EVI 6: Recognising that lack of off-road parking may be a 

significant barrier to EV take-up, Oxfordshire County Council will promote a 

hierarchy of solutions to EV charging for residents, businesses and shared 

vehicles without access to off-road parking, which prioritises off-street 

charging hubs, and other solutions which avoid generating additional street 

clutter or surrounding maintenance and management challenges. 

Key actions: 

✓ Develop and publish detailed policy for the deployment of safe, convenient and 

accessible chargepoints on the public highway for residents, businesses, and 

shared vehicles where there is no option to avoid on-street chargepoints, while 

considering inclusive mobility and the needs of pedestrians and other road 

users.  

✓ Develop a scheme to license the deployment of on-street EV charging 

infrastructure and its ongoing management, maintenance and future-proofing, 

which meets the requirements of this policy by appropriate and competent 

organisations 

✓ Develop a customer service process for the management of requests for on 

street EV charging, and implement a centralised database of requests to inform 

future deployment of EV charging hubs and on-street EV charging 

✓ Work with partners to fund and deliver specific projects exploring new 

technologies, business models and opportunities to enable access to EV 

charging for residents and businesses without access to private off-road parking, 

for example Park and Charge, Ox Gul-e, Go Ultra Low Oxford On-street and 

other future opportunities 

  

136



Page | 31  

Figure 9 - Park & Charge Oxfordshire 

The Park and Charge Project is an Innovate UK funded partnership involving SSE 

Utilities, Zeta Group and others, designed to explore a new model of providing EV 

charging for those without off-street parking at local ‘over-night charging hubs.’   

This project aims to demonstrate the potential for the over-night hub model with a 

pilot to install up to 280 chargepoints in Council car parks in areas where demand for 

on-street charging is likely to be high. 

Local people will be able to use the over-night hubs at a discounted rate, before 

moving their car the following day, freeing up the charger for use by other drivers.  

The Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment (EVSE) used will be ‘fast’ 7-22kWh chargers 

enabling them to be used at higher power during peak hours if the necessary power 

is available.  

The model has the advantage of reducing the need for local authorities to install 

more chargers on the public highway, and the greater risk, cost and complexity 

associated with this approach. 

 

Figure 10 - Spotlight on Ox Gul-e 

Ox Gul-e is a £160,000 Innovate UK funded industrial research and feasibility 

project which will enable Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford Direct Services to 

build on the cable gully concept originally piloted in Oxford as part of the Go Ultra 

Low Oxford Project led by Oxford City Council and Oxfordshire County Council.  

Current on-street EV charging infrastructure is complex, costly to install and manage. 

Visually unappealing, current charging points tend to clutter streets and costly 

electrical and data connections coupled with constant maintenance creates a weak 

business case for investment. This has led to limited choice for local authorities and 

consumers.  

The project will deliver a prototype design for a purpose-built cable gully, explore 

how new EV charging solutions can be funded sustainably in the future, and develop 

the processes and policies to roll the new solution out across Oxfordshire and further 

afield. 

 

8. Using the planning system  

8.1. EV charging in new developments 

8.1.1. Local planning policies in England are guided by the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF)xvii which plays an important role in future proofing new 

developments. The planning system should help to shape places in ways that 

137



Page | 32  

contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, and infrastructure to 

mitigate climate impacts and support renewable and low carbon energy and 

infrastructure. The NPPF states in paragraph 105.e that: 

“If setting local parking standards for residential and non-residential 

development, policies should take into account: a) the accessibility of the 

development; b) the type, mix and use of development; c) the availability of and 

opportunities for public transport; d) local car ownership levels; and e) the need 

to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-

low emission vehicles.” 

8.1.2.  And in 110.e that applications for development should:  

“be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles 

in safe, accessible and convenient locations”  

8.1.3. Through the planning system, the Councils have the opportunity to use their 

direct influence on developments to improve provision of EV charging via strategic 

infrastructure and transport planning, local plans, guidance and conditions.  

8.1.4. The Oxfordshire District Councils currently have a variety of planning policy 

requirements covering climate change, air quality and zero and ultra-low emission 

transport. All the District Councils include statements supportive of sustainable 

transport and some specifically encourage improved EV charging provision. 

Oxford City Council’s recently adopted Oxford Local Plan 2016-2036 and the 

emerging Area Action Plan for the Salt Cross development in West Oxfordshire 

also set out planning conditions for the quantity of EV chargers to be provide in 

new developments. These standards are set out in Policy EVI 8: below. 

8.1.5. South Oxfordshire District Council’s recently adopted Local Plan 2035 (Policy 

Trans 5) requires proposals for all types of development to be designed to enable 

the charging of plug-in and low emission vehicles and to provide facilities to 

support the take up of electric and/or low emission vehicles.  Further guidance will 

be provided in the District’s forthcoming Design Guide (Supplementary Planning 

Document). The Cherwell District Council Local Plan and Vale of White Horse 

District Council Local Plan are due for or in the process of review and the Councils 

are currently considering options.  

8.1.6. The government has consulted on proposed changes to the English Building 

Regulations regarding EV charging provision in new developments, which it is 

believed will serve as the national minimum acceptable standard. Further details 

of the proposed changes can be seen in Figure 11. 

  

138



Page | 33  

Figure 11 - The Governments Proposed Changes to Buildings Regulations 

In July 2019 the government launched a consultation on its proposals to set 

minimum requirements for EV charging infrastructure in new and existing residential 

and non-residential buildings. The consultation proposed the creation of a new part 

to the English Building Regulations requiring EV charging infrastructure in new 

buildings and buildings undergoing material change of use and major renovation. 

 

Policy position: Residential Buildings 

The government proposes requiring every new residential building or residential 

building undergoing major renovation with more than 10 car parking spaces to have 

cable routes for EV chargers in every car parking space.  

 

Policy position: Non-Residential Buildings   

The government proposes every new non-residential building and every non-

residential building undergoing a major renovation with more than 10 car parking 

spaces to have one charger and cable routes for an EV charger for one in five 

spaces. The government proposes a requirement of at least one charger in existing 

non-residential buildings with more than 20 car parking spaces from 2025. 

 

8.1.7. The quantity of EV charging proposed by the government fall below those set 

locally by Oxford City Council and other local authorities in the UK in their local 

plans. The Councils have a desire to stretch beyond these base standards to 

ensure new developments are future proofed for the predicted rapid uptake of EVs 

in Oxfordshire. 

8.1.8. The Councils recognise that the quality of EV charging for residents and 

businesses in Oxfordshire is also critically important for EV charging infrastructure 

to function as desired. In section we set out the Councils’ ambitions for a high 

quality EV charging network for Oxfordshire, and the standards we will set to 

enable this.  

8.1.9. In some cases, developers may lack the resourcing or expertise to 

understand how EV charging could be implemented or funded in communal car 

parks. The problem may be particularly acute for registered social landlords, 

where budgets are constrained.  

8.1.10. In order to ensure that new developments also reach these standards 

consistently across Oxfordshire, it is vital to provide developers and planning 

officers and developers with clear and concise information on best practice and 

the quality standards we expect for EV charging across the county. In addition, it 

is important to signpost to national and local organisations which can provide 

guidance on low or zero capex options for EV charging deployment and provide 

low cost access to clean electric vehicles through electric car clubs. 

139



Page | 34  

8.1.11. The policies below set out the Councils’ ambitions to stretch beyond the 

Governments proposed changes to the English Buildings Regulations, align 

planning policy requirements for EV charging infrastructure in local plans, and 

support the local planning system through development of clear guidelines on EV 

charging for both developers and planning officers. 

Policy EVI 7: The Councils will seek to include statements and policies 

supportive of EV charging infrastructure and, where appropriate, references 

to the Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy in their planning 

standards and guidance. 

Key Actions: 

✓ Oxfordshire County Council will include statements and policies supportive of EV 

charging infrastructure in: 

o The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 

o Connecting Oxfordshire: Local Transport and Connectivity Plan 

o Highways Asset Management Plan and Network Management Plan 

o Other relevant planning documents 

✓ The Councils will collaborate to develop a Technical Advice Note for developers 

and planning officers which will; 

✓ Share knowledge of best practise and promote the Oxfordshire Standards for EV 

charging deployment, on-going management, and maintenance, and future-

proofing 

✓ Signpost to organisations who can provide guidance on funding and delivering 

EV charging  

✓ Promote electric car clubs in new developments 

  

140



Page | 35  

Policy EVI 8: The Councils will benchmark nationally, and between 

themselves, each seeking to set minimum standards for the quantity of EV 

charging to be provided in developments in their planning requirements.  

The standards set will seek to meet or exceed those set in the Oxford City 

Council Local Plan (2016-2036) which state that; 

• Where parking is to be provided, planning permission will only be granted 

for developments if: 

o Provision is made for EV charging points for each residential unit with 

an allocated parking space; and 

o Non-allocated spaces are provided with at least 25% (with a minimum 

of 2) having electric charging points installed. 

• Planning permission will only be granted for non-residential development 

that includes parking spaces if a minimum of 25% of the spaces are 

provided with electric charging points. 

Key Actions: 

✓ Oxfordshire County Council will include minimum standards on the quantity of 

EV charging points to be provided in new developments in the Oxfordshire 

County Council Street Design Guide and Oxfordshire Parking Standards. 

✓ The District and City Councils will include minimum standards on the quantity of 

EV charging points to be provided in Local Plans when these are reviewed; and 

Supplementary Planning Documents and Air Quality Action Plans if appropriate 

to provide additional detail.  

Policy EVI 9: The Councils will seek to provide support and guidance on 

EV charging provision to Town and Parish Councils, and other groups 

writing Neighbourhood Plans 

Key Actions: 

✓ Oxfordshire County Council will include guidance on EV charging and links to the 

OEVIS and on-street EV charging policy in the Oxfordshire County Council 

Neighbourhood Planning Guide 

✓ The Councils will respond to queries from those preparing Neighbourhood Plans 

in order to share knowledge of best practice for EV charging infrastructure. 

  

141



Page | 36  

8.2. EV charging in historic areas 

8.2.1. Installing an EV charger at an existing private property or in car parks, is 

generally classed as permitted development under the General Permitted 

Development Orderxviii. For on-street parking, the General Permitted Development 

Order grants planning permission to development by local authorities including EV 

chargingxix. 

8.2.2. These permitted development rights can be suspended in designated 

conservation areas by means of an Article 4 Direction, and do not apply in the 

curtilage of a listed building or Scheduled Monument. Those wishing to install an 

EV charger at a listed building or in a designated conservation area may need to 

apply for listed building consent. If restrictive Article 4 directions were introduced 

in Oxfordshire, this could impact significant areas of the county (see Table 5 

below) potentially creating significant challenges for: 

• Residents wishing to install home EV chargers 

• The deployment of on-street EV charging infrastructure, and EV charging in 

public car parks. 

Table 5 - Listed buildings and conservation areas in Oxfordshire 

8.2.3. There are no current Article 4 directions specific to EV chargers in 

conservation areas in Oxfordshire. However, management of street furniture is 

noted as an important factor in several of Oxfordshire’s conservation areas. As 

charger infrastructure becomes more common, there may be a need or desire to 

manage EV charging in historic areas in order to protect their appearance and 

character. In response to the needs of local authorities, the market is developing 

more varied and elegant designs, some specifically tailored to blend in with a 

historic environment; in Oxford the GULO project piloted a charging socket 

installed into a heritage style bollardxx. 

Local Authority Area Listed Buildings Conservation Areas 

Cherwell 2300 60 

Oxford 1500 18 

South Oxfordshire 3500 72 

Vale of White Horse 2000 52 

West Oxfordshire 3254 51 

Oxfordshire Total 12554 253 

142



Page | 37  

Policy EVI 10: In order to manage the impact of EV chargers without 

restricting access to EV charging, the Councils will define and communicate 

the design features of EV chargers which will have the most positive impact 

on the character of our cities towns and villages, and ensure that where 

there are specific heritage conservation needs, these are met by the 

charging equipment deployed. 

Key Actions: 

✓ The Councils will collaborate to develop an information sheet for officers and the 

public giving examples of EV charging equipment used around the UK in 

conservation areas and on or near listed buildings, and signposting to guidance 

from organisations such as Historic England. 

✓ Where there are any local heritage concerns for the Councils, the proposals for 

the EV Infrastructure will be carefully assessed in relation to its immediate 

setting and surroundings and its impact on streetscape quality. Any harm will be 

weighed against public benefit in accordance with local planning policies and the 

NPPF 

✓ Where Article 4 directions in conservation areas are introduced to manage EV 

charger installation, Oxfordshire County Council will require all EV charging 

infrastructure deployed on the public highway to meet local planning 

requirements for heritage conservation. 

9. Influencing others 

9.1. Commercial car parks 

9.1.1. As identified in section 7.1, the have a pipeline of planned EV charging 

projects, and  will commit to convert 7.5% of the county’s 14,000 local authority 

owned/managed off-road car park spaces to EV charging spaces with 7-22kW 

chargers. This will make a significant contribution towards providing for 

Oxfordshire’s EV charging needs, but will still leave more EV charging point 

equivalents required to future-proof for the demand predicted in section 6.1. 

9.1.2. Using the EU recommended ratio of chargers as a benchmark, we can see 

that to meet the predicted demand for over owners and managers of other car 

parks also need to deliver EV charging.  

9.1.3. Public car parking at large retailers, supermarkets, shopping centres and 

transport hubs such as railway stations present an opportunity to provide EV 

charging for users of these amenities, and like car parks owned by local 

authorities, could provide vital support with EV charging for those unable to 

charge an EV at home or off-road at business premises. Across the UK, 

commercial organisations are installing rapid and fast charging at many of their 

sitesxxi, including a large scale EV charging hub with 50 fast EV chargers at the 

143



Page | 38  

Westgate Centre in Oxford. A review of EV charging at UK supermarkets from 

2017 indicated that on-site EV charger deployment was increasing amongst 

supermarket retailersxxii, since then several large companies have announced 

plans to boost EV charging at their stores across the country in the last 3 yearsxxiii. 

Other commercial organisations such as pub and restaurant chains and hotels are 

also beginning to offer EV charging to customersxxiv.  However, many smaller, 

locally based companies are equally well located to provide EV charging, but lack 

the resourcing or funds to take up the opportunity. 

9.1.4. The Councils also have established relationships with organisations such as 

OXLEP, the Low Carbon Hub and Oxfordshire Greentech, which could be 

leveraged to encourage workplace EV charging in Oxford and more widely across 

Oxfordshire. The latter two organisations already work with commercial 

organisations across Oxfordshire to deliver low carbon infrastructure and 

renewables projects and have established relationships with many organisations 

keen to support EV charging.  

9.1.5. Funding opportunities from the government may enable future projects to take 

place in partnership with businesses and landowners which could support 

resourcing at the Councils to deliver this engagement and the potential projects.  

9.1.6. EV charging provided by commercial organisations for their customers is a 

useful step towards supporting those drivers who already have access to a 

charger at home, but significantly greater benefits could be realised if those 

charger assets were made available to local people without access to off-road EV 

charging at home.  

9.1.7. As discussed in section 7, the Park and Charge project is piloting the dual use 

of EV charging hubs in car parks for both destination charging and as overnight 

EV charging hubs, providing evidence which could help to influence owners or 

managers of private car parks to provide more public EV charging, and to open it 

up to local users outside of regular customer hours. 

  

144



Page | 39  

Policy EVI 11: The Councils will seek opportunities to encourage 

organisations, businesses and other owners of commercial public and 

customer car parks to deploy public EV charging infrastructure where it is 

appropriate 

Key Actions:  

✓ The Councils will seek opportunities to signpost commercial organisations and 

businesses to local and national partner organisations to promote the 

deployment of EV charging in commercially owned car parks. 

✓ The Councils will seek funding opportunities to support resourcing of 

engagement with commercial organisations to encourage EV charging in 

privately owned car parks.  

✓ Oxfordshire County Council will disseminate learning from the Park and Charge 

project to encourage the suitable development of overnight EV charging hubs in 

commercially owned car parks. 

✓ EV charging infrastructure in commercial car parking at new developments will 

be required through the development planning process as per Policy EVI 8  

9.2. Communal residential car parks 

9.2.1. Existing high-density housing developments often have communal parking 

areas for residents. These are usually separated from individual households, 

preventing residents installing home EV chargers or accessing the governments 

home charging grant. Residents who have contacted the Councils for support with 

EV charging indicate that in some cases housing management companies or 

landowners may lack the resourcing or expertise to understand how EV charging 

could be implemented or funded in communal car parks. The problem may be 

particularly acute for registered social landlords, where budgets are constrained.  

9.2.2. As described in section 4.5, car clubs offer an opportunity to give wider 

access to clean vehicles, and reduce private car ownership in residential areas, 

which applies equally to both new and existing development. 

9.2.3. Through our established relationships with OXLEP, the Low Carbon Hub, 

Oxfordshire Greentech and others, the Councils could encourage and signpost 

owners and managers of housing stock to available and affordable options to 

support tenants and leaseholders with EV charging and affordable access to clean 

vehicles in Oxfordshire.  

9.2.4. Funding opportunities from the government may also enable future projects to 

take place in partnership with owners and managers of housing stock which could 

support resourcing at the Councils to deliver this engagement and potential future 

projects. 

145



Page | 40  

Policy EVI 12: The Councils will explore opportunities to encourage 

owners and managers of housing stock of all types of tenure to deploy EV 

charging infrastructure for residents where it is appropriate 

Key Actions: 

✓ The Councils will seek opportunities to signpost owners and managers of 

housing stock to our existing partner organisations to promote the deployment of 

EV charging and electric car clubs in communal residential car parks across all 

types of tenure. 

✓ The Councils will seek funding opportunities to support resourcing of 

engagement with owners and managers of housing stock to encourage EV 

charging in privately owned car parks and electric car clubs in communal 

residential car parks across all types of tenure. 

✓ EV charging infrastructure in residential car parking at new developments will be 

required through the development planning process as per Policy EVI 8  

9.3. Workplace & business charging  

9.3.1. As discussed in section 7.2, workplace EV charging, provided where public 

and active transport is not an option, can support commuters to switch to EVs. 

Workplace charging can also support businesses to switch their fleets to EVs. 

9.3.2. The Councils have committed to take steps to support EV charging for visitors 

and staff at their own sites, but as some Councils provide very limited parking for 

staff, other employers across Oxfordshire must act on commuter emissions.  

9.3.3. In order to further support reduction in commuter transport emissions, the 

Councils can act to encourage employers across Oxfordshire who provide 

workplace parking to offer EV charging for their staff and visitors; Workplace 

charging can support drivers without off-street parking at home, and can enable 

plug-in hybrid and range extender drivers to travel further within the electric zero 

emissions capability of their vehicle.  

9.3.4. Oxford is the largest employment centre in Oxfordshire, attracting 45,000 

private cars to the morning rush hour dailyxxv. As part of Connecting Oxfordshire, 

Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council are working together to 

develop and implement Connecting Oxford, a plan to transform public transport, 

walking and cycling in Oxford, including better connectivity to places of work.  This 

will be achieved by reducing traffic levels in Oxford, prioritising bus movements 

and investing in new services, and freeing up more road space for pedestrians 

and cyclists.  Less traffic and more people using public transport and active travel 

modes will also have air quality benefits. Included in this is improved air quality, by 

reducing the number of cars travelling into and around the city and encouraging 

more people to travel by public transport, and active transport.  The proposals 

include traffic filters across the city and a workplace parking levy (WPL) in the 

146



Page | 41  

city’s Eastern Arc - an area outside the city centre that links parts of north Oxford, 

Marston, Headington and Cowley. Those affected by the proposed WPL, including 

employers and their employees, could directly benefit from investment in new bus 

services, grants for onsite sustainable travel improvements, parking management, 

discounts on bus fares, park & ride buses and parking.  

9.3.5. The Oxfordshire County and Oxford City Councils are currently developing a 

business case required to assess the full impacts of the proposals.  Extensive 

public and stakeholder engagement and consultation is also planned to help 

develop and refine the Connecting Oxford proposals, with implementation 

currently programmed from 2023. have endorsed a full feasibility study for the 

introduction of the Connecting Oxford transport proposals. This feasibility study 

and the proposals of Connecting Oxfordshire presents direct opportunities to 

engage employers and encourage more workplace EV charging infrastructure in 

the city.   

9.3.6. As described above in section 9.1, the Councils also have relationships with 

organisations such who are well equipped to encourage and provide support for 

businesses wishing to install EV charging for staff and visitors.  

Policy EVI 13: The Councils will explore opportunities to encourage uptake 

of EV charging at workplaces and business premises where it is appropriate 

Key Actions: 

✓ Oxfordshire County Council will explore opportunities to encourage uptake of EV 

charging at workplaces through the developing transport plans for Oxfordshire, 

including through engagement with employers on the Connecting Oxford plan.  

✓ The Councils will seek opportunities to signpost commercial organisations and 

businesses to our existing partner organisations engage to promote the 

deployment of EV charging in workplace car parks. 

✓ The Councils will seek funding opportunities to support resourcing of 

engagement with commercial organisations to encourage EV charging in 

workplace and business premises car parks. 

✓ EV charging infrastructure in workplace car parking at new developments will be 

required through the development planning process as per Policy EVI 8  

  

147



Page | 42  

9.4. Rapid charging on the strategic road network 

9.4.1. The UK has one of the largest, and most comprehensive rapid networks in 

Europe including more than 3,500 rapid chargers xxvi,xxvii. The government wants to 

encourage and leverage private sector investment to build and operate a self-

sustaining public network including rapid charging.  To meet long-distance, en-

route rapid charging requirements, and maximise carbon emission reductions, the 

number of rapid chargers located near the major roads network needs to expand 

to 1,170 by 2030xxviii.. 

9.4.2. Highways England are the responsible authority for managing the deployment 

of rapid EV charging at sites on the strategic road network, including Oxfordshire’s 

strategic road network such as the A34 and M40. The organisation has recently 

been awarded funding from the government and announced its commitment to 

ensure 95% of its motorways and major ‘A’ roads are within 20 miles of a charge 

point by the end of 2020. 

9.4.3. However, there are still few public rapid or ultra-rapid chargers at sites on the 

strategic road network in Oxfordshire: as shown in section 4.2, only 8 are located 

at service or fuel stations close to major roads in the county. 

9.4.4. Oxford City Council are developing a rapid and ultra-rapid charging hub at the 

Redbridge Park and Ride site, close to the A34 in Oxford, which will significantly 

boost access to high-speed EV charging for users in the county travelling via 

Oxford. Further rapid charging close to major roads is still required to support 

more rural communities and travellers in other parts of the county (see Figure 12).  

9.4.5. Oxfordshire County Council has an established relationship with Highways 

England as the highway authority for the A34 and M40 in Oxfordshire, and with 

the Office for Low Emission Vehicles, and may be able to make the case for 

encourage deployment of rapid and ultra-rapid EV charging funded by Highways 

England at sites in Oxfordshire. 

9.4.6. As the Highway authority for Oxfordshire, Oxfordshire County Council also 

has responsibility for highways land assets, including important link roads across 

the county and their associated lay-bys. Some of these lay-bys are large and 

underutilised, giving them potential for use as rapid charging stops where grid 

connections and space allow. 

  

148



Page | 43  

Policy EVI 14: The Councils will seek to improve the availability of rapid 

and ultra-rapid EV charging on and near the strategic road network and 

important link roads across Oxfordshire 

Key Actions:  

✓ The Oxford City Council ESO project will be delivered to meet the need for rapid 

and super-rapid charging for residents, businesses and travellers in and around 

Oxford. 

✓ The Councils will engage with HM Government departments and agencies 

responsible for the roll out of EV charging infrastructure on the strategic road 

network. 

✓ Oxfordshire County Council will explore options to engage the market in 

assessing the potential use of large laybys and other highways land assets such 

as Park & Rise sites for rapid and ultra-rapid EV charging across Oxfordshire. 

 

Figure 12 - Spotlight on Energy Superhub Oxford 

Oxford City Council is part of Energy Superhub Oxford (ESO) a £41m project to 

trial the world’s largest hybrid battery technology in the city to support rapid and 

ultra-rapid EV charging, and low-carbon heat networking. 

The project will see the trialling of the 50MW hybrid battery system, connected to the 

Cowley substation in Oxford, and will both store and re-supply electricity directly 

back to the grid. The battery will store and deliver power to electricity suppliers and 

will help to balance the local requirements for National Grid by storing electricity at 

times of low demand and re-supplying at peak demand. The technology will be able 

to shift the demand to periods of low prices, minimise bills and overcome local 

network constraints.   

The project will enable the use of spare capacity energy to power an EV ‘superhub’ 

at the Redbridge Park and Ride site, helping to minimise the impact of large scale 

rapid and ultra-rapid charging on the grid. Technology from the battery will optimise 

time-of-day charging, with capabilities for overnight charging.  

Public chargers to be installed under the project include: 

• Over 20 rapid and ultra-rapid EV chargers  

• At least 10 fast (22kW) chargers at the Redbridge site and another 10 at 

Seacourt Park and Ride. 

The funding will also support the Council to work with a partner offering a ‘Trial 

before you Buy’ programme for Hackney Carriage Vehicle drivers in Oxford, and 

support the council in converting its fleet to electric.  

149



Page | 44  

10. Securing open, accessible and reliable EV charging 

10.1. National legislation, standards and quality challenges 

10.1.1. National and European standards give minimum quality and safety 

standards for EV chargers, their installation and the interface with customers. 

10.1.2. The standards are set out in European and UK legislation, regulations and 

standards, and are adhered to by professional manufacturers, installers and 

operators of EV charging infrastructure. Table 6  gives a high-level description of 

some of the key standards, and a comprehensive review can be seen in Annex 3: 

EV charging standards. 

10.1.3. Any chargers funded by OLEV On-street Residential Charging Scheme 

(ORCS), or Workplace Charging Scheme must also meet further specific 

requirements.xxix,xxx 

10.1.4. These are the minimum baselines which all EV charging must meet. 

However, reliability, ease of use and access, and the customer experience 

continue to be a concern for users. 

10.2. Reliability  

10.2.1. Reliability of EV charging has improved since the first wave of EV 

infrastructure funding saw first-generation chargers installed under the 

governments plugged-in places schemes, but consumers still rate reliability as 

their overriding considerationxxxi, and 21% of public EV charging network users 

have had negative experiences when using the charging networkxxxii. 

10.2.2. Technical standards for equipment which reach above and beyond those set 

at the European or national minimum levels can help to increase the reliability of 

EV charging equipment. Chargers which enable remote fixes to technical failures 

reduce the need for engineer callouts and thus ‘downtime’ for EV chargers, and 

modular design which allows a section of the charger unit to be replaced, rather 

than a small component or the entire unit, can speed up repairs when an engineer 

is needed. 

10.2.3. Reliability of EV chargers is also strongly linked to their operation and 

maintenance. To ensure that chargers function as desired, they must be operated 

and regularly maintained by a competent contractor. Experience from GULO 

projects show that where this is not the case, incidence of charger failure and 

safety breaches are high.  

10.2.4. Well-designed and thorough contractual arrangements for maintenance and 

operation of charging points by a competent contractor are necessary to meet 

customer needs and avoid poor reliability of charging networks. Resources for the 

management of contracts or licences to operate EV charging equipment are also 

essential to ensure that operators meet their obligationsxxxiii.  

150



Page | 45  

10.2.5. A plan for the renewal of assets at the end of their lifetime is also critical to 

ensuring the reliability of the network continues as technology changes and 

improves.  

Table 6 - Key Regulations & Standards 

Legislation, 
regulation 
standard 

High-Level Description 

The Alternative 
Fuels 
Infrastructure 
Regulations 2017 
 

Key requirements which are not already captured in other 
standards:  

• Infrastructure operators must provide to any person ad-hoc 
access to charge 

• Equipment must incorporate an intelligent metering system  

Autonomous and 
Electric Vehicles 
Act 2018 

Gives the government powers to impose regulations on: 

• Public charging or refuelling points: access, standards and 
connection 

• Provision of specific information for users of public charging or 
refuelling points 

• Transmission of data relating to charge points 

OCPP Open 
Charge Alliance 
Open Charge Point 
Protocol  
 

Open industry standard that enables charger sellers and network 
operators to “mix and match” interoperable hardware and software:  

• Compliant hardware can be used across a range of different 
cloud based back-end software.  

• All chargers should be OCPP 1.6+ compliant.  

Electricity Safety, 
Quality and 
Continuity 
Regulations 
(ESQCR) 

Statutory legislation that governs the supply of electricity to users:  

• All installations must comply.  

• Relevant elements for the EV charger installer are interpreted 
into BS7671. 

BS7671:2018 
(+A1:2020) 
Electrical 
Installations (IET 
Wiring Regulations) 

The UK standard to which all electrical installations must conform.   

• The 18th Edition IET Wiring Regulations contains important 
new information for all electrical installers and engineers.  

• Section 722 relates specifically to the installation of EV supply 
equipment. 

IET Code of 
Practice for EV 
Charging 
Equipment 
Installation 4th 
Edition 
 

An overview of EV charging equipment installation considerations 
on: 

• Physical installation requirements 

• Relevant electrical installation requirements of the updated BS 
7671:2020  

• Specific requirements when installing EV chargers in locations 
such as dwellings, on-street, commercial and industrial 
premises. 

BS 8300: 2018 

Design of an 
accessible and 
inclusive built 
environment. 

Standards for accommodating users with the widest range of 
characteristics and capabilities: 

• Defines the height from the ground of the socket outlet (also 
stated in BS7671 & IET CoP) 

• Includes clearances for wheelchairs around street furniture. 

  

151

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030342613
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030335835&creative=425316728334&keyword=&matchtype=b&network=g&device=c&gclid=CjwKCAjwxLH3BRApEiwAqX9arcrzoDKB4Nl6eTi8aUGE3zuP-tbVWqaNg7AL6aR78kXIdSzfptkg6xoCYuUQAvD_BwE


Page | 46  

10.3. Instant access 

10.3.1. The early development of the UK public EV charging market led to the 

creation of ‘closed’ EV charging networks, where access to charge was limited to 

subscribers or members. In the United Kingdom, EV drivers carry on average 3.19 

charging network cards. Open access to roam across networks with a single card 

is seen as an important point for future improvements to the EV charging network 

by consumersxxxiv.  

10.3.2. The government has taken steps to increase access to EV charging on an 

‘ad hoc’ basis via the Alternative Fuels Directive which demands that 

infrastructure operators provide to any person ad-hoc access to charge without 

need for a membership. The easiest interpretation of this is to allow credit/debit 

card payments, and some operators are now enabling contactless or NFC 

payment (Apple Pay, Google Pay etc.), but many other charging networks are 

slow to deploy these technologies unless they are specifically requested. Some 

operators have made the case that if their App can be downloaded at any time 

and a driver can then immediately access the charger once they have setup up 

the App, then this can be considered ad-hoc access. However, this requires 

access to a smart phone and makes ad hoc charging more time consuming and 

complex than many consumers prefer. 

10.4. Charging standards for Oxfordshire 

10.4.1. Oxfordshire’s ambitions for an EV charging network include creating a truly 

open network, which ensures easy, consistent access to anyone wishing to use a 

charge-point across Oxfordshire. To achieve the high quality EV charging network 

we are striving for, the Councils have collaborated to develop a set of minimum 

standards for EV charging equipment deployed on-street and in local authority car 

parks, which will also form the basis of advice for advice on EV charging in new 

developments. 

Policy EVI 15: The Councils will encourage the deployment of a high 

quality, reliable, open, value for money, future-proofed and truly instant 

access EV charging network for Oxfordshire by setting high standards 

which seek to reach ‘above and beyond’ minimum legal requirements 

Key Actions:  

✓ Procure, license or otherwise deploy only EV charging which meets or exceeds 

the national standards and the Oxfordshire EV Charging Standards detailed in 

Annex 3: EV charging standards 

✓ Review the Oxfordshire EV Charging Standards on a regular basis and as 

technologies and business models develop. 

✓ Seek the best value for users by using the procurement and licensing processes 

to encourage CPOs to offer opportunities to benefit target groups, such as those 

who must park on the street, taxi drivers and operators, or other businesses 

152



Page | 47  

through different rates for EV charging over-night and during daytime hours, or 

other measures which incentivise take up amongst target groups.  

✓ Encourage developers, and other stakeholders to meet or exceed the same 

standards when deploying EV charging infrastructure through planning guidance 

and wider engagement. 

11. Powering EV charging for the future: Managing energy 
impacts 

11.1. Impacts on the grid 

11.1.1. EV charging relies on energy supply through connection to networks or 

lighting circuits, generating challenges in connecting EV chargers and providing 

sufficient power to operate.  

11.1.2. Rapid charging hubs and ultra-rapid charging take huge amounts of energy 

out of the grid at busy times, which can lead to expensive upgrading of the local 

electrical grid, including new substations or transformers. Neither rapid or ultra-

rapid charging can be considered truly ‘smart’; the chargers are controlled by and 

communicate with a back office, but due to their nature of delivering large 

amounts of energy very quickly there is limited opportunity to manage the delivery 

of energy across off-peak hours in order to protect the grid. Even fast charger 

installations can require upgrades or reinforcement of networks in areas where the 

local network can only support small increases. The cost of these works can be 

prohibitive.  

11.1.3. The My Electric Avenue report for SSE concluded that without managed 

charging, EVs could cost £2.2 billion in UK grid infrastructurexxxv. Traditionally, 

these findings would mean the replacement of underground cables in the public 

highway.  

11.1.4. However, the government has recognised that the previous system of 

centralised generation of electricity transported through to the end user is 

changing to a more decentralised systemxxxvi with increasing levels of low carbon 

and renewable generation, often connected at the local distribution network and 

behind the meter.  

11.1.5. EVs necessarily reduce CO2 and other harmful emissions from the tailpipe, 

positively benefitting the drive to reduce transport emissions. These environmental 

benefits can be increased if upstream carbon emissions are also tackled when 

EVs are charged from renewable sources. 

11.1.6. To enable these changes in generation and minimise the need for 

conventional network reinforcement, the system is adapting to become more 

flexible and smarter in order to better manage the new flows in power. The 

Oxfordshire Energy Strategyxxxvii, developed by OxLEP in partnership with all local 

Councils, University of Oxford, Low Carbon Hub, the Distribution Network 

153



Page | 48  

Operator and other stakeholders, and endorsed by the Growth Board in 

November 2018, sets objectives to:  

• secure a smart, modern, clean energy infrastructure which will support planned 

housing, industrial and commercial growth.  

• Lead nationally and internationally to reduce countywide emissions by 50% by 

2030, on 2008 levels, and set a pathway to achieve zero carbon growth by 

2050 

11.1.7. EVs could offer new opportunities for the power system as part of this 

smarter, cleaner and more flexible energy system for Oxfordshire system. Projects 

such as the Energy Superhub Oxford, Local Energy Oxfordshire and Vehicle to 

Grid Oxfordshire are already examining the part EVs could play in Oxfordshire. 

The EV Infrastructure Strategy has a role in ensuring that our EV infrastructure 

supports the aims of the Energy Strategy, minimises negative impacts on the 

electrical grid and is ready to respond to the learning generated in the county.  

11.2. Smart EV charging  

11.2.1. Smart charging, during off-peak periods and when demand and network 

congestion is otherwise low, means consumers can potentially benefit from 

cheaper pricing when charging, avoid triggering future network reinforcement, use 

their EVs to power their homes or businesses or sell energy back to the grid xxxviii. 

11.2.2. Since 2019 all government funded charger installations must have smart 

functionality. The Automated and Electric Vehicles Act (2018) also gave 

government the powers to ensure that all chargers sold or installed in the UK will 

have smart functionality. 

11.2.3. In deploying or licensing privately funded EV charging infrastructure in 

Oxfordshire, the Councils have opportunities to require charger operators to meet 

the same standards set by government for smart charging. The Councils also 

have the opportunity to guide developers deploying EV charging to opt for smart 

chargers though planning advice and the proposed technical advice note to be 

developed. 

11.3. Renewable energy, on-site renewable generation and storage 

11.3.1. As the UK energy network continues to decarbonise, and charge point 

operators increasingly commit to buying energy from renewable sources, these 

upstream carbon emissions will naturally reduce.  The ESO project demonstrates 

the potential for large scale storage to support the grid, but other projects across 

the UK have also made use of smaller scale battery storage, stand-alone or 

combined with on-site photo-voltaic generation to support EV charging.  

11.3.2. The Councils could increase the use of renewables in the EV charging 

network, and mitigate against challenges in energy supply, by promoting the 

installation of on-site renewable generation and storage where EV chargers are 

deployed in significant numbers.  

154



Page | 49  

11.3.3. Designing developments with sufficient and appropriately located lower 

power EV charging equipment from the outset, with sufficient energy capacity to 

meet predicted future demand, will help to manage grid impact, meeting the EV 

charging infrastructure needs of residents and businesses now and in the future, 

efficiently and cost effectively. 

11.3.4. Where properties have access only to unallocated parking on the public 

highway, the government wishes to encourage the use of integrated street-lighting 

and EV charging to avoid street clutter. Historically, street lighting circuit designs 

and power capacity have not been required to take into account the need for 

additional load from EV charging. New developments using traditional processes 

to design street lighting without consideration of EV charging will require costly 

and complex retrofitting to meet the energy demand of EV charging. This can be 

avoided by designing in and ensuring adequate power capacity for EV charging 

from the outset. Exemptions to the above requirements may be made for specific 

sites where planning restrictions apply. 

Policy EVI 16: The Councils will seek to increase the emissions reduction 

benefits of electric vehicles, and mitigate the impact of EV charging 

infrastructure on the local and national grid by encouraging and promoting 

the use of renewable energy for EV charging, encourage ‘off-peak’ use of 

EV chargers, and exploring technical options to manage grid demand from 

EV charging infrastructure. 

Key Actions:  

✓ The Oxfordshire Standards set by the Councils for EV charger quality will include 

requirements for EV chargers to have smart functionality in line with government 

funding standards. 

✓ Where it is feasible, the Councils will explore technical options to support grid 

management and greater reductions in transport emissions such as on-site 

renewable generation and energy storage.  

✓ The Councils will encourage developers to consider the use of on-site generation 

and storage to support EV charging through the jointly developed Technical 

Advice note on EV charging in new developments. 

✓ The Councils will set parking policies which encourage use of EV charging 

infrastructure in Council car parks and on the highway over-night and at other 

‘off-peak’ times as per Policy EVI 4: 

  

155



Page | 50  

12. Promoting EVs and infrastructure 

12.1.1. Given that EVs are still a relatively new phenomenon, a broader challenge 

beyond public charger infrastructure is the level of information and general 

understanding that people have regarding EVs. The Councils recognise that they 

are able to contribute towards information provision to help overcome this. 

12.1.2. Increasing knowledge, understanding and experience of EVs can help break 

down the barriers to EV ownership, challenge perceptions, and give people the 

encouragement and reassurance they need to make the shift to a cleaner 

vehiclexxxix. Awareness of available EV charging infrastructure is also a factor in 

driving EV adoptionxl. The Councils have opportunities to use their existing online 

presence to signpost current and potential EV drivers toward existing sources of 

information on chargers, and to use resources from our projects to promote EVs 

and a cleaner transport choice.  

12.1.3. As part of the Park and Charge project, Oxfordshire County Council is 

spending £150,000 on a county-wide communications and education package to 

engage Oxfordshire residents as well as visitors and commuters to the area. This 

communications campaign will go beyond simply promoting the Park and Charge 

project and charging hubs, and will communicate much more widely about 

Oxfordshire’s transition to EVs as a lower-carbon and cleaner way to travel.  

Oxfordshire County Council will work very closely with the district councils, as well 

as with other local initiatives such as Energy Super Hub Oxford, EV car clubs, car 

dealerships and local community action groups to promote the local initiatives and 

resources that are combining to make EVs more accessible within Oxfordshire. 

12.1.4. In October 2020, Oxfordshire County Council launched an online survey to 

gain a greater understanding of local people’s knowledge, experiences, attitudes 

and intentions around the use of electric vehicles and charging facilities in the 

area.  This has provided essential insights to help effectively target 

communications and create the impactful messaging needed to unlock barriers 

and successfully steer people towards choosing electric vehicles in Oxfordshire. 

The survey will be repeated in late 2021 to evaluate success of the Park and 

Charge communications activities and inform future messaging to maintain/gather 

momentum in the future. 

  

156



Page | 51  

Policy EVI 17: The Councils will promote information about public EV 

charging in Oxfordshire, and awareness of the benefits of EVs to the public 

through their online and other communications channels 

Key Actions: 

✓ The Councils will promote EVs and awareness of EV infrastructure in 

Oxfordshire through the Park and Charge project public communications and 

engagement campaign, ensuring communications regarding other current EV 

infrastructure projects are closely linked. 

✓ The Councils will seek to provide the public with information on public EV 

charging in Oxfordshire via their online communications channels, signposting to 

national sources of information where relevant (i.e. zap-map and government 

information sources). 

✓ The Councils will seek opportunities to promote their activities around EVs and 

EV charging infrastructure where appropriate through project communications 

and other appropriate channels. 

  

157



Page | 52  

13. Annex 1: Stakeholders 

13.1. The Oxfordshire Energy Strategy Steering Group Members  

A member steering board made up of representatives from each of the Council’s has 

been engaged in the development of this strategy: 

Name Council Role 

Cllr Yvonne Constance 
Oxfordshire County Council Cabinet Member for 

Environment (including Transport) 

Cllr Dan Sames  
Cherwell District Council Lead Member for Clean and 

Green 

Cllr Tom Hayes 
Oxford City Council Cabinet Member for Zero Carbon 

Oxford  

Cllr Caroline Newton 
South Oxfordshire District Council Climate Emergency 

Advisory Committee Member 

Cllr Catherine Webber 
Vale of White Horse District Council Cabinet Member for 

the Climate Emergency and the Environment 

Cllr David Harvey 
West Oxfordshire District Council Cabinet Member for 

Climate Change  
 

13.2. External organisations represented at workshops 

Town Councils, Parish Councils and 

Community Groups 

Charging Industry Stakeholders 

Adderbury Parish Council EB Charging 

Bampton Parish Council EZ Charge 

Banbury Town Council JojuSolar 

Bicester Town Council Urban Electric 

Charlbury Town Council  

Deddington Parish Council  

Didcot Town Council  

Eynsham Parish Council  

Faringdon Town Council  

Garsington Parish Council  

Henley-on Thames Town Council  

Kennington Parish Council  

Kidlington Parish Council  

Little Coxwell Parish Council  

Souldern Parish Council  

South Oxford Community Association  

Thame Green Living  

Thame Town Council  

Wallingford Town Council  

Witney Town Council  

158

http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=4488
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=391
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=391
http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1591


Page | 53  

14. Annex 2:  Evaluation of charging options for residents without private off-road parking 

Option Streetscape & 
Mobility Impact 

Complexity & cost of 
deployment 

Commercial Sustainability Scalability 

Off-road fast 
charging 
hubs  

Nil 

▪ Avoids street 
clutter  

Medium 

▪ High density installations enable 
efficiencies 

▪ Reduced interaction with utilities 
and parking regulations: 
deployment less complex  

High 

▪ Multiple charger installations 
enable cost savings 

▪ ORCS funding can be accessed 

▪ Use by residents and car park 
visitors generates higher usage 
and income  

▪ Opportunities for private 
investment and concession 
agreements 

High 

▪ Opportunities to deploy in 
publicly or privately 
owned car parks 

Cable 
Gullies 

Low 

▪ Integrates well 
into existing 
streetscape 

Low 

▪ Low tech and simple: reduces costs 
of installation significantly 

High 

▪ Potential for self-funding by 
residents  

▪ Low maintenance requirements 
mean very low ongoing costs 

High 

▪ Very few limitations on 
where cable gullies can 
be deployed 

Off-road 
rapid and 
super-rapid 
charging 
hubs  

Nil 

▪ Avoids street 
clutter entirely 

High 

▪ Multiple charger installations can 
enable efficiencies in deployment 

▪ Reduced interaction with utilities 
and parking regulations makes 
deployment process less complex  

▪ High power needs of rapid and 
super-rapid charging can create 
complexities and significant costs in 
securing power supply 

Medium 

▪ Higher usage across groups 
generates greater income for 
operator 

▪ This is balanced by significant 
upfront costs for installation 

▪ Opportunities for private 
investment and concession or 
hosting agreements with 
landowners 

Low 

▪ Suitable sites with 
appropriate power 
supplies are challenging 
to secure 

▪ High numbers of rapid 
and super-rapid chargers 
generate significant 
challenges for local and 
national electrical grid 

159



Page | 54  

Street-light 
integrated 
charging 

Low 

▪ Integrates well 
into existing 
streetscape 

Medium 

▪ Relatively simple installation 

▪ ORCS funding can be accessed. 

Medium 

▪ Low cost of technology and 
installation  

▪ CPOs moving away from 
concession models including 
maintenance 

Medium 

▪ Deployment limited to 
areas where street-light 
position is at leading edge 
of footway 

▪ Deployment limited by 
lighting network capacity 

Free-
standing on-
street 
charger 
bollards 

High 

▪ Generates street 
clutter from 
charger pillar and 
electrical supply 
cabinet 

High 

▪ Dedicated electrical supply is 
required 

▪ Low density installations: cost 
savings cannot be realised 

▪ ORCS funding can be accessed 

Low 

▪ Higher costs of installation and low 
utilisation mean that residential on-
street locations are less 
commercially viable in the near 
term (5-10 years) 

▪ CPOs moving away from 
concession models including 
maintenance 

Low 

▪ Deployment limited by 
grid capacity and 
pavement width 

▪ Lack of commercial 
sustainability means 
operators by be reluctant 
to install in areas likely to 
see low usage without 
subsidy 

Rising 
bollards 

Medium 

▪ Stored below 
pavement surface 
when not in use.  

▪ Some clutter 
impact when in 
use 

High 

▪ Deep excavation required, 
generating complexity with existing 
utilities and archaeological sites 

▪ Dedicated electrical supply is 
required 

▪ Costs are higher for installation.  

▪ ORCS funding can be accessed 

Low 

▪ Higher costs of installation and low 
utilisation mean that residential on-
street locations are less 
commercially viable in the near 
term (5-10 years)  

▪ Charger operators moving away 
from concession models including 
maintenance 

Low 

▪ Deployment limited by 
grid capacity, pavement 
width and underground 
utilities 

▪ Lack of commercial 
sustainability means 
operators by be reluctant 
to install in areas likely to 
see low usage without 
subsidy 

  

160



Page | 55  

15. Annex 3: EV charging standards 

15.1. EV charger types 

Slow charging at 2.4-3kW AC is most useful in home or workplace settings, where the user can charge over a longer period, 

and can be carried out with a standard 3-pin plug. However, it is not recommended for regular use as the UK domestic plug and 

socket connection was not designed for continuous loads of 10-13 amps as used by an electric car. Charger sockets of up to 

5kW can also be integrated into existing electrical assets on the street, such as lighting columns. 

Fast charging can range from 7.4 kW to 22kW AC is the most common type of EV charging, suitable for home, workplace, 

destination and on-street EV charging. Most public EV charging infrastructure is 7.4 kW though more modern chargers may be 

able to achieve 22kW. It should be noted that domestic household chargers are only able to deliver the lower end of this range 

as higher rates require 3-phase energy supply.  Fast chargers can be wall or floor mounted, and most are ‘smart’; able to 

communicate with a charger management system or ‘back office’ and manage the time and rate of charging to minimise the 

impact of EV charging on the electrical gridxli.  

Rapid charging occurs at 43kW and 50kW, and typically provides an 80% charge in 30 to 60 minutes. Units can usually supply 

AC (43kW) or DC (50kW) energy but not always both at the same time. Rapid charger units are most often floor mounted, larger 

than fast chargers and have tethered cables for each of the three vehicle input sockets used for rapid charging EVs. Rapid 

charging is most suitable for en-route charging and workplace charging where rapid delivery of energy is required to complete a 

journey or enable continued use of commercial vehicles such as delivery vans or taxis. It can also provide a useful back up for 

domestic users when EV charging at a slower speed is not available or feasible. Rapid charging is often seen at motorway 

service stations.  

Ultra-Rapid charging occurs at rates above 50kW, and is only provided via DC. Ultra-rapid charging is limited by the small 

number of EVs in the UK which can accept charging at this level of power, however it is likely that in the future, ultra-rapid 

charging will replace rapid charging as the most suitable for en-route and business needs. Tesla provided the first ultra-rapid 

charging in the UK and others are now providing chargers which can supply energy at up to 350kW though the range of 100-

150kW is more typical. Most manufacturers use one of two standard input sockets; CCS or CHAdeMO.  

Table 7 gives details of EV charging types, connection types and site suitability (adapted from UK EVSE Procurement Guide, UK 

EVSE 2019) 

161



Page | 56  

Table 7- EV charging types, connection types and site suitability (adapted from UK EVSE Procurement Guide, UK EVSE 2019 

Charging 
Type 

Power 
Output (Kw) 

Approximate 
time to full 
charge* 

Miles of 
range per 20 
minutes of 
charging** 

Charger Socket Type Suitable Locations 

Slow 2.4-3.4 kW 
AC 

16 Hours 2.4-3 Standard Three Pin Plug Home*** and workplace 
(adhoc/emergency use)  

Slow 3.7-5 Kw AC  13.5 hours 2.7-7 Seven Pin ‘Type 2’  Plug Specialist lamp column charging 
– on street  

Fast 7-11Kw AC 5-7.5 hours 3.7-11 Seven Pin ‘Type 2‘ Plug or tethered 
lead with Five Pin ‘Type 1/J1772’ 
Plug or Seven Pin ‘Type 2’ Plug 

Home***, workplace, on street, 
public car parks 

Fast 11-22 Kw AC 2.5-4.5 hours 11-22 As above As above 

Rapid 43Kw AC 45 minutes 
(to 80%) 

43 Tethered lead with Seven Pin “Type 
2” Plug 

Workplace, en-route at motorway 
service stations, charging hubs, 
public car parks, on-street for 
specific use cases. 

Rapid 50 Kw DC 35 minutes 
(80%) 

20-50 Tethered lead with  
Heavy Duty ‘JEVS G105’ Plug or 
Heavy Duty ‘Combo 2 CCS’ Plug 

As above 

Ultra-
Rapid 

120-147 Kw 
DC 

25 minutes 
(to 80%) 

120-147 Tethered lead with Tesla adapted 
‘Type2’ Plug 

En-route at motorway service 
stations, charging hubs, public 
car parks 

Ultra-
Rapid 

150 Kw DC 25 minutes 
(to 80%)  

150 Tethered lead with 
Heavy Duty  ‘JEVS G105’ Plug or   
Heavy Duty ‘Combo 2 CCS’ Plug 

As above 

Ultra-
Rapid 

350 Kw DC 15 minutes 
(to 80%) 

350 Tethered lead with 
Heavy Duty ‘Combo 2 CCS’ Plug 

As above 

* Based on a typical EV with a 50kWh battery 

**Range added per 20 minutes of charging calculated assuming a 3 mile/kWh vehicle efficiency. 

*** Up to 7kW single phase only at 32 Amps AC output from a typical household single phase AC energy supply 

162



Page | 57  

15.2. Standards, regulations and best practice 

Relevant regulations: Overall deployment (2020) 

Standard or 

Requirement  
Formal Description  Commentary  

Review 

Date 

The Alternative 

Fuels Infrastructure 

Regulations 2017 

 

Regulates alternative fuels (electricity and 

hydrogen) to ensure the way they are supplied 

to vehicles is consistent across the EU. This will 

reduce dependence on oil and the 

environmental impact of transport, while 

contributing to a low carbon economy. 

Specific standards will be mandatory for 

electrical vehicle recharging points. In effect, this 

will provide electrical and hydrogen vehicle 

users the ability to connect and recharge 

throughout Europe. 

 

• All equipment installed must meet these high-level requirements 
which form a pan EU policy. Key requirements not already captured 
in other standards:  

• Equipment must incorporate an intelligent metering system – in 
general this is interpreted as the inclusion of a MID compliant 
revenue grade meter and a data collection system (Cellular/Wi-
Fi/Ethernet) to send meter data to back end software for billing and 
presentation to the driver, generally via a smart phone App. 

• Infrastructure operators must provide to any person ad-hoc access – 
easiest interpretation of this is to allow credit/debit card payments. 

• Many operators are now enabling contactless or NFC (Apple Pay, 
Google Pay). However, some operators have made the case that if 
their App can be downloaded and any time and a driver can then 
immediately access the charger once they have setup up the App 
then this can be considered ad-hoc access. Generally, drivers don’t 
see this as an ideal solution. 

2022 

Electricity Safety, 

Quality and 

Continuity 

Regulations 

(ESQCR) 

Regulates quality and supply continuity as well 

as specifying safety standards. Compliance to 

ESQCR is a statutory requirement for 

distribution network operators (DNO's). 

• This is the statutory legislation that governs the supply of electricity to 
users in the UK. All installations must to comply. In practice, relevant 
elements for the installer are interpreted into BS7671. 

N/A 

Traffic Signs 

Regulations and 

General Directions 

2016-2018 

 

Prescribes the designs and conditions of use for 

traffic signs to be lawfully placed on or near 

roads in England, Scotland and Wales. 

 

Where there are designated EV charging bays, signage may be required: 

• Bays should be marked with TSRGD sign 660.9 with the 
permitted variant “Electric vehicle recharging point only"  

• Bays should also be marked, taking account of TSRGD sign 
1028.3/ 1028.4/ 1032 with permitted variations "ELECTRIC 
VEHICLES", "ELECTRIC VEHS ONLY" or "ELECTRIC VEHS" for 
on road bays.  

• Bays in car parks should be painted green, where appropriate.   

TBC 

  

163

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/esqcr/index.htm
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/362/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/362/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/362/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/362/contents/made
http://m.tsrgd.co.uk/


Page | 58  

Relevant regulations: Overall deployment  

 

 
Relevant standards & legislation 

Standard or Requirement Formal Description Commentary Review Date 

Local Planning Requirements 

 

Specific regulation varies from one 

regional planning authority to next and 

so would need to be considered at a 

regional level across the UK. 

• Experience of deployment by local authorities is that 
planning issues associated with conservation / heritage 
areas are often encountered. 

• This may result in special solutions to suit local area, 
e.g. all the charging equipment being coloured black. 

N/A 

Autonomous and Electric 

Vehicles Act 2018 

 

The purpose of this legislation is both 

to amend the existing compulsory third 

party insurance framework by 

extending it to cover the use of 

automated vehicles and deal with 

electric and hydrogen powered vehicle 

charging infrastructure 

• The act gives the government powers to impose 
regulations on the following relevant topics: 

• Public charging or refuelling points: access, 
standards and connection 

• Large fuel retailers etc: to require provision of 
public charging or refuelling point 

• Provision of specific information for users of 
public charging or refuelling points 

• Transmission of data relating to charge points 

N/A 

164



Page | 59  

Relevant standards & best practice: EV charging equipment technical standards (2020) 

Standard or Requirement  Formal Description  Commentary  Review 

Date 

IEC/EN 61851-1:2017 

Electric vehicle conductive 

charging system - Part 1: 

General requirements* 

 

 

*EV charging equipment 

must be CE marked, 

meeting IEC/EN 61851 can 

be used to demonstrate this 

Applies to EV supply equipment for charging 

electric road vehicles, with a rated supply 

voltage up to 1000V AC. The aspects 

covered in this standard include: 

• characteristics and operating 
conditions of the EV supply 
equipment; 

• specification of the connection 
between the EV supply equipment 
and the EV 

• requirements for electrical safety for 
the EV supply equipment. 

 

All requirements from IEC 61851-22 have 

been moved to this standard. 

• EV supply equipment manufacturers typically claim 
compliance with these standards in their product literature.  

• Ideally products should be third party certified, but is not 
widespread; it's likely that many don’t fully comply.  

• Products that show compliance with BS EN 60335-1 for 
Household and similar electrical appliances, rather than 
IEC/EN 61851, have debatable compliance. This BS does not 
cover all aspects of the equipment for EV charging. 

• Certification would include product safety (LVD) and EMC 
compliance to support CE marking. 

• The standard also defines the basic communication protocol 
between the vehicle and charging equipment. 

2021 

IEC/EN 62196-1:2014 Plugs, 

socket-outlets, vehicle 

connectors and vehicle 

inlets - Conductive charging 

of EVs 

 

Applicable to plugs, socket-outlets, vehicle 

connectors, vehicle inlets and cable 

assemblies for EVs intended for use in 

conductive charging systems which 

incorporate control means, with a rated 

operating voltage not over 690V AC 50 Hz to 

60 Hz, at a rated current not exceeding 250A. 

• All Type 1 and Type 2 EV plugs and sockets used in EV 
supply equipment, cables and accessories should show 
compliance with this standard. 

• EV supply equipment products will not achieve certification to 
IEC/EN 61851-1:2017 if the plug/socket used does not meet 
this standard. 

 

2020 

 

  

165

https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/33644
https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/6582


Page | 60  

Relevant standards & best practice: EV charging equipment technical standards (2020) 

Standard or 

Requirement  

Formal Description  Commentary  Review 

Date 

ISO 15118-1:2019 Road 

vehicles — Vehicle to grid 

communication interface 

— Part 1: General 

information and use-case 

definition 

This document replaces ISO/EN 15118-

1:2013 Road vehicles - Vehicle to grid 

communication interface 

 

The document specifies terms and definitions, 

general requirements and use cases as the 

basis for the other parts of ISO 15118 

 

Specifies the communication between EVs, 

including Battery EVs and Plug-In Hybrid 

EVs, and the Electric Vehicle Supply 

Equipment (EVSE).  

Describes the communication between the 

EV Communication Controller (EVCC) and 

the Supply Equipment Communication 

Controller (SECC). 

• This relates to future Plug and Charge and AC V2G features. 
• This standard defines the high-level powerline communication 

protocol used for Plug and Charge and V2G applications. It 
operates alongside the basic communication protocol used to 
manage the charging session.  

• Plug and Charge removes the need for driver authentication 
(RFID, QR codes etc). 

• The Basic IEC/EN 61851-1 protocol can operate on its own but 
the high-level ISO/EN 15118-1 protocol requires both protocols 
to be in operation. 

• The main changes from the previous document are: 
• New use cases and requirements for wireless 

communication, wireless power transfer, automatic 
connection devices and bidirectional power transfer have 
been added; and 

• As usage of private data and cyber security are becoming an 
important concern for users, requirements for more 
traceability and data privacy have also been added 

• Car communicates with charger using ISO15118-1 protocol to 
identify itself and handle driver billing automatically – 
functionality that is not possible with the basic protocol. 
Mercedes, BMW and VW already support this technology. 

• Links to specific standard documents in the series which form 
requirements of part 1: 
• ISO 15118-2:201: Network & application protocol 

requirements 
• ISO 15118-3:2015- Physical and data link layer requirements 
• ISO 15118-8:2018 - Physical layer and data link layer 

requirements for wireless communication 
• ISO 15118-20: 2nd generation network and application 

protocol requirements 

2024 

166

https://www.iso.org/standard/69113.html


Page | 61  

OCPP Open Charge 

Alliance Open Charge 

Point Protocol – OCPP 1.6 

or higher 

 

Freely available open standard that enables 

component vendors and network operators to 

“mix and match” interoperable hardware and 

software. New versions of OCPP are 

collaboratively defined within an open 

industry alliance to ensure that the protocol 

continues to meet evolving market 

requirements. Charging network operators 

and service providers in more 

than 50 countries rely on OCPP to manage 

more than 10,000 charging stations.  

 

• All hardware should be OCPP 1.6+ compliant.  
• This is the industry agreed standard API that allows flexibility for 

hardware to be used across a range of different cloud based 
back end software. Both hardware and back end need to be 
OCPP compliant. 

• OCPP handles all the control, driver authentication and billing 
processes between the charging equipment and the back end. 
It can also handle some advanced features for load 
management and V2G. 

 

TBC 

ISO/IEC 14443-1:2018 

Cards and security 

devices for personal 

identification - 

Contactless proximity 

objects - Part 1: Physical 

characteristics 

 

Defines the physical characteristics of 

proximity cards and is intended to be used in 

conjunction with other parts of ISO/IEC 

14443. 

 

• General standard that defines RFID and NFC applications.  
 

2023 

 

  

167

https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.iso.org/standard/73596.html


Page | 62  

Relevant standards & best practice: Overall installation (2020) 

Standard or 

Requirement  

Formal Description  Review 

Date 

BS 7671:2018 

(+A1:2020) 

Requirements for 

Electrical Installations 

(IET Wiring 

Regulations) 

The national standard to which all UK electrical installations should conform.  The 18th Edition IET Wiring 

Regulations contains important new information for all electrical installers and engineers. The international 

standard, IEC 60364 forms the basis of this UK regulation. 

Section 722 relates specifically to the installation of EV supply equipment. 

TBC 

IET Code of Practice 

for Electric Vehicle 

Charging Equipment 

Installation 4th Edition 

Provides an overview of EV charging equipment, considerations needed prior to installation.  This includes 

physical installation requirements, relevant electrical installation requirements of the updated BS 7671:2020 and 

specific requirements when installing EV charging equipment in locations such as dwellings, on-street locations, 

commercial and industrial premises. 

 

Commentary 

• Installations will be required to meet all general requirements of BS7671 & the IET CoP.  

• The 2020 amendment to section 722 modifies the general requirements for protection against electric shock and includes specific 
requirements for PME systems socket outlets and connectors, external influences, isolation and switching and RCD protection. 

• BS7671 Section 722 states special requirements that will need to be noted, specifically: 

• Earthing arrangements – Regulation 722.411.4.1 concerning the use of protective multiple earthing (PME) supply has been changed to 
increase the ability for an installer to use PME on EV charging equipment installations. 

• Does not allow PME to be used to supply an EV charging point unless one of the methods described in the regulation is used. 

• Equipment should include 6mA DC leakage protection allowing installations to use a lower cost Type A RCD. Without this a costly dedicated 
Type B RCD will be required for every outlet. 

• To reliably charge all vehicles, high immunity RCDs should be used that are tolerant to the harmonics in some vehicle types. 

• Installers must ensure adequacy of supply - without load management no diversity can be applied. This means that the site supply must 
always be able to supply 100% of the load, irrespective of all the socket outlets being in use or otherwise. Using load management will 
overcome this concern by varying the charge rates based on usage. 

• For 3-phase installations, consideration should be made to ensure load balancing to maintain neutral current at close to zero. Phase rotation of 

charging outlets should be employed at 3-phase outlets. 

168

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030342613
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition


Page | 63  

Relevant standards & best practice: Overall installation (2020) 

 

 

Recommended Heights for Socket Outlets, Payment Terminals 

and Displays 

Source: IET Code of Practice 

Electric Shock Risk Due to Open Circuit Fault in the Supply Neutral 

PEN Conductor 

Source: NICEIC 

  

169

https://www.niceic.com/medialib/www.niceic.com/PDF/NICEIC-Electric-Vehicle-Charging-brochure.pdf


Page | 64  

Relevant standards & best practice: Overall installation (2020) 

Standard or Requirement  Formal Description  Commentary  Review 

Date 

IEC 62955:2018 Residual direct 

current detecting device (RDC-

DD) to be used for mode 3 

charging of EVs 

 

Applies to residual direct current detecting 

devices (RDC-DD) for permanently 

connected AC EV charging stations referred 

to as RDC-MD (residual direct current 

monitoring device) or RDC-PD (residual 

direct current protective device), for rated 

voltages not exceeding 440 V AC with rated 

frequencies of 50 Hz, 60 Hz or 50/60 Hz and 

rated currents not exceeding 125 A. 

• Defines the device requirements for the 6mA DC leakage 
protection feature needed to meet the requirements of BS7671 
installation requirements where a Type A RCD can be used. 

 

2020 

IEC 61008-

1:2010+AMD1:2012+AMD2:2013 

CSV - Consolidated version 

Residual current operated 

circuit-breakers without 

integral overcurrent protection 

for household and similar uses 

(RCCBs) -Part1: General rules 

 Applies to residual current operated circuit-

breakers functionally independent of, or 

functionally dependent on, line voltage, for 

household and similar uses, not 

incorporating overcurrent protection 

(hereafter referred to as RCCBs), for rated 

voltages not exceeding 440V AC. with rated 

frequencies of 50 Hz, 60 Hz or 50/60 Hz and 

rated currents not exceeding 125 A, 

intended principally for protection against 

shock hazard. 

This consolidated version consists of the 

third edition (2010), its amendment 1 (2012), 

its amendment 2 (2013) and the 

corrigendum of January 2014. 

 

• Includes definitions, requirements and tests, covering all 
types of RCCBs. For the applicability to a specific type 
this part applies in conjunction with the relevant part, as 
follows:  

• Part 2-1: Applicability of the general rules to RCCBs 
functionally independent of line voltage.  

• Part 2-2: Applicability of the general rules to RCCBs 
functionally dependent online voltage. 

• Defines the device requirements for the Type A or Type B RCD 
earth leakage protection needed to meet BS7671 installation 
requirements. 

2020 

 

  

170

https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/32963
https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/4264
https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/4264
https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/4264


Page | 65  

Relevant standards & best practice: Overall installation (2020) 

Standard or Requirement  Formal Description  • Commentary  Review 

Date 

BS EN 61009-1:2012+A12:2016 

Residual current operated 

circuit-breakers with integral 

overcurrent protection 

(RCBOs).  

Applies to residual current operated circuit 

breakers with integral overcurrent protection 

functionally independent of, or functionally 

dependent on, line voltage for household 

and similar uses (RCBOs), for rated voltages 

not exceeding 440 V AC with rated 

frequencies of 50 Hz, 60 Hz or 50/60 Hz and 

rated currents not exceeding 125 A and 

rated short circuit capacities not exceeding 

25 000 A for operation at 50 Hz or 60 Hz.  

• Defines the device requirements for the Type A or Type B 
RCBO earth leakage protection combined with over current 
protection suitable to meet BS7671 installation 
requirements. 

TBC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ENA ER G12 Issue 4 

Requirements for the 

Application of Protective 

Multiple Earthing to Low 

Voltage Networks 

 

Sets out the requirements to be adopted 

when Protective Multiple Earthing (PME) is 

applied to DNO overhead and underground 

low voltage distribution systems and to other 

public distribution systems connected to 

those systems under the Distribution Code. 

These requirements may be supplemented 

by each Company's own PME code of 

practice in respect of the detailed 

engineering and technical requirements of 

PME application. The document also 

considers situations where PME should not 

normally be used.  

 

• Specifically, section 6.2.15. 
• Defines UK DNO recommendations for connecting to the 

low voltage network and includes specific requirements for 
EV charging. 

• Note that some DNOs have their own specific guidance that 
should be referenced (WPD, UKPN). 

• Largely these documents duplicate BS7671 in content but 
clearly set out areas of concern for DNOs with regard to EV 
charging.  

•  

TBC 171

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030340815
http://www.dcode.org.uk/assets/uploads/ENA_EREC_G12_Issue_4_Amendment_1__2015_.pdf


Page | 66  

Relevant standards & best practice: Overall Installation (2020) 

Standard or Requirement  Formal Description  Commentary  
Review 

Date 

BS 8300: 2018 Design of an 

accessible and inclusive built 

environment. External 

environment.  

 

Recommendations on designing buildings to 

accommodate users with the widest range of 

characteristics and capabilities. It applies to: 

• External features of a building or 
group of buildings, such as 
entrances, outward opening doors 
and windows, where they affect 
external access routes, and 

• Interiors of buildings such as 
entrances and reception facilities, 
horizontal and vertical movement, 
and facilities in the building 

• Defines the height from the ground of the socket outlet (also 
stated in BS7671 & IET CoP) 

• Includes clearances for wheelchairs around street furniture - 
should be considered for physical layout of equipment on 
the footway and for wheelchair access to the socket outlets 
for disabled drivers. 

• See below for diagrams 

TBC 

 

172

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030335835&creative=425316728334&keyword=&matchtype=b&network=g&device=c&gclid=CjwKCAjwxLH3BRApEiwAqX9arcrzoDKB4Nl6eTi8aUGE3zuP-tbVWqaNg7AL6aR78kXIdSzfptkg6xoCYuUQAvD_BwE


Page | 67  

15.3. EV charging standards for Oxfordshire 

Standard area Background National regulations and standards Oxfordshire ‘above and beyond’ standard 

Technical 

standards for 

charger 

hardware 

• There are minimum 
standards set out in 
legislation by central govt 
on charger hardware. 

• National and European 
standards give minimum 
quality and safety standards 
for EV chargers 

• Any chargers funded by 
OLEV On-street Residential 
Charging Scheme (ORCS), 
or Workplace Charging 
Scheme must meet more 
detailed standards. 

 

Charger hardware should meet all relevant 

regulations and standards; 

• The Alternative Fuels Infrastructure 
Regulations 2017,  

• Automated and Electric vehicles Act (2018),  

• IEC/EN 61851-1:2017 ,  

• IEC/EN 62196-1:2014;  

• OCPP Open Charge Alliance Open Charge 
Point Protocol – OCPP 1.6 or higher;  

• ISO/IEC 14443-1:2018  
 

• Free-standing charging equipment should 
allow full servicing and replacement without 
disturbance of the pavement or hardstanding 
surface; no civil work should be required  

• Charger units should be modular in design: in 
the event of equipment failure the design 
should allow a module or section to be 
replaced, rather than a discrete component or 
the entire unit.  

• Charger design should make the most efficient 
use of available space per installation: where 
feasible all free-standing chargers should be 
double units capable of charging two vehicles 
simultaneously to their full rated power output.  

• Equipment with an independent power supply 
should be fitted with auto-resetting RCDs: 
Standard RCDs will need to be manually reset 
in the cabinet, should any vehicle cause a trip. 
Auto resetting RCDs could reduce 
maintenance visits just to reset RCDs. 

• Exemptions to the above standards may be 
made for specific sites where planning 
restrictions apply. 

Technical 

Standards for 

Installation 

• National and European 
standards give minimum 
quality and safety standards 
for EV charger installations. 

• Evidence from local and 
national projects indicates 
that where chargers are 
installed, additional cable 
ducting to support further 

Installations of chargers and related electrical 

supply equipment must meet all relevant 

regulations and standards for installation;  

• BS 7671:2018 (+A1:2020) Requirements for 
Electrical Installations (IET Wiring 
Regulations);  

• IET Code of Practice for Electric Vehicle 
Charging Equipment Installation 4th Edition;  

• Installation of chargers should be designed to 
minimise the requirement for disruption should 
additional chargers be required in the future.  

• Where chargers with a dedicated power 
supply are installed, cable routes to supply 
support future installations should be 
considered to future-proof installations for 
additional chargers as demand increases. 

• Exemptions to the above standards may be 
made for specific sites where planning 

173

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/18/contents
https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/33644
https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/6582
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.iso.org/standard/73596.html
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030342613
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition
https://shop.theiet.org/code-of-practice-for-electric-vehicle-charging-equipment-installation-4th-edition


Page | 68  

EV chargers is useful in 
reducing disruption caused 
by additional future 
installations. 

• IEC 62955:2018; 

• IEC 61008-1:2010+AMD1:2012+AMD2:2013 
CSV,  

• BS EN 61009-1:2012+A12:2016,  

• ENA ER G12 Issue 4 ; 

• BS 8300: 2018 Design of an accessible and 
inclusive built environment.  

restrictions apply. 
 

Technical 

Standards for 

Back Office and 

User interface 

• National law demands open 
access to all public chargers 
without need for 
subscription.  

• Research shows that users 
find multiple subscriptions to 
EV charger networks, with 
multiple RFID cards and 
apps unappealing. 

• Some CPOs claim to meet 
open access using apps 
which can be downloaded; 
however, this is 
unappealing to customers – 
Roaming across multiple 
networks or credit/debit card 
access is preferred 

• Roaming access currently 
limited in UK, although 
Automated and Electric 
vehicles act gives govt. 
powers to require this if 
market does not develop. 

All chargers must be operated a Charge Point 

Management System or ‘back office’ which meets 

all national relevant regulations and standards; 

• The Alternative Fuels Infrastructure 
Regulations 2017,  

• Automated and Electric vehicles Act (2018) 

• OCPP Open Charge Alliance Open Charge 
Point Protocol – OCPP 1.6 or higher;  

 

Payment options for customers should include: 

• Provides users with instant access via 
credit/debit card payment  

• Permits users to ‘roam’ across charger 
networks 

174

https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/32963
https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/4264
https://webstore.iec.ch/publication/4264
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030340815
http://www.dcode.org.uk/assets/uploads/ENA_EREC_G12_Issue_4_Amendment_1__2015_.pdf
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030335835&creative=425316728334&keyword=&matchtype=b&network=g&device=c&gclid=CjwKCAjwxLH3BRApEiwAqX9arcrzoDKB4Nl6eTi8aUGE3zuP-tbVWqaNg7AL6aR78kXIdSzfptkg6xoCYuUQAvD_BwE
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/897/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/18/contents
https://www.openchargealliance.org/
https://www.openchargealliance.org/


Page | 69  

Management & 

Maintenance of 

EV charging 

Networks 

• There are no current 
national standards for the 
overall management of EV 
charging networks 

• National standards for the 
maintenance and inspection 
of electrical equipment, 
including EV chargers are 
detailed in the British 
Standards and the IET 
wiring regulations (18th 
edition) 

 

All EVCPS and associated electrical supply 

equipment must be subject to an ongoing routine 

and responsive maintenance plan which meets all 

relevant standards & regulations. This must include 

periodic electrical safety inspection 

• Under BS:7671 ‘condition reporting’, electrical 
equipment must be tested periodically. The 
period of inspections is subject to review of the 
previous inspection and test results to determine 
the rate of degradation, if any, of the electrical 
equipment, 

• Testing of EV charging must be carried out in 
accordance with the IET wiring regulations (18th 
edition) and at least annually for untethered 
chargers and 6-monthly for tethered chargers. 

• All operatives carrying out maintenance and 
testing of on-street EVCPs and associated 
electrical or other equipment must be competent 
to carry out works in the highway and hold 
relevant training and certification, including 
NRWSA training certification, HERS registration 
and with an Electrotechnical Certification Card 
(ECS). 

• All chargers must be operated and maintained 
by a competent contractor. A competent 
contractor should hold as a minimum: 

• Proof of membership of an Electricians’ 
Association. 

• Proof of public liability insurance. 

• Proof that staff are trained to install and 
maintain electric vehicle chargers. 

• Proof that the contractor is approved to 
install and maintain the chargers by the 
manufacturer. 

• Proof that the contractor holds the relevant 
licences to operate the charger CPMS or 
back-office. 

• The routine and responsive maintenance plan 
must include an emergency response plan with 
appropriate response times and action 
procedures to remove risk to life, person or 
property. 

• The routine and responsive maintenance plan 
must include SLAs which define a minimum of 3 
levels of fault severity, with appropriate 
response and fault rectification times for each 
(see Table 8 for best practice routine and 
responsive maintenance SLAs). 

• The CPO must have appropriate measures in 
place for asset renewal or removal at the end 
the life of the EVCP.   

 

175



Page | 70  

Table 8 - Recommended Best Practice Maintenance SLAs 

Service  Action Response and Remedy Time 

Annual/Biannual inspection Including physical inspection of the charger 

unit, feeder pillar, their wiring, weather seals, 

circuit protection devices and earth continuity 

to British Standard BS7671. Visual check for 

sticker and signage issues. Report from 

inspection to include description of the units 

checked including serial number, full address, 

date of installation and last test and pass or fail 

status with itemised fail list if the unit has failed. 

Annual, within 15 Working Days of 

anniversary. 

Remote monitoring Remote monitoring service for identification of 

faults to be linked with ticketing system for 

equipment faults and error reporting. 

Seven (7) days per week, fifty-two 

(52) weeks a year, twenty-four (24) 

hour remote monitoring is essential.  
Remote reboot and restart 

facilities 

Remote reboot and restart facilities to be used 

where appropriate for issues reported by the 

remote monitoring system, charger engineers, 

the Council or Customers. 

Seven (7) days per week, fifty-two 

(52) weeks a year, twenty-four (24) 

hour availability is essential.  

Attend equipment & resolve 

severity one incident. 

Definition: Requires 

emergency isolation to 

prevent risk to life, person, 

or property. 

Investigate, call the emergency services and 

make safe. Carry out emergency isolation and 

rectification works. 

Call emergency services immediately 

after identification of severity one 

incident. 

Attend and complete isolation within 

one (1) hour from notification. 

Once isolated and made safe, 

incident is moved to Severity Two 

Attend equipment & resolve 

severity two incident. 

Definition: Requires action 

to make the charger/s 

operational: i.e. component 

failure 

Investigate and carry out operational 

rectification works. 

Incident rectified and charger/s 

operational within twenty-four (24) 

hours from notification. 

Attend equipment & resolve 

severity three incident. 

Definition: Requires 

cosmetic action: i.e. graffiti, 

soiling etc. 

Carry out cosmetic rectification works. Incident rectified within five (5) days 

from notification. 

Customer and Council 

issue telephone and/or 

app-based helpline.  

Definition: First line 

response for customer 

issues whilst customer 

is at Charger 

Answer calls from the customer and guide 

them through possible remedies that do not 

require an engineer at site (e.g. trapped plug or 

other error). Includes remote reboot and restart 

facilities. 

Seven (7) days per week, fifty-two 

weeks a year, twenty-four (24) hour 

helpline is essential  

  

176



Page | 71  

16. Annex 4: Geospatial Analysis 

16.1. Spatial analysis of residential properties in Oxfordshire with low 

probability of a driveway 

Figure 13 to Figure 18 illustrate hotspots for on-street parking in Oxfordshire indicated by the 

number of properties with low probability of a driveway on which a vehicle can be parked. 

Properties with low probability of a driveway were defined as those with less than or equal to 

3 metres distance between the front elevation of the property and the nearest edge of the 

public highway, inclusive of the pedestrian footway where this is present.  

 

Figure 13 - Oxfordshire hotspots for properties with low probability of a driveway. Source: 

Energeo 2020 & EMU 2018. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence 

177



Page | 72  

Figure 14 - Cherwell District hotspots for properties with low probability of a driveway. Higher 

colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

  

178



Page | 73  

Figure 15 - Oxford City hotspots for properties with low probability of a driveway. Higher 

colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

 

  

179



Page | 74  

Figure 16 - South Oxfordshire hotspots for properties with low probability of a driveway. 

Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

180



Page | 75  

Figure 17 - Vale of White Horse hotspots for properties with low probability of a driveway. Higher colour intensity indicates higher 

density of occurrence 

 

181



Page | 76  

Figure 18 - West Oxfordshire hotspots for properties with low probability of a driveway. 

Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence 

182



Page | 77  

16.2. Spatial analysis of predicted early mass EV adoption in Oxfordshire  

Figure 19 to Figure 24 illustrate hotspots for early mass adoption of EVs in Oxfordshire. 

Households likely to be early mass adopters were defined as households in categories 1-10,15-

16,18,22-24,26&29, located proximate to an existing ULEV registration. 

 
Figure 19 - Oxfordshire hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption. Sources: Energeo 2020, 

ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

  

183



Page | 78  

Figure 20 - Cherwell hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption. Sources: Energeo 2020, 

ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

  

184



Page | 79  

Figure 21 - Oxford hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption. Sources: Energeo 2020, ACORN 

2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

  

185



Page | 80  

Figure 22 - South Oxfordshire hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption. Sources: Energeo 

2020, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

186



Page | 81  

Figure 23 - Vale of White Horse hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption. Sources: Energeo 2020, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour 

intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

 

187



Page | 82  

Figure 24 - West Oxfordshire hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption. Sources: Energeo 

2020, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

 

188



Page | 83  

16.3. Co-incidence of low driveway probability households with early mass 

adoption 

Figure 25 to Figure 30 illustrate the co-incidence of hotspots for low driveway probability 

households and early mass adoption predictions of EVs in Oxfordshire. Where the two 

types of hotspot overlap the colour purple in the figures indicates areas for early action to 

support potential EV drivers without access to home charging. 

Figure 25 - Oxfordshire hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption & low driveway 

probability. Sources: Energeo 2020, EMU 2018, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour 

intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

 

189



Page | 84  

Figure 26 - Cherwell hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption & low driveway probability. 

Sources: Energeo 2020, EMU 2018, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity indicates 

higher density of occurrence. 

  

190



Page | 85  

Figure 27 – Oxford hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption & low driveway probability. 

Sources: Energeo 2020, EMU 2018, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity indicates 

higher density of occurrence. 

  

191



Page | 86  

Figure 28 - South Oxfordshire hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption & low driveway 

probability. Sources: Energeo 2020, EMU 2018, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity 

indicates higher density of occurrence. 

  

192



Page | 87  

Figure 29 - Vale of White Horse hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption & low driveway probability. Sources: Energeo 2020, EMU 2018, 

ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

193



Page | 88  

Figure 30 - West Oxfordshire hotspots for predicted early mass EV adoption & low driveway 

probability. Sources: Energeo 2020, EMU 2018, ACORN 2020, DfT 2020. Higher colour 

intensity indicates higher density of occurrence. 

 

 

 

194



Page | 89  

References 
 

i  Oxfordshire Local Industrial Strategy 

ii  The UK National Infrastructure Strategy, HM Treasury, 2020 

iii  DfT, 2019 

iv  2018 UK Greenhouse Gas Emissions, BEIS, 2019  

v  Air Quality Annual Status Report 2019, Oxford City Council, 2020   

vi  Connecting Oxfordshire 

vii  Oxfordshire Energy Strategy 

viii  Part 3, Road to Zero Strategy (2018), DfT 

ix  DfT, 2020 

x  The image is licensed under Creative Commons ShareAlike International license 4.0. It is attributed to 

Sivapriya M. Bhagavathy, Constance Crozier and Malcolm McCulloch, University of Oxford and was 

developed for an internal report of the Park and Charge project. 

xi  National Travel Survey Table NTS0908 DfT (2015)  

xiiElectric Vehicle Charging in Residential and Non-Residential Buildings, DfT 2019 

xiii Directive 2014/94/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council 22/10/2014 

xiv  https://epg.eng.ox.ac.uk/our-research/park-and-charge/  

xv  Plugging the gap: An assessment of future demand for Britain’s electric vehicle public charging network 

xvi  On-Street Households: The next EV Challenge and Opportunity. Field Dynamics. 2020  

xvii  Section 9, National Planning Policy Framework (Revised) (Feb 2019), MHCLG 

xviii  The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, Schedule 2, Part 2 

xix  The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, Schedule 2, Part 12  

xx  X-Last EV Charging Bollard, Oxford  

xxi  EV charging points to installed at 10 major shopping hubs, Edie.net 

xxii  Supermarkets analysis, Zap-Map 

xxiii  Thousands of free EV charge points to be installed at Tesco sites, Fleet News 

xxiv  EV charging at Greene King Pubs, The Independent 

xxv  Connecting Oxford Brochure (2020)  Connecting Oxford Brochure (2020)  

 

 

195

https://www.oxfordshirelep.com/sites/default/files/uploads/Oxfordshire-SINGLE-PAGE_1.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-infrastructure-strategy
https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/local-authorities/142
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/863325/2018-final-emissions-statistics-summary.pdf
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/7334/air_quality_annual_status_report_2019
https://www2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/public-site/connecting-oxfordshire
https://www.oxfordshirelep.com/sites/default/files/uploads/Oxfordshire%20Energy%20Strategy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/739460/road-to-zero.pdf
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjVzMmg1qfsAhWIecAKHYuIB78QFjABegQIBBAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F896238%2Fveh0132.ods&usg=AOvVaw2z8eQDtsltIEzg8vdfcYei
http://www.gov.uk/%20government/uploads/system/uploads/%20attachment_data/file/550507/nts0908.xls
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/818810/electric-vehicle-charging-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings.pdf
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014L0094&from=EN
https://epg.eng.ox.ac.uk/our-research/park-and-charge/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/plugging-gap-assessment-future-demand-britains-electric-vehicle-public-charging-network/
https://www.field-dynamics.co.uk/catchment-research-download/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/schedule/2/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/schedule/2/part/12/made
https://www.nal.ltd.uk/case-studies/x-last-ev-charging-bollard-oxford/
https://www.edie.net/news/6/Rapid-EV-charging-points-to-be-installed-at-10-major-UK-shopping-hubs/
https://www.zap-map.com/zap-analysis-supermarkets/
https://www.fleetnews.co.uk/news/environment/2018/11/30/thousands-of-free-ev-charge-points-to-be-installed-at-tesco-sites
https://www.independent.co.uk/environment/electric-vehicle-charging-greene-king-pubs-a9686356.html
file:///C:/Users/SAV_EganA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/K1APPDRK/Connecting%20Oxford%20Brochure%20(2020)
file:///C:/Users/lockec.220ICT/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/F6G0U2V2/Connecting%20Oxford%20Brochure%20(2020)


Page | 90  

 

xxvi  European Alternative Fuels Observatory (2018). Electric vehicle charging infrastructure  

xxvii  https://www.zap-map.com/statistics/ 

xxviii  The Road to Zero (2018) 

xxix  On-street Residential Chargepoint Scheme guidance for local authorities 

xxx  Workplace Charging Scheme: guidance for applicants, chargepoint installers and manufacturers 

xxxi  https://www.zap-map.com/zap-map-user-survey-reveals-top-10-ev-charging-networks/ 

xxxii  REA/Zap-Map finds 21% of public EV charging network users experience issues, Fleet News, 2020  

xxxiii  https://www.tsu.ox.ac.uk/pubs/2019-GULO-Phase-1-Final-Report.pdf  

xxxivhttps://assets.ctfassets.net/ulfvrpf1itxm/3gNS3F5NPiiU2W7tA62QqH/f6269e4852bb147bc7e29709e2383989/EV_d

river_survey_report_2020_EN.pdf 

xxxv  My Electric Avenue 

xxxvi  Upgrading our Energy system: Smart Systems and Flexibility Plan (July 2017), BEIS 

xxxvii  Oxfordshire Energy Strategy (Nov 2018) OxLEP 

xxxviii  Part 3, Road to Zero Strategy (2018), DfT 

xxxix  Electric Nation, Transport Scotland, 2018 

xl  Driving and accelerating the adoption of electric vehicles in the UK, DfT, 2020 

xli  Part 3, Road to Zero Strategy (2018), DfT 

196

http://www.eafo.eu/electric-vehicle-charging-infrastructure
https://www.zap-map.com/statistics/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/grants-for-local-authorities-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints/grants-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints-for-plug-in-electric-vehicles-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/workplace-charging-scheme-guidance-for-applicants-installers-and-manufacturers/workplace-charging-scheme-guidance-for-applicants-chargepoint-installers-and-manufacturers
https://www.zap-map.com/zap-map-user-survey-reveals-top-10-ev-charging-networks/
https://www.fleetnews.co.uk/news/car-industry-news/2020/04/28/21-of-public-ev-charging-network-users-experience-issues-finds-rea/zap-map
https://www.tsu.ox.ac.uk/pubs/2019-GULO-Phase-1-Final-Report.pdf
https://assets.ctfassets.net/ulfvrpf1itxm/3gNS3F5NPiiU2W7tA62QqH/f6269e4852bb147bc7e29709e2383989/EV_driver_survey_report_2020_EN.pdf
https://assets.ctfassets.net/ulfvrpf1itxm/3gNS3F5NPiiU2W7tA62QqH/f6269e4852bb147bc7e29709e2383989/EV_driver_survey_report_2020_EN.pdf
http://myelectricavenue.info/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/upgrading-our-energy-system-smart-systems-and-flexibility-plan
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s44917/Oxfordshire%20Energy%20Strategy%20DRAFT%20FINAL%20November%202018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/739460/road-to-zero.pdf
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-OxfordshireEVInfrastructureWorkingGroup/Shared%20Documents/Strategy%20Drafting/Electric%20Nation,%20Transport%20Scotland,%202018
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/914111/driving-and-accelerating-the-adoption-of-electric-vehicles-in-the-uk.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/739460/road-to-zero.pdf


 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 13 July 2022 

Report of: Executive Director (Development) 

Title of Report:  Variation to  Previously Approved Allocation of 
Growth Funding to Cycle Routes 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To approve the variations to schemes which were not able 
to be delivered (variations agreed with Oxfordshire County 
Council under Section 10 of the Agreement). 

Key decision: Yes  

Cabinet Members: Cllr Louise Upton (Cabinet Member for Health and 
Transport) 

Corporate Priority: Pursue a Zero Carbon Oxford through supporting 
sustainable travel 

Policy Framework: Oxford Local Plan, Oxfordshire Local Transport Plan 
Active and Healthy Travel Strategy 

Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Approve a variation to the schemes to be funded from the £1m Growth Deal 
funding (previously approved in March 2020) as set out at Appendix 2; 

2. Delegate authority to the Executive Director (Development) in consultation 
with the Council’s Section 151 Officer, The Head of Law and Governance 
and the Cabinet Member for Health and Transport to make any further 
variations to the schemes, and any amendments to the funding agreement,  
that are within the approved budget and comply with the requirements of the 
Growth Deal Funding Agreement; 

3. Agree the return of £140k to Oxfordshire County Council for the delivery of 
the Marston Road Crossing improvement which has been absorbed into a 
larger scheme; and 

4. Delegate authority to the Executive Director (Development) in consultation 
with Council’s Section 151 Officer, The Head of Law and Governance and 
the Cabinet Member for Health and Transport to appoint contractors and 
award contracts to deliver the Growth Deal cycle schemes in accordance 
with the contract rules contained in the Council’s constitution. 

 

197

Agenda Item 8



Appendices 

Appendix 1 List of Original Schemes 

Appendix 2 List of Proposed Schemes 

Appendix 3 Risk Register 

Introduction and background  

1. At a Cabinet meeting on 11 March 2020 approval was given to enter into a funding 
agreement with Oxfordshire County Council to deliver city cycling schemes at 
Cuckoo Lane, Marsh Lane, Marston Road & Boundary Brook, Oxford, financed by 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Funding. An agreement was entered into 
and £1m funding was transferred to the City Council to enable the schemes to be 
delivered.  

Original Approved Schemes.  

2. The original schemes were proposed by Oxfordshire County Council, but were to 
be delivered by the City Council. However when the schemes were looked at in 
further detail they were found to be undeliverable, either due to local opposition or 
other approvals needed. As a result negotiations have taken place with Oxfordshire 
County Council to identify revised schemes or other walking and cycling routes to 
replace those that were previously identified.  

 Proposed Schemes  

3. Several schemes were researched to ensure that they met the Growth Deal 
Funding requirements and could potentially link to future projects across the city 
when further funding was available. This has resulted in schemes at Donnington 
Recreation, Boundary Brook, Marsh Park and Oatlands Park being identified to be 
improved with the funding available. The funding agreement requires these 
schemes to be delivered by March 2023 so it has been important to ensure they 
are deliverable within the timescales. See Appendix 2 for details of the schemes.  

4. In relation to one of the original schemes, (Marston Road Crossing), Oxfordshire 
County Council has requested the return of the funding, as they will deliver the 
scheme as part of a wider improvement. This will deliver efficiencies and therefore 
it is recommended that £140k is returned to Oxfordshire County Council for this 
scheme. Oxfordshire County Council have agreed to the return of this amount. 

Change Control 

5. A request for a variation of the funding agreement is required under Section 10 of 
the Funding Agreement. In view of the limited timescales to deliver the schemes 
discussions have been initiated to vary the agreement to cover the revised 
schemes and the return of the £140k to Oxfordshire County Council. If approved, 
the changes to the agreement will be formalised in a deed of variation 

6. Other implications  

 A series of Consultations and communications activities have commenced on 
existing schemes and will be put in place for those proposed but not yet 
commenced.  

 The schemes will be delivered by ODS under a Design and Build Contract 
and in line with the agreed approach for their involvement.  

198



 All consideration has been made in terms of Sustainability for construction 
and any potential lighting  

 Consultation has taken place with Environmental and Arboriculture Officers 
and where trees will need to be removed there will be a replanting scheme. 

Financial implications 

7. This request seeks to retain the funding and budget as previously agreed (less 
£140k for Marston Road Crossing). As such it has no additional financial 
implications for the Council. 

Legal issues 

8. There are no legal implications that differ from the original approval, save that the 
amendment of the Funding Agreement would be undertaken if these proposals are 
approved, which would require a deed of variation to be entered into by the City 
Council and Oxfordshire County Council.  

Level of risk 

9. The funding for the schemes is from the Growth Deal but there is a risk if it is not 
spent within the funding timescales that it could need to be returned. The 
programme will be managed to avoid this risk. There are some risks in undertaking 
construction works and these will be managed through the Project Manager and 
contractor.  

Equalities impact  

10. The proposals are to improve walking and cycling routes which will be delivered to 
meet accepted standards to ensure they are accessible to everyone.  

Conclusion 

11. The variation of the schemes to be delivered with the Growth Deal funding is 
necessary to ensure the benefits of the funding are delivered. The proposed 
schemes will deliver improvements and support the Council’s wider ambition to 
encourage walking and cycling within the City. They have been negotiated with 
Oxfordshire County Council to ensure they are deliverable within the requirements 
of the funding agreement. Delegation is sought to agree the final details and the 
letting of contracts to enable the schemes to be delivered.  

Report author Douglas Kerrigan 

Job title Development Manager 

Service area or department Economy and Regeneration 

Telephone  01865 252853  

e-mail  dkerrigan@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Background Papers:  

1 Agenda Item 10, Cabinet 11 March 2020: Allocation of Growth Deal Funds 
to Oxford City Council  

199

mailto:dkerrigan@oxford.gov.uk
https://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s53536/Cabinet%20Report%20March%2011%202020%20-%20Allocation%20of%20Growth%20Deal%20Funds%20from%20Oxon%20CC%20v8.pdf
https://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s53536/Cabinet%20Report%20March%2011%202020%20-%20Allocation%20of%20Growth%20Deal%20Funds%20from%20Oxon%20CC%20v8.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 
Original Location of Growth Fund Cycle Routes 

 

201



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 
 
Growth Fund Deal 
Quiet Connector Routes 
 
 
Retained Schemes: 
Donnington Rec £184,254.00 – In consultation 
 
Boundary Brook – advertising as active travel so has changed to a 
maintenance/resurfacing scheme 
 
Proposed schemes are to either improve existing, or construct new to a 3m width 
 
Marsh Park £ 216,349.63 
 
Oatlands Park £ 268,428.78 
 
 
Under Clause 10 (variation) of the Growth Deal it has now been accepted that the 
new schemes would fit the brief and Oxford County Council have approved them. 
 
The newly proposed collection of schemes will still sit within the Funding (1.047m-
£140k) and are deliverable by end of March 2023 
 
Attached confirmation of the routes, location and plan are shown below. 
 
Key stakeholders, including County and City Councillors, have been made aware 
provided comments on the scheme proposals. 
 
New Proposed Schemes Location Plan 
 

 
 
 

203



Oatlands Park Route Plan 
 

 
Marsh Park Route Plan 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Permission is sought to proceed with the revised collection of schemes as noted 
above. 
 

204



Title Risk description Opp/ 
threat Cause Consequ

ence I P I P I P Control 
description

Due 
date Status Progress 

%
Action 
Owner

CR-1 Consultation O Objection to 
proposed 
schemes

Delay 
or 
change 
to 
design

January 
2022

DK/LD 3 3 2 3 ODS have 
been very 
proactive in 
preconstruction 
stage. This 
avoided the 
first round of 
aborted 
schemes

Early 
engagement 
with all 
stakeholders 
and well 
planned 
public 
consultation

July 
2022

ongoing 50 LD

CR-2 Planning O Failure to gain 
approvals

Delay 
and 
change 
to 
design

March 2021 4 3 2 2 Pre app with 
Planning 
Authority

July 
2022

ongoing 80 LD

CR-3 Project Costs/Budgets T Supply chain 
fluctuations and 
inflation

Reduced 
scheme 
delivery 
or 
request 
for 
additional 
funding

Apr-22 4 5 2 3 Monthly budget 
reviews. Healthy 
contingency 
applied

Apr-22 agreed 100 DK

CR-4 Programme T Delays in 
commencement or 
unplanned events

Going 
beyond 
Growth 
Fund 
agreeme
nt dtes

Aug-20 4 3 3 2 Increase in 
labour discussed. 
Parallel working 
on schemes 
presently 
planned 
sequentially

Apr-22 agreed 100 DK/LD

Appendix 3: Risk Register for Growth 
Deal Cycle Routes

Comments ControlsDate Raised Owner Gross Current Residual

205



CR-5 Contract Matters O Dispute or non 
compliance

Delay or 
cost to 
project

Sep-20 4 3 3 2 tba Early contractor 
engagement to 
ensure agreed 
contarct 
conditions

Apr-22 agreed 100 DK/LD

CR-6 Reputational O Failure to deliver or to 
achieve quality

Non 
complian
ce with 
Growth 
Deal 
requirem
ents

Apr-20 4 3 4 2 Engagement of 
third party 
Contract 
Administrator

Jul-22 50 DK/CA

CR-7 Health and Safety T Injury to opertives or 
members of the 
public

Reputatio
nal and 
claim 
against 
OCC

Apr-20 5 3 5 3 Pre start 
meetings.Clear 
RAMS. Weekly 
ispections. 
Protective 
barriers in public 
spaces to 
separate MOP 
and workforce

Mar-23 ongoing 40 LD/DK/CA

DK=D Kerrigan OCC; LD = Lucian Dunlop ODS; CA=Contract Administrator

206



 

. 

 

To: Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 

Report of: 

05 July 2022 

Head of Law and Governance 

Title of Report:  Scrutiny Committee Standing Panel and Review 
Group Arrangements 2022/23 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To agree standing panel and review group arrangements 
for the 2022/23 municipal year 

Key decision: No 

Scrutiny Lead 
Member: 

Councillor Dr Chris Smowton, Chair of the Scrutiny 
Committee 

Corporate Priority: All 

Recommendation(s):That the Committee resolves to: 

1. 

  

Agree to establish a Climate & Environment Panel, noting that the remit, 
proposed business and meeting dates will be agreed at a future Scrutiny 
Committee meeting. 

2.  Agree a Chair (or lead member) for the Climate & Environment Panel. 

3.  Agree the membership level (4) of the Climate & Environment Panel and 
invite nominations for membership from political groups, to be agreed at a 
future Scrutiny Committee meeting. 

4. Agree to establish a Budget Review Group, comprising the membership of 
the Finance & Performance Panel, noting that the proposed scope will be 
agreed at a future Scrutiny Committee meeting. 

5. Agree that the Chair of the Finance & Performance Panel will Chair the 
Budget Review Group. 

6. Suggest topics for an additional review group focused on a priority topic of 
the Committee’s choosing. 

 

Introduction and Background 

1. At its meeting on 08 June 2022, the Scrutiny Committee agreed its Operating 
Principles for the 2022/23 municipal year. The Operating Principles state that, in 
any given year, the organisation ordinarily has capacity to support either: 

a. 2 Standing Panels and 3 Review Groups; or 

207

Agenda Item 9



b. 3 Standing Panels and 2 Review Groups 

2. As set out in the Scrutiny Operating Principles, standing panels hold meetings 
throughout the year and consider quarterly performance reports, Executive 
decisions and other issues within their remit. Review groups are formed to 
undertake issue-led and time-bound ‘task and finish’ reviews of specific issues, 
before concluding their work with a report and recommendations, usually to 
Cabinet. Standing panels and review groups are governed by the Operating 
Principles and are not held as committee or sub-committee meetings under the 
provisions of the Local Government Act 1972. 

3. The Scrutiny Committee agreed to establish two Standing Panels for the 2022/23 
municipal year: 

a. Housing & Homelessness Panel  
b. Finance & Performance Panel  

 

Companies Scrutiny Panel Arrangements 

4. Due to recommended changes in the way that Companies Scrutiny Panel operates, 
namely that Companies Scrutiny Panel will join Shareholder and Joint Venture 
Group (SJVG) meetings as non-voting members to enable more effective and 
efficient scrutiny of the shareholder function, there is capacity within the Scrutiny 
function for other things. There are a total of six simultaneous meetings of the SJVG 
and Companies Scrutiny Panel scheduled which will not be clerked by the Scrutiny 
Officer, therefore there is additional capacity within the Scrutiny function for six 
meetings throughout the year.  

5. On 08 June 2022, the Scrutiny Committee agreed that one of these six meetings be 
given over for the purpose of Scrutiny-commissioned reports relating to Council 
companies; therefore capacity for five meetings remains. It is anticipated that the 
Scrutiny Committee will have capacity for an additional review group focused on a 
priority topic of the Committee’s choosing. 

6. It is recommended that members of the Committee suggest review group topics for 
consideration. The work of this additional review group would likely commence in 
the New Year.  

 

Budget Review Group 

7. Each year, the Scrutiny Committee ordinarily establishes a Budget Review Group to 
examine the Council’s budget proposals for the next financial year, which helps 
ensure good financial governance practices.  

8. It is recommended that the Committee agrees to establish a Budget Review Group 
for the 2022/23 municipal year to examine the Council’s budget proposals for 
2023/24 and that the proposed scope be presented at a future Scrutiny Committee 
meeting for agreement. 

9. Given the Finance & Performance Panel’s involvement in scrutinising the Council’s 
finances, it is recommended that the membership of the Budget Review Group 
should comprise the membership of the Finance & Performance Panel; including 
that the Chair of the Finance & Performance Panel should Chair the Budget Review 
Group: 

208



 Cllr James Fry (Chair); Cllr Chris Jarvis; Cllr Tom Landell Mills; Cllr Amar Latif  

 

Standing Panel Proposal: Climate & Environment  

10. At its meeting on 08 June 2022, it was suggested that a Climate & Environment 
Panel be established. It is recommended that the Committee agrees to establish a 
Climate & Environment Panel and that the remit, proposed business and meeting 
dates be presented at a future Scrutiny Committee meeting for agreement. 

11. If the Committee is minded to establish a Climate & Environment Panel, it will be 
required to agree a Chair (lead member). The Committee would also be required to 
invite nominations for membership from political groups, to be agreed at a future 
Scrutiny Committee meeting. It is recommended that a membership level of four is 
agreed. 

 

Agreeing the Draft Scope/Remit 

12. It is proposed that the draft scope/remit of review groups and standing panels will 
be presented at a future Scrutiny Committee meeting for agreement. 

 

Appointment of Members and Chair 

13. The rules around membership of standing panels and review groups are governed 
by the Scrutiny Operating Principles agreed by the Committee at the start of the 
municipal year. 

14. Standing panels and review groups will use the following cross-party guide for the 
appointment of members: 

4 members: 2 Labour, 1 Lib Dem, 1 Green 

6 members: 3 Labour, 2 Lib Dem, 1 Green 

15. Members of standing panels and review groups may be any non-executive 
member; they are not required to be members of the Scrutiny Committee or any of 
its panels. 

16. Although standing panel and review group membership is not required to be drawn 
from the Scrutiny Committee, the importance of the Chair’s role as a bridge 
between the standing panel/review group and the Committee means that it is 
preferable that they be a member of the Scrutiny Committee.  

 

Report author Alice Courtney 

Job title Committee & Member Services Manager 
(Interim Acting) 

Service area or department Law and Governance 

Telephone  01865 529834 

e-mail  acourtney@oxford.gov.uk  

 

209

mailto:acourtney@oxford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 13 July 2022 

Report of: Scrutiny Committee 

Title of Report:  Oxford Waterways Project Update 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To present Scrutiny Committee recommendations for 
Cabinet consideration and decision 

Key decision: 

Scrutiny Lead 
Member: 

No 

Councillor Dr Chris Smowton, Scrutiny Committee Chair 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Chewe Munkonge, Cabinet Member for Leisure 
and Parks  

Corporate Priority: Support Thriving Communities 
 

Policy Framework: Council Strategy 2020-24 

Recommendation: That the Cabinet states whether it agrees or disagrees 
with the recommendations in the body of this report. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A Draft Cabinet response to recommendations of the 
Scrutiny Committee 

 

Introduction and overview 

1. At its meeting on 08 June 2022, the Scrutiny Committee considered an update 
report on the progress made against the Scrutiny Committee’s previous 
recommendations in relation to the Oxford Waterways Project, which it made in 
November 2020. The Committee would like to thank Councillor Munkonge (Cabinet 
Member for Leisure and Parks), Mish Tullar (Head of Corporate Strategy) and 
Michael Woods (Oxford Waterways Co-ordinator) for attending the meeting to 
answer questions.  

Summary and recommendations 
 
2. The Oxford Waterways Co-ordinator introduced the report and highlighted that the 

project priorities had shifted because a number of health and safety issues had 
been identified and taken a high priority. He advised that an asset management 

211

Agenda Item 10



system was being established, but that it was difficult to determine riparian 
ownership.  

3. The Committee noted that parts of the waterways were deteriorating and there were 
issues around anti-social behaviour, bio-diversity and accessibility. It suggested that 
there was a need for the university, colleges and adjacent landowners to play a role 
in contributing to the improvement of the waterways and the Council should improve 
communication with those stakeholders and work with them on the Oxford 
Waterways Project. 

Recommendation 1: That the Council works with the university, colleges and 
adjacent landowners to encourage them to contribute to the Oxford 
Waterways Project, both in terms of financial and strategic contributions (e.g. 
considering how to utilise growth funding). 

4. The Committee requested details of the timeline for completion of the improvement 
works, particularly as the summer months usually saw an increase in usage of the 
waterways and there was a need to ensure safety for those entering and exiting the 
water. It suggested that communications should be produced to inform Councillors 
and residents of the projected timeline for completion. 

Recommendation 2: That the Council produces communications for 
Councillors and residents setting out the timeline for repairs to Waterways 
infrastructure. 

5. The Committee noted that the discharge of sewage into the waterways was a 
serious concern and Thames Water had accepted some responsibility. It was 
suggested that water quality data which the Council was already collecting should 
be used to lobby the Government and Environment Agency to hold Thames Water 
to account. 

 
Recommendation 3: That the Council uses appropriate data which it is already 
collecting to lobby the Government to ensure it is holding water regulators to 
account on matters of water quality.   
 

6. The Committee discussed issues relating to biodiversity along parts of the 
waterways and highlighted a need to ensure any work on the Oxford Waterways 
Project was joined-up with other work being undertaken by the Council related to 
wildlife and wetland habitats. 

 
Recommendation 4: That the Council ensures the work of the Oxford 
Waterways Project is aligned with other work related to wildlife and wetland. 
 

 

Report author Alice Courtney 

Job title Committee & Member Services Manager 
(Interim Acting) 

Service area or department Law and Governance 

Telephone  01865 529834 

e-mail  acourtney@oxford.gov.uk  

 

 

212

mailto:acourtney@oxford.gov.uk


 
 

Appendix A 
Draft Cabinet response to recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee 

 
The document sets out the draft response of the Cabinet Member to recommendations made by the Scrutiny Committee on 08 June 
2022 concerning the Oxford Waterways Project. The Cabinet is asked to amend and agree a formal response as appropriate.  
 

Recommendation Comment 

1) That the Council works with the university, colleges 
and adjacent landowners to encourage them to 
contribute to the Oxford Waterways Project, both in 
terms of financial and strategic contributions (e.g. 
considering how to utilise growth funding). 

 

2) That the Council produces communications for 
Councillors and residents setting out the timeline for 
repairs to Waterways infrastructure. 

 

3) That the Council uses appropriate data which it is 
already collecting to lobby the Government to ensure 
it is holding water regulators to account on matters of 
water quality. 

 

4) That the Council ensures the work of the Oxford 
Waterways Project is aligned with other work related 
to wildlife and wetland. 

 

 

213



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Appendix A 
Draft Cabinet response to recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee 

 
The document sets out the draft response of the Cabinet Member to recommendations made by the Scrutiny Committee on 08 June 
2022 concerning Oxford’s Economic Strategy. The Cabinet is asked to amend and agree a formal response as appropriate.  
 

Recommendation Comment 

1) That the Council seeks to more effectively engage 
with diverse communities as part of future 
consultation exercises, with a focus on using different 
methods of engagement to get responses from a 
wider demographic – and in particular increased 
responses from minoritised groups and young people.  
 

This feedback will be shared with the Officers advising on consultations 
to consider the best approach. We will consider how best to use the 
Resident’s Panel to ensure a more diverse response in future. The 
resident’s panel was sent the consultation in the knowledge it is 
representative of Oxford’s population so there was a more diverse 
input into the consultation.  Where new projects come forward from the 
OES that require engagement or consultation, targeted methods will be 
employed to ensure a broad response from minoritised groups and 
young people. 
 
Officers already engage with a range of employers regarding their 
workforce’s needs, and we are working to further increase the diversity 
of our business networks. Through officers in Communities teams we 
identify community needs that they raise based on their resident 
engagement, and our engagement with members also provides us with 
valuable feedback from local communities. We also engage with 
communities when consulting on capital projects that are aligned with 
the OES and CCAP. 

2) That the Council clarifies the definition of affordable 
housing being used within Oxford’s Economic 
Strategy. 

 

The definition included in the OES will align with that in Oxford Local 
Plan 2036. See Glossary P.216 
 
 

3) That the Council seeks to have Trade Union 
representation on the Economic Growth Steering 
Board. 

Yes, this proposal is helpful as part of the wider diversification put 
forward in the OES and will be put to the Oxford Economic Growth 
Steering Board 

4) That the Council makes explicit reference to Trade This will be included in the redrafted OES on Page 24/5 of the Delivery 

215

A
genda Item

 11



Unions within Oxford’s Economic Strategy. Plan 

5) That the Council makes reference to the Third Sector 
within Oxford’s Economic Strategy and ensures a 
bigger focus on the Third Sector’s contribution to the 
local economy. 

References to the third and social enterprise sectors are made 
throughout in the existing draft (p 3, 4, 8, 9, 16, 25, 33, 35, 39, 41, 48, 
53 and 56). There are specific features on the social and third sectors 
on 33 and 35. There is a specific guiding principle under the Inclusive 
Economy pillar that states the OES should ‘Support social enterprise, 
cooperative businesses and civil society sectors, and pursue a more 
prominent role in the city’s future economy.’ 
 
Officers will look for additional ways to further emphasise the 
importance of the sector’s contribution in the Foreword, Executive 
Summary, and early sections of the document.   

6) That the Council includes reference to biodiversity 
under the ‘environmental success factor’ outlined in 
Oxford’s Economic Strategy. 

The Local Plan seeks Bio-diversity net gain on major developments. 
There will be a metric in the Annual Monitoring Report for this related to 
our Environmental Policy. 

7) That the Council develops an additional Key 
Performance Indicator ratio based on the number of 
working age people living in Oxford and number of 
jobs in the City for inclusion in Oxford’s Economic 
Strategy. 

This is already reported annually by NOMIS as ‘Job Density’. Job 
density is defined as the number of jobs in an area divided by the 
resident population aged 16-64 in that area. For example, a jobs 
density of 1.0 would mean that there is one job for every resident aged 
16-64. Oxford’s job density dropped from 1.33 to 1.26 between 2019 
and 2020. Cities typically have higher job density than rural areas for 
example, and are typically higher than regional and national averages. 
Oxford is the place of employment for a much larger area than its own 
boundaries and this will remain the case. All cities are centres of 
employment and in Oxfordshire, a very rural county, this is particularly 
the case.  

8) That the Council seeks to develop a clearer way of 
demonstrating how competing priorities (economic vs. 
social and environmental) have been assessed. 

Officers will consider the best approach to assessing the balance and 
synergies across each priority. We already do this for example, when 
developing the business case for capital projects. 

9) That the Council makes explicit reference to Brexit 
and the challenges it brings within Oxford’s Economic 
Strategy. 

Whilst it is already mentioned on page 3 and 39, it is accepted Brexit’s 
impacts should be emphasised and detailed further in the early 
sections on why the OES is needed and the issues faced. 

 

216



 
 

Appendix A 
Draft Cabinet response to recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee 

 
The document sets out the draft response of the Cabinet Member to recommendations made by the Scrutiny Committee on 08 June 
2022 concerning the City Centre Action Plan. The Cabinet is asked to amend and agree a formal response as appropriate.  
 

Recommendation Comment 

1) That the Council seeks to more effectively engage 
with diverse communities as part of future 
consultation exercises, with a focus on using different 
methods of engagement to get responses from a 
wider demographic – and in particular increased 
responses from minoritised groups and young people.  

 

This feedback will be shared with the Officers advising on consultations 
to consider the best approach. We will consider how best to use the 
Resident’s Panel to ensure a more diverse response in future. The 
resident’s panel was sent the consultation in the knowledge it is 
representative of Oxford’s population. Where new projects come forward 
from the CCAP that require engagement or consultation, targeted 
methods will be employed to ensure a broad response from minoritised 
groups and young people. 
 
Officers already engage with employers regarding their workforce’s 
needs, and through officers in Communities teams regarding what can 
be learnt from their resident engagement. We also engage with 
communities when consulting on capital projects that are aligned with 
the OES and CCAP. 

2) That the Council notes the diversity of consultation 
responses received in relation to the City Centre 
Action Plan going forward and uses the intelligence to 
adapt the Plan to ensure it reflects that diversity. 

Officers will utilise the diverse responses as the plan is adapted and also 
seek ongoing resident and business input on priorities as appropriate. 

3) That the Council seeks to have diverse and 
representative annual resident engagement. 

Officers will engage annually with groups of residents re the CCAP’s 
priorities 

4) That the Council makes reference to additional forms 
of engagement undertaken outside of formal 
consultation exercises within the consultation report. 

Officers will refer to these more specifically. Groups such as the 
Inclusive Transport and Movement Group and others such as Talk of the 
Town have been mentioned. Officers already engage with city centre 
employers regarding their workforce’s needs, and through officers in 
Communities teams regarding what can be learnt from their resident 
engagement. We also do and will engage with communities when 

217



consulting on capital projects that are aligned with the OES and CCAP. 

 

218


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Work Plan and Forward Plan
	Work Plan

	6 Oxford City Council Safeguarding Report
	770756 - Appendix 1 Final 2022-2023 Safeguarding Action Plan
	770757 - Appendix 2 OSCB_Structure Chart

	7 Oxford City Council's Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Oxford EV Infra Strategy (OxEVIS)  V3.0
	Appendix 2 - Risk Register
	Risk Log
	Risk Matrix

	Appendix 3 - EqIA
	Appendix 4 - OEVIS
	Executive summary
	1.1.  Policies at a glance

	2. Introduction and context
	2.1. Introduction
	2.1.1. Fossil fuels are the principal source of carbon emissions driving the anthropogenic climate change that will create devastating impacts for our living world. Recognising the critical importance of keeping global warming to 1.5 degrees C in line...
	2.1.2. Oxfordshire is a place of real innovation – the county is home to Europe’s largest concentration of multi-million-pound science research facilities, underpinning our leading position in advanced engineering and manufacturing, energy systems, an...
	2.1.3. Oxfordshire is home to the University of Oxford, the global number one ranked university and Oxford Brookes University, one of the UK’s leading modern universities. Oxford University’s School of Geography and the Environment and Department of E...
	2.1.4. Williams Advanced Engineering, based in Oxfordshire, create high-performance batteries in the Formula E programme, at the cutting edge of battery performance and management. Oxford is home to the BMW mini plant, where the all-electric MINI is b...
	2.1.5. Drawing on partnerships with Oxford’s academic institutions and technology firms Oxfordshire is delivering projects at the cutting edge of zero emissions mobilities, hosting world-firsts for battery storage for EV charging, and EV infrastructur...
	2.1.6. Oxfordshire is also leading the country in policy making to reduce urban transport emissions; in the pipeline is the UK’s first Zero Emission Zone in Oxford from 2021, championed by Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council.
	2.1.7. The Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure strategy has been a true collaborative piece of work between the County, City and District Councils. It has taken the lessons learnt from all these, and other, innovative EV charging projects, to ...
	2.2. What is the Oxfordshire EV Infrastructure Strategy about?
	2.2.1. Clean Growth is at the heart of the UK Industrial strategy, and the government sees growth in the EV industry as essential to the UK’s clean industrial future and National Infrastructure Strategy . The Road to Zero strategy sets out the governm...
	2.2.2. In this document we use the term EV to refer to all ‘plug-in’ vehicles including pure Battery Electric Vehicles (BEVs), Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles, and Extended Range Electric Vehicles (REEVs) as all require charging to travel using their...
	2.2.3. Car use in Oxfordshire is high; over 4 billion miles were travelled by car or taxi in Oxfordshire in 2019 . Road transport emissions contribute around 33% of carbon emissions nationally   and generate significant issues for air quality; in 2019...
	2.2.4. The current Connecting Oxfordshire  Local Transport Plan 4 shapes our transport policy and sets out Oxfordshire County Council’s policy and strategy for developing the transport system in Oxfordshire to 2031. It has been developed with these ov...
	 To support jobs and housing growth and economic vitality;
	 To reduce transport emissions and meet our obligations to Government;
	 To protect, and where possible enhance Oxfordshire’s environment and improve quality of life;
	 To improve public health, air quality, safety and individual wellbeing.
	2.2.5. The Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy (OEVIS) has strong ties with the Oxfordshire Energy Strategy  which seeks to integrate EVs into a smart and zero carbon energy infrastructure, and the Oxfordshire 2050 Plan to promote fut...
	2.2.6. The OEVIS has further strong links with the development of the emerging Connecting Oxfordshire Local Transport and Connectivity Plan, which sets out a vision for a net-zero Oxfordshire transport system that enables the county to thrive as one o...
	2.2.7. Oxfordshire’s Councils have an opportunity to encourage uptake of EVs by working together to enable the development of a high quality EV charging network. The Oxfordshire EV Infrastructure Strategy draws on significant expertise and experience ...
	2.2.8. Through our Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy, we identify:
	 The opportunities and challenges for the EV charging network in Oxfordshire
	 The likely uptake of EVs across Oxfordshire and the centres of demand for EV charging in Oxfordshire
	 How we will contribute to and accelerate local deployment of EV charging infrastructure to ensure high quality EV charging is accessible in our county
	 A framework of EV charging options for residents without access to private off-road parking
	 Opportunities to work with landowners and businesses to further increase EV charging provision
	 Opportunities to further support the decarbonisation of road transport and manage the impact of EV charging on the grid.
	 How we will increase awareness of public EV charging infrastructure and promote uptake of EVs
	2.2.9. The strategy will inform our operational policies and processes, to ensure that EV charging is accessible and convenient in Oxfordshire. It will set a foundation for project development, establish a consistent approach to delivering and enablin...
	2.3. Our vision and objectives
	2.3.1. Our vision for EV charging in Oxfordshire is:
	 Residents, businesses and visitors in Oxfordshire will be confident they can recharge EVs conveniently, and in a manner appropriate for their needs.
	 Oxfordshire’s EV charging provision will develop to meet the needs of users now and in the future, and in doing so support Oxfordshire’s transition to decarbonising transport and improving air quality.
	2.3.2. The OEVIS will provide an operational approach to enabling and deploying charging infrastructure in Oxfordshire. In the short-term (2020-2025), our objectives are to:
	 Enable and deliver public EV charging across Oxfordshire
	 Adopt a common approach to managing EV charging in Council car parks
	 Enable residents without access to private off-road parking to access a range of options for EV charging
	 Encourage new developments to include high quality EV charging infrastructure
	 Set standards for the quality of public EV charging in Oxfordshire which supports development of a network which is high quality, open and accessible
	2.4. The development of the Oxfordshire EV Infrastructure Strategy
	2.4.1. This strategy has been developed collaboratively with significant subject matter expert input from each of Oxfordshire’s five District and City Councils, and a steering board of members from each. We have also engaged with external stakeholder ...
	2.5. The scope of the Oxfordshire EV Infrastructure Strategy
	2.5.1. This strategy covers the administrative area of Oxfordshire County Council and includes the administrative areas of each of the five District Councils.  It focusses on EV charging for cars, car-based vans, and taxis (hackney carriage and privat...
	 Oxfordshire residents
	 Local businesses, their employees, taxis, logistics operations and car clubs
	 Visitors to Oxfordshire
	2.5.2. The strategy does not cover EV charging for buses or large goods and service vehicles.  Large EVs such as buses and medium/large trucks are still in development, and charging requirements are currently uncertain. At the time of writing, Oxford’...
	2.6. Delivering the strategy
	2.6.1. This strategy includes many measures which will require dedicated resourcing, funding and the collaboration of external partners to complete delivery. Key actions for delivery are outlined under each policy. While budgets are constrained and fu...

	3. EV charging background
	3.1. Types of EV charging infrastructure
	3.1.1. EV charging infrastructure can be broadly split into 4 types: slow, fast, rapid and ultra-rapid, based on power output and speed of charging. Each have factors which make them suitable for different charging settings and use cases; home, workpl...
	 Slow: up to 3kW AC – between 6-12 hours to fully charge a battery EV, less for a plug-in hybrid
	 Fast: 7 to 22kW AC power outputs, and typically fully charge a battery EV in 3-4 hours. Frequently these are ‘smart’ chargers; able to communicate with a CPMS or back office to manage time and rate of charging
	 Rapid: Typically, rapid AC chargers are rated at 43kW, while rapid DC are typically 50kW. Will typically charge a BEV to 80% in around 30-40 minutes.
	 Ultra-rapid: Superchargers and high-powered charging at 100-350kW DC are becoming increasingly relevant for battery EV drivers, though current EV models may be limited in the charging power they can accept. Will typically charge an EV to 80% in 15 t...
	3.1.2. Further details on types of EV charging and where they are most suitably deployed can be found in Annex 3: EV charging standards.
	Chargers and Chargepoints
	3.1.3. In this document we refer to an EV charging unit as an EV charger. EV chargers may have one or more sockets which allow connection to an EV to charge. These sockets are referred to in this document as EV chargepoints.
	3.2. Challenges and opportunities for EV charging
	3.2.1. In general, EVs and the charging infrastructure needed to support them present a series of challenges and opportunities to EV drivers and landowners. As local authorities, the County and District Councils can work together to support EV growth.
	3.2.2. Table 1 summarises factors which were considered in developing our county-wide EV Infrastructure Strategy.

	4. This is Oxfordshire
	4.1. EV uptake in Oxfordshire
	4.1.1. To support the drive to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2050, the UK government has set out its ambitions to end the sale of new petrol and diesel cars by 2030, bringing the end date forward by 10 years from that proposed in the Road to Zero.
	4.1.2. At the end of August 2020, there were 4,381 ultra-low emissions vehicles (ULEVs)  in Oxfordshire , 2,200 of which were BEVs. Socio-economic factors mean Oxfordshire is likely to have faster growth in EV sales than the national average; research...
	4.2. Current EV charging provision
	4.2.1. Public EV charging infrastructure in Oxfordshire is currently limited and patchy, with most centred in urban areas and little provision in smaller market towns or more rural areas. While the network across the UK is growing rapidly, Oxfordshire...
	4.2.2. The county has 448 public EV chargepoints, distributed over 123 charging sites. Numbers of chargers at sites range from a single chargepoint to over 40, and sites may contain chargepoints of different speeds.
	4.2.3. Large areas of the county have little or no public EV charging provision. Oxford City Council’s administrative area is the most densely covered, reflecting the work Oxford City Council undertook, in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council, ...
	4.2.4. There are EV chargers in only 8 of Oxfordshire’s 98 local authority owned and managed public car parks, with the remaining chargers hosted by commercial entities; including supermarkets and retail parks, hotels and car dealerships.
	4.2.5. Public rapid charging is dispersed around the county, with four charging sites at service stations adjacent strategic road network, and the remaining rapid charging sites again found at hotels and car dealerships. Ultra-Rapid charging is limite...
	4.3. The Oxford Zero Emission Zone
	4.3.1. Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council are proposing to create a Zero Emission Zone (ZEZ) pilot in Oxford city centre, starting in August 2021, and based on a road user charging scheme. This pilot, and any future implementation and ...
	4.4. Taxis: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles
	4.4.1. In addition to the requirements for vehicles travelling in Oxford’s Zero Emission Zone, from 2022 all newly licensed Hackney Carriage Vehicles licenced by Oxford City Council must be Ultra Low Emissions Taxis (ULEVs) meeting the UK government’s...
	4.5. Social inclusion
	4.5.1. While many areas of Oxfordshire are affluent, and likely to be among the first to see early mass adoption of EVs, there are significant areas of Oxfordshire where income is low. Lower income households are often disproportionately affected by p...
	4.5.2. While the Councils are limited in the actions they can take to support low income households with the purchase of EVs, action can be taken to ensure equitable access to EV charging. Car club vehicles may also provide a more affordable alternati...
	4.6. On-street parking
	4.6.1. Over 34% of households in Oxfordshire are unlikely to have private off-road parking, and as such have limited or no access to home charging. Not everyone without off-road parking has a vehicle, but there are indications that around 25% of all c...

	5. Where are chargers needed first?
	5.1. Analysing demand
	5.1.1. While most EV charging is done at home (around 80%) , a network of public chargers is essential for drivers who do high mileage, travel long distances and/or have no access to chargers at home or work.  The UK is home to around 19,500 public ch...
	5.1.2. Chargers must be located in areas which are convenient to drivers, and have the space, energy and network connections to make installations feasible. In this section we examine where demand is likely to grow fastest, and where support is needed...
	5.1.3. Analysis of likely centres of EV adoption as uptake in Oxfordshire moves from ‘early adoption’ to ‘early mass adoption’ has been carried out using demographic characterisations of people likely to be in these groups across Oxfordshire, and comb...
	5.1.4. The outputs show dense areas of likely uptake in Bicester, the North and West of Oxford, and larger market towns such as Abingdon, Didcot and Henley. Likely uptake in and around Banbury is more diffuse, and further investigation may be required...
	5.1.5. When EV uptake hotspots are overlaid with areas of high on-street parking, the councils can begin to identify key areas for early action on EV charging infrastructure (Figure 6).
	5.1.6. More detailed heatmaps of EV uptake hotspots for each of the districts and key towns can be seen in Annex 4: Geospatial Analysis.
	5.2. The Councils’ influence (where can we act?)
	5.2.1. The Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy will focus on the measures and policies the Councils can either carry out directly or influence:
	 Direct control – measures to improve EV infrastructure provision on the Council’s own estate defined as the Council's own operational buildings or at Council owned or managed public parking, and through the procurement or licensing of EV charging in...
	5.2.2. The Councils also have extensive direct and indirect spheres of influence:
	 Direct influence – measures that will have a direct impact on the EV infrastructure provided by others through planning and infrastructure policies;
	 Wider influence – through partnerships, advice, lobbying and leadership.
	5.2.3. Viewing the challenges for EV charging infrastructure through these three lenses gives us an indication of what actions the Councils can take, how they can be prioritised, and what impact they are likely to have on the development of EV chargin...

	6. Quantity of EV charging
	6.1. Targets for EV charging in Oxfordshire
	6.1.1. Predicting the absolute number of EV chargers that will be needed in the future is highly complex; rapidly changing vehicle and charging technologies, economic factors and dependence on public behaviour change means there is a great deal of unc...
	6.1.2. A European directive  on the deployment of alternative fuels infrastructure recommended in 2014 that “the appropriate average number of recharging points should be equivalent to at least one recharging point per 10 cars”. This ratio applies to ...
	6.1.3. This simple metric does not differentiate between the different speeds of chargers, or how accessible they are. A rapid 50kW charger may serve 4 to 5 times the number of EVs in a day that a standard 3-7kW charger can, and a charger which is ope...
	6.1.4. With the current public EV charging provision providing the equivalent of approximately 1,464 3-7kW chargepoints, and the pipeline of the Council’s EV charging projects planned over the next two years providing the equivalent of over 900 3-7kW ...
	Policy EVI 1: The Councils will collaborate to enable and encourage deployment of public EV chargepoints in Oxfordshire towards meeting predicted demand by 2025 in line with national targets and with reference to European directives.

	6.2. Funding public EV chargers
	6.2.1. EV charging is a developing market, and business models for successful operation of charging networks are evolving rapidly.
	6.2.2. The costs of installing and operating EV charging equipment require both upfront capital and ongoing revenue funding. The bulk of capital funding is spent in the connection of the EV charger to the energy network, and remains fairly static, whi...
	6.2.3. Local authorities have taken various approaches to the funding and ownership of EV charging infrastructure. During the first wave of infrastructure deployment, several authorities, including Bristol City Council and Transport for London, invest...
	6.2.4. A financial model developed for the Councils, based on owning and operating EV charging in house, demonstrates that in car parks Councils could reach breakeven on operating costs for fast chargers after 4 years (including potential loss of inco...
	6.2.5. The high cost of installing and managing EV charging equipment in house means that it is unlikely that Councils will be able to fund this without ongoing government funding and private investment.
	6.2.6. CPOs frequently offer investment via a concession model, whereby local authorities can ‘host’ chargers operated and managed by the CPO at little or no cost to the local authority, while revenue from charging is retained by the operator or share...
	6.2.7. In instances where usage and turnover of EV chargers are low, particularly on-street EV charging in residential areas, the business case for operators is more challenging. The government’s On-Street Residential Chargepoint Scheme (ORCS) provide...
	6.2.8. This may lead to challenges for Councils in encouraging CPOs to install in less economically viable areas without funding aspects of operation and maintenance, or entering into very long agreements, which limits their ability to request charger...
	6.2.9. The economics for on-street residential charging will continue to be challenging until the tipping point for EV adoption is closer, and analysis of and improvements in deployment costs, commercial models and actual asset utilisation can be asse...
	6.2.10. In order to facilitate deployment of a high quality EV charger network for Oxfordshire, we need to continue to be at the forefront of working with the private sector and exploring funding models for EV charging while the market is still evolvi...
	Policy EVI 2: The Councils will collaborate to seek funding for EV infrastructure and support the development of a self-sustaining EV charging network for Oxfordshire which relies less heavily on continuing public finance support in the future and min...


	7. Delivering EV charging
	7.1. Public charging in local authority car parks
	7.1.1. Oxfordshire’s local authorities have direct control of over 90 off-road car parks and ‘Park and Ride’ sites located across the county, in addition to other car parking at leisure and community centres. The County Council also manages larger are...
	7.1.2. Car parks controlled by the six local authorities provide over 14,000 car parking spaces to local residents, businesses, visitors and travellers in Oxfordshire. As discussed in section 6.1, to meet destination charging demand from the expected ...
	7.1.3. Charging in public car parks and park and ride sites can be a valuable resource for users charging their vehicles while visiting other amenities in the local area – known as destination charging - but can also have great value for local residen...
	7.1.4. Oxfordshire’s local authorities therefore have an opportunity to make a large contribution to the public EV charging network by introducing EV charging into their own public car parks and park and ride sites.
	7.1.5. If 7.5% of Oxfordshire’s local authority-controlled car park spaces were provided with EV charging, this would total over 1100 spaces dedicated to EV charging. If the chargers provided were all 7-22kW ‘fast’ chargers or greater, this would meet...
	7.1.6. Oxfordshire’s Councils are already actively deploying EV charging in their car parks across the county. Here we show how many charging spaces will be made available. The Councils’ two major car park based EV charging projects will enable the Co...
	Policy EVI 3: The Councils will aspire to reach or exceed a target of converting 7.5% of local authority managed public car park spaces, to fast or rapid EV charging by 2025.
	This target will apply across each Council’s entire parking estate to allow for challenges in very small or isolated car parks, and include some of Oxfordshire County Council’s ‘car park style’ on-road public car parking where appropriate.

	7.1.7. In order to ensure that EV drivers have a consistent and positive experience of using EV chargers, the Councils also have the opportunity to align policies for the management and deployment of EV charging at their sites.
	7.1.8. EV drivers frequently report that EV chargers are blocked by petrol or diesel cars inappropriately using EV charging bays (known as ICE-ing). Drivers also report frustration at finding EV charging bays blocked by EVs which have finished chargin...
	Policy EVI 4: The Councils will manage parking bays for EV charging in local authority car parks to encourage both destination and overnight EV charging and for all types of EV ownership, including private vehicles, shared or car club vehicles, and bu...

	7.2. Visitor and workplace charging at Council sites
	7.2.1. The Councils have direct control over the provision of EV charging at their own premises, including workplace parking at Council offices. This section addresses the Councils’ approach to providing workplace charging for visitors and staff. This...
	7.2.2. Commuter traffic contributes significantly to carbon and NOx emissions in Oxfordshire, as well as generating significant issues of congestion around major centres of employment. A key aim for the Oxfordshire Local Transport and Connectivity Pla...
	7.2.3. The Councils are each encouraging the reduction of workplace parking and actively promoting the use of public and active transport for staff and visitors.  Parking is limited at many Council sites, in particular those in Oxford. Where public an...
	7.2.4. The Government’s Workplace Charging Scheme provides a grant to support charging infrastructure at workplaces of 75% of the purchase and installation costs of a charger capped at a maximum of £350 per socket (a maximum of 40 sockets per organisa...
	7.2.5. Where feasible, workplace charging installed at Council premises could also act as EV charging hubs if accessible to the public overnight – this is being considered at WODCs Council premises as part of the Park and Charge project. In this case,...
	Policy EVI 5: The Councils will support staff and visitors to access electric vehicle charging at Council premises where appropriate

	7.3. Charging without off-road parking
	7.3.1. As shown in section 4.6, many households in Oxfordshire have no access to private off-road parking, and subsequently have limited or no access to home charging. This is a significant barrier to EV uptake for many households.
	7.3.2. Without support, some drivers may attempt their own fixes; we have seen examples of EV drivers trailing cables across the public footway to charge vehicles from their homes. This presents a significant trip hazard, is detrimental to inclusive m...
	7.3.3. Providing safe alternative access to EV charging for people who must park their car on the street is therefore critical to the UK’s transition to EVs, and the protection of inclusive mobility for road users with additional needs.
	7.3.4. Oxfordshire County Council, as the local highways authority, recognises the need to enable safe access to EV charging for residents who must park their car on the public highway, and will seek to enable the market to provide charging access to ...
	7.3.5. Oxford and Oxfordshire have led the UK in attempting to address this challenge; the Go Ultra Low Oxford Project led by Oxford City Council in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council was a world first, piloting technical solutions to the cha...
	7.3.6. Experience from these and other Oxfordshire projects provides valuable learning, which has been instrumental in designing the approach described in this strategy. Table 4 summarises performance of different charging options for those who park o...
	7.3.7. Key learnings from the Go Ultra Low Oxford On-street (O-GULO) project demonstrate that installing electrical on-street EV charging infrastructure is complex, time consuming and costly to install and manage. Costly electrical/data connections an...
	7.3.8. Our learnings give a strong indication that where it is possible to avoid on-street electrical infrastructure by creating off-road fast charging hubs, this is desirable, and can support better use of infrastructure and a stronger case to attrac...
	7.3.9. The potential to provide safe access to charge an EV with a home charger using a ‘cable gully’ as piloted in the O-GULO project may help us to support on-street EV charging at mass scale, simply and cost effectively.
	7.3.10. The Councils therefore consider that in the framework of options for supporting drivers without off-street parking, these opportunities are key priorities for deployment (Figure 8). The Councils also recognise that in some cases, there may be ...
	 Lack of suitable land for off-road EV charging hubs in the local area
	 Disability status which would preclude an individual user from accessing an off-road charging hub.
	7.3.11. A recent study by specialists in geo-spatial mapping indicates that where on-street EV charging is deployed, appropriate siting in areas of high need can reduce the number of on-street EV chargers required . Funding for the Ox Gul-e project (F...
	Policy EVI 6: Recognising that lack of off-road parking may be a significant barrier to EV take-up, Oxfordshire County Council will promote a hierarchy of solutions to EV charging for residents, businesses and shared vehicles without access to off-roa...


	8. Using the planning system
	8.1. EV charging in new developments
	8.1.1. Local planning policies in England are guided by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  which plays an important role in future proofing new developments. The planning system should help to shape places in ways that contribute to radica...
	“If setting local parking standards for residential and non-residential development, policies should take into account: a) the accessibility of the development; b) the type, mix and use of development; c) the availability of and opportunities for publ...
	8.1.2.  And in 110.e that applications for development should:
	“be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations”
	8.1.3. Through the planning system, the Councils have the opportunity to use their direct influence on developments to improve provision of EV charging via strategic infrastructure and transport planning, local plans, guidance and conditions.
	8.1.4. The Oxfordshire District Councils currently have a variety of planning policy requirements covering climate change, air quality and zero and ultra-low emission transport. All the District Councils include statements supportive of sustainable tr...
	8.1.5. South Oxfordshire District Council’s recently adopted Local Plan 2035 (Policy Trans 5) requires proposals for all types of development to be designed to enable the charging of plug-in and low emission vehicles and to provide facilities to suppo...
	8.1.6. The government has consulted on proposed changes to the English Building Regulations regarding EV charging provision in new developments, which it is believed will serve as the national minimum acceptable standard. Further details of the propos...
	8.1.7. The quantity of EV charging proposed by the government fall below those set locally by Oxford City Council and other local authorities in the UK in their local plans. The Councils have a desire to stretch beyond these base standards to ensure n...
	8.1.8. The Councils recognise that the quality of EV charging for residents and businesses in Oxfordshire is also critically important for EV charging infrastructure to function as desired. In section we set out the Councils’ ambitions for a high qual...
	8.1.9. In some cases, developers may lack the resourcing or expertise to understand how EV charging could be implemented or funded in communal car parks. The problem may be particularly acute for registered social landlords, where budgets are constrai...
	8.1.10. In order to ensure that new developments also reach these standards consistently across Oxfordshire, it is vital to provide developers and planning officers and developers with clear and concise information on best practice and the quality sta...
	8.1.11. The policies below set out the Councils’ ambitions to stretch beyond the Governments proposed changes to the English Buildings Regulations, align planning policy requirements for EV charging infrastructure in local plans, and support the local...
	Policy EVI 7: The Councils will seek to include statements and policies supportive of EV charging infrastructure and, where appropriate, references to the Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy in their planning standards and guidance.
	Policy EVI 8: The Councils will benchmark nationally, and between themselves, each seeking to set minimum standards for the quantity of EV charging to be provided in developments in their planning requirements.
	The standards set will seek to meet or exceed those set in the Oxford City Council Local Plan (2016-2036) which state that;
	 Where parking is to be provided, planning permission will only be granted for developments if:
	o Provision is made for EV charging points for each residential unit with an allocated parking space; and
	o Non-allocated spaces are provided with at least 25% (with a minimum of 2) having electric charging points installed.
	 Planning permission will only be granted for non-residential development that includes parking spaces if a minimum of 25% of the spaces are provided with electric charging points.
	Policy EVI 9: The Councils will seek to provide support and guidance on EV charging provision to Town and Parish Councils, and other groups writing Neighbourhood Plans

	8.2. EV charging in historic areas
	8.2.1. Installing an EV charger at an existing private property or in car parks, is generally classed as permitted development under the General Permitted Development Order . For on-street parking, the General Permitted Development Order grants planni...
	8.2.2. These permitted development rights can be suspended in designated conservation areas by means of an Article 4 Direction, and do not apply in the curtilage of a listed building or Scheduled Monument. Those wishing to install an EV charger at a l...
	 Residents wishing to install home EV chargers
	 The deployment of on-street EV charging infrastructure, and EV charging in public car parks.
	8.2.3. There are no current Article 4 directions specific to EV chargers in conservation areas in Oxfordshire. However, management of street furniture is noted as an important factor in several of Oxfordshire’s conservation areas. As charger infrastru...
	Policy EVI 10: In order to manage the impact of EV chargers without restricting access to EV charging, the Councils will define and communicate the design features of EV chargers which will have the most positive impact on the character of our cities ...


	9. Influencing others
	9.1. Commercial car parks
	9.1.1. As identified in section 7.1, the have a pipeline of planned EV charging projects, and  will commit to convert 7.5% of the county’s 14,000 local authority owned/managed off-road car park spaces to EV charging spaces with 7-22kW chargers. This w...
	9.1.2. Using the EU recommended ratio of chargers as a benchmark, we can see that to meet the predicted demand for over owners and managers of other car parks also need to deliver EV charging.
	9.1.3. Public car parking at large retailers, supermarkets, shopping centres and transport hubs such as railway stations present an opportunity to provide EV charging for users of these amenities, and like car parks owned by local authorities, could p...
	9.1.4. The Councils also have established relationships with organisations such as OXLEP, the Low Carbon Hub and Oxfordshire Greentech, which could be leveraged to encourage workplace EV charging in Oxford and more widely across Oxfordshire. The latte...
	9.1.5. Funding opportunities from the government may enable future projects to take place in partnership with businesses and landowners which could support resourcing at the Councils to deliver this engagement and the potential projects.
	9.1.6. EV charging provided by commercial organisations for their customers is a useful step towards supporting those drivers who already have access to a charger at home, but significantly greater benefits could be realised if those charger assets we...
	9.1.7. As discussed in section 7, the Park and Charge project is piloting the dual use of EV charging hubs in car parks for both destination charging and as overnight EV charging hubs, providing evidence which could help to influence owners or manager...
	Policy EVI 11: The Councils will seek opportunities to encourage organisations, businesses and other owners of commercial public and customer car parks to deploy public EV charging infrastructure where it is appropriate

	9.2. Communal residential car parks
	9.2.1. Existing high-density housing developments often have communal parking areas for residents. These are usually separated from individual households, preventing residents installing home EV chargers or accessing the governments home charging gran...
	9.2.2. As described in section 4.5, car clubs offer an opportunity to give wider access to clean vehicles, and reduce private car ownership in residential areas, which applies equally to both new and existing development.
	9.2.3. Through our established relationships with OXLEP, the Low Carbon Hub, Oxfordshire Greentech and others, the Councils could encourage and signpost owners and managers of housing stock to available and affordable options to support tenants and le...
	9.2.4. Funding opportunities from the government may also enable future projects to take place in partnership with owners and managers of housing stock which could support resourcing at the Councils to deliver this engagement and potential future proj...
	Policy EVI 12: The Councils will explore opportunities to encourage owners and managers of housing stock of all types of tenure to deploy EV charging infrastructure for residents where it is appropriate

	9.3. Workplace & business charging
	9.3.1. As discussed in section 7.2, workplace EV charging, provided where public and active transport is not an option, can support commuters to switch to EVs. Workplace charging can also support businesses to switch their fleets to EVs.
	9.3.2. The Councils have committed to take steps to support EV charging for visitors and staff at their own sites, but as some Councils provide very limited parking for staff, other employers across Oxfordshire must act on commuter emissions.
	9.3.3. In order to further support reduction in commuter transport emissions, the Councils can act to encourage employers across Oxfordshire who provide workplace parking to offer EV charging for their staff and visitors; Workplace charging can suppor...
	9.3.4. Oxford is the largest employment centre in Oxfordshire, attracting 45,000 private cars to the morning rush hour daily . As part of Connecting Oxfordshire, Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council are working together to develop and im...
	9.3.5. The Oxfordshire County and Oxford City Councils are currently developing a business case required to assess the full impacts of the proposals.  Extensive public and stakeholder engagement and consultation is also planned to help develop and ref...
	9.3.6. As described above in section 9.1, the Councils also have relationships with organisations such who are well equipped to encourage and provide support for businesses wishing to install EV charging for staff and visitors.
	Policy EVI 13: The Councils will explore opportunities to encourage uptake of EV charging at workplaces and business premises where it is appropriate

	9.4. Rapid charging on the strategic road network
	9.4.1. The UK has one of the largest, and most comprehensive rapid networks in Europe including more than 3,500 rapid chargers  , . The government wants to encourage and leverage private sector investment to build and operate a self-sustaining public ...
	9.4.2. Highways England are the responsible authority for managing the deployment of rapid EV charging at sites on the strategic road network, including Oxfordshire’s strategic road network such as the A34 and M40. The organisation has recently been a...
	9.4.3. However, there are still few public rapid or ultra-rapid chargers at sites on the strategic road network in Oxfordshire: as shown in section 4.2, only 8 are located at service or fuel stations close to major roads in the county.
	9.4.4. Oxford City Council are developing a rapid and ultra-rapid charging hub at the Redbridge Park and Ride site, close to the A34 in Oxford, which will significantly boost access to high-speed EV charging for users in the county travelling via Oxfo...
	9.4.5. Oxfordshire County Council has an established relationship with Highways England as the highway authority for the A34 and M40 in Oxfordshire, and with the Office for Low Emission Vehicles, and may be able to make the case for encourage deployme...
	9.4.6. As the Highway authority for Oxfordshire, Oxfordshire County Council also has responsibility for highways land assets, including important link roads across the county and their associated lay-bys. Some of these lay-bys are large and underutili...
	Policy EVI 14: The Councils will seek to improve the availability of rapid and ultra-rapid EV charging on and near the strategic road network and important link roads across Oxfordshire


	10. Securing open, accessible and reliable EV charging
	10.1. National legislation, standards and quality challenges
	10.1.1. National and European standards give minimum quality and safety standards for EV chargers, their installation and the interface with customers.
	10.1.2. The standards are set out in European and UK legislation, regulations and standards, and are adhered to by professional manufacturers, installers and operators of EV charging infrastructure. Table 6  gives a high-level description of some of t...
	10.1.3. Any chargers funded by OLEV On-street Residential Charging Scheme (ORCS), or Workplace Charging Scheme must also meet further specific requirements. ,
	10.1.4. These are the minimum baselines which all EV charging must meet. However, reliability, ease of use and access, and the customer experience continue to be a concern for users.
	10.2. Reliability
	10.2.1. Reliability of EV charging has improved since the first wave of EV infrastructure funding saw first-generation chargers installed under the governments plugged-in places schemes, but consumers still rate reliability as their overriding conside...
	10.2.2. Technical standards for equipment which reach above and beyond those set at the European or national minimum levels can help to increase the reliability of EV charging equipment. Chargers which enable remote fixes to technical failures reduce ...
	10.2.3. Reliability of EV chargers is also strongly linked to their operation and maintenance. To ensure that chargers function as desired, they must be operated and regularly maintained by a competent contractor. Experience from GULO projects show th...
	10.2.4. Well-designed and thorough contractual arrangements for maintenance and operation of charging points by a competent contractor are necessary to meet customer needs and avoid poor reliability of charging networks. Resources for the management o...
	10.2.5. A plan for the renewal of assets at the end of their lifetime is also critical to ensuring the reliability of the network continues as technology changes and improves.
	10.3. Instant access
	10.3.1. The early development of the UK public EV charging market led to the creation of ‘closed’ EV charging networks, where access to charge was limited to subscribers or members. In the United Kingdom, EV drivers carry on average 3.19 charging netw...
	10.3.2. The government has taken steps to increase access to EV charging on an ‘ad hoc’ basis via the Alternative Fuels Directive which demands that infrastructure operators provide to any person ad-hoc access to charge without need for a membership. ...
	10.4. Charging standards for Oxfordshire
	10.4.1. Oxfordshire’s ambitions for an EV charging network include creating a truly open network, which ensures easy, consistent access to anyone wishing to use a charge-point across Oxfordshire. To achieve the high quality EV charging network we are ...
	Policy EVI 15: The Councils will encourage the deployment of a high quality, reliable, open, value for money, future-proofed and truly instant access EV charging network for Oxfordshire by setting high standards which seek to reach ‘above and beyond’ ...


	11. Powering EV charging for the future: Managing energy impacts
	11.1. Impacts on the grid
	11.1.1. EV charging relies on energy supply through connection to networks or lighting circuits, generating challenges in connecting EV chargers and providing sufficient power to operate.
	11.1.2. Rapid charging hubs and ultra-rapid charging take huge amounts of energy out of the grid at busy times, which can lead to expensive upgrading of the local electrical grid, including new substations or transformers. Neither rapid or ultra-rapid...
	11.1.3. The My Electric Avenue report for SSE concluded that without managed charging, EVs could cost £2.2 billion in UK grid infrastructure . Traditionally, these findings would mean the replacement of underground cables in the public highway.
	11.1.4. However, the government has recognised that the previous system of centralised generation of electricity transported through to the end user is changing to a more decentralised system  with increasing levels of low carbon and renewable generat...
	11.1.5. EVs necessarily reduce CO2 and other harmful emissions from the tailpipe, positively benefitting the drive to reduce transport emissions. These environmental benefits can be increased if upstream carbon emissions are also tackled when EVs are ...
	11.1.6. To enable these changes in generation and minimise the need for conventional network reinforcement, the system is adapting to become more flexible and smarter in order to better manage the new flows in power. The Oxfordshire Energy Strategy , ...
	 secure a smart, modern, clean energy infrastructure which will support planned housing, industrial and commercial growth.
	 Lead nationally and internationally to reduce countywide emissions by 50% by 2030, on 2008 levels, and set a pathway to achieve zero carbon growth by 2050
	11.1.7. EVs could offer new opportunities for the power system as part of this smarter, cleaner and more flexible energy system for Oxfordshire system. Projects such as the Energy Superhub Oxford, Local Energy Oxfordshire and Vehicle to Grid Oxfordshi...
	11.2. Smart EV charging
	11.2.1. Smart charging, during off-peak periods and when demand and network congestion is otherwise low, means consumers can potentially benefit from cheaper pricing when charging, avoid triggering future network reinforcement, use their EVs to power ...
	11.2.2. Since 2019 all government funded charger installations must have smart functionality. The Automated and Electric Vehicles Act (2018) also gave government the powers to ensure that all chargers sold or installed in the UK will have smart functi...
	11.2.3. In deploying or licensing privately funded EV charging infrastructure in Oxfordshire, the Councils have opportunities to require charger operators to meet the same standards set by government for smart charging. The Councils also have the oppo...
	11.3. Renewable energy, on-site renewable generation and storage
	11.3.1. As the UK energy network continues to decarbonise, and charge point operators increasingly commit to buying energy from renewable sources, these upstream carbon emissions will naturally reduce.  The ESO project demonstrates the potential for l...
	11.3.2. The Councils could increase the use of renewables in the EV charging network, and mitigate against challenges in energy supply, by promoting the installation of on-site renewable generation and storage where EV chargers are deployed in signifi...
	11.3.3. Designing developments with sufficient and appropriately located lower power EV charging equipment from the outset, with sufficient energy capacity to meet predicted future demand, will help to manage grid impact, meeting the EV charging infra...
	11.3.4. Where properties have access only to unallocated parking on the public highway, the government wishes to encourage the use of integrated street-lighting and EV charging to avoid street clutter. Historically, street lighting circuit designs and...
	Policy EVI 16: The Councils will seek to increase the emissions reduction benefits of electric vehicles, and mitigate the impact of EV charging infrastructure on the local and national grid by encouraging and promoting the use of renewable energy for ...


	12. Promoting EVs and infrastructure
	12.1.1. Given that EVs are still a relatively new phenomenon, a broader challenge beyond public charger infrastructure is the level of information and general understanding that people have regarding EVs. The Councils recognise that they are able to c...
	12.1.2. Increasing knowledge, understanding and experience of EVs can help break down the barriers to EV ownership, challenge perceptions, and give people the encouragement and reassurance they need to make the shift to a cleaner vehicle . Awareness o...
	12.1.3. As part of the Park and Charge project, Oxfordshire County Council is spending £150,000 on a county-wide communications and education package to engage Oxfordshire residents as well as visitors and commuters to the area. This communications ca...
	12.1.4. In October 2020, Oxfordshire County Council launched an online survey to gain a greater understanding of local people’s knowledge, experiences, attitudes and intentions around the use of electric vehicles and charging facilities in the area.  ...
	Policy EVI 17: The Councils will promote information about public EV charging in Oxfordshire, and awareness of the benefits of EVs to the public through their online and other communications channels


	13. Annex 1: Stakeholders
	13.1. The Oxfordshire Energy Strategy Steering Group Members
	13.2. External organisations represented at workshops

	14. Annex 2:  Evaluation of charging options for residents without private off-road parking
	15. Annex 3: EV charging standards
	15.1. EV charger types
	15.2. Standards, regulations and best practice
	15.3. EV charging standards for Oxfordshire

	16. Annex 4: Geospatial Analysis
	16.1. Spatial analysis of residential properties in Oxfordshire with low probability of a driveway
	Figure 18 - West Oxfordshire hotspots for properties with low probability of a driveway. Higher colour intensity indicates higher density of occurrence
	16.2. Spatial analysis of predicted early mass EV adoption in Oxfordshire
	16.3.  Co-incidence of low driveway probability households with early mass adoption



	8 Growth Fund Cycle Routes
	Appendix 1 March 2022 Approvals Location Plan
	Appendix 2 Proposed Schemes 06_2022
	Appendix 3 Risk Register

	9 Standing Panel and Review Group Arrangements 2022/23
	10 Reports for approval
	Appendix A - Cabinet Response - Waterways

	11 Report back on recommendations and from Scrutiny Panel meetings
	2. Cabinet Response - CCAP


